
 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING AGENDA 
 

Meeting  
of the 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
of the 

SANTA BARBARA METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
A Public Agency 

Tuesday, January 15, 2019 
8:30 AM 

John G. Britton Auditorium 
550 Olive Street, Santa Barbara, CA 93101 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. ROLL CALL OF THE BOARD MEMBERS 

 Dave Davis (Chair), David Tabor (Vice Chair), Bill Shelor (Secretary), Olivia Rodriguez 
(Director), Dick Weinberg (Director), Chuck McQuary (Director), Paula Perotte (Director). 

3. REPORT REGARDING POSTING OF AGENDA 
   
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
4. APPROVAL OF PRIOR MINUTES - (ATTACHMENT - ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 

The Board of Directors will be asked to waive the reading of and approve the draft minutes 
for the meeting of December 4, 2018.   
 

5. CASH REPORT - (ATTACHMENTS - ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 
The Board of Directors will be asked to review and approve the Cash Reports from 
November 27, 2018 through December 11, 2018, December 11, 2018 through December 
24, 2018, and December 25, 2018 through January 7, 2019. 
 

THIS CONCLUDES THE CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
6. PUBLIC COMMENT 

Members of the public may address the Board of Directors on items within jurisdiction of 
the Board that are not scheduled for public hearing.  The time allotted per speaker will be 
at the discretion of the Board Chair.  If you wish to address the Board under this item 
number, please complete and deliver to the MTD Board Clerk, a “Request to Speak” form 
that includes both a description of the subject you wish to address and, if applicable, the 
agenda item number for which you would like to comment.  Additional public comment will 
be allowed during each agenda item, including closed session items.  Forms are available 
at www.sbmtd.com and at MTD Administrative offices.   

 
  



BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING AGENDA 

 
AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT:  If you need special assistance to participate in this 
meeting, please contact the MTD Administrative Office at 805.963.3364 at least 48 hours in 
advance of the meeting to allow time for MTD to attempt a reasonable accommodation. 

7. FACILITIES MASTER PLAN RFP CONTRACT AWARD RECOMMENDATION - 
(ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 
Staff requests that the Board give the General Manager authority to enter into a contract 
with Stantec Architecture Inc. for a not to exceed amount of $350,000. Such contract is 
for a Facilities Master Plan that will serve as the guiding document for future facilities 
investments. 
 

8. ADVANCE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE RENEWABLE DIESEL FUEL CONTRACT - 
(ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 
Staff requests that the Board provide advance authority to the General Manager to enter 
into a renewable diesel fuel contract for an upcoming bid solicitation. 
 

9. PROCUREMENT POLICY- PROFESSIONAL SERVICES - (ATTACHMENT - ACTION 
MAY BE TAKEN) 
Staff recommends that the Board approve updating the District’s procurement policy. 
 

10. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT UPDATE - (INFORMATIONAL) 
a. Hiring Update 
b. Transit Center Project Update 
c. Terminal 1 Update 

 
11. OTHER BUSINESS AND REPORTS - (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 
 The Board will report on other related public transit issues and Committee meetings.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT RELATED TO CLOSED SESSION ITEM(S) WILL BE ALLOWED BEFORE 
THE RECESS 
 
13. RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 

a. General Manager Performance Review (Gov. Code Section 54957(b)(1)) 
b. Conference with Labor Negotiators (Gov. Code Section 54957.6(a).)    

Employee:  General Manager 
Agency-designated representatives: MTD Board of Directors Chair Dave Davis 
and Legal Counsel Doug Large 

 
14. ADJOURNMENT 



 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS DRAFT MINUTES 
 

Meeting  
of the 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
of the 

SANTA BARBARA METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 
A Public Agency 

Tuesday, December 4, 2018 
8:30 AM 

John G. Britton Auditorium 
550 Olive Street, Santa Barbara, CA 93101 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Chair Dave Davis called the meeting to order at 8:31 AM. 
 
2. ROLL CALL OF THE BOARD MEMBERS 

Chair Davis reported that all members were present with the exception of Director Paula 
Perotte.  

 
3. REPORT REGARDING POSTING OF AGENDA 

Christina Perry, Administrative Assistant Lead, reported that the agenda was posted on 
Friday, November 30, 2018, at MTD’s Administrative office, mailed and emailed to those 
on the agenda list, and posted on MTD’s website. 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
4. APPROVAL OF PRIOR MINUTES - (ATTACHMENT - ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 

The Board of Directors was asked to waive the reading of and approve the draft minutes 
for the meeting of November 20, 2018.   
 
Vice Chair Dave Tabor moved to approve the minutes.  Director Chuck McQuary 
seconded the motion.  The motion passed with abstention from Director Olivia Rodriguez. 
 

5. CASH REPORT - (ATTACHMENTS - ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 
The Board of Directors was asked to review and approve the Cash Report from November 
12, 2018, through November 26, 2018. 
 
Vice Chair Tabor moved to approve the minutes.  Director Rodriguez seconded the 
motion.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 

THIS CONCLUDES THE CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
6. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 No public comments were made. 

  



BOARD OF DIRECTORS DRAFT MINUTES 

2 

7. ELECTION OF BOARD OFFICERS - (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 
The Board held elections for the following Board assignments: Chair, Vice Chair, and 
Secretary.  
 
Director Dick Weinberg moved to retain the current Board assignments for 2019, with 
Dave Davis as Chair, Dave Tabor as Vice Chair, and Bill Shelor as Secretary.  Director 
McQuary seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 

8. BUS CELLULAR MODEM 4G UPGRADE CONTRACT - (ATTACHMENT - ACTION 
MAY BE TAKEN) 
General Manager Jerry Estrada recommended that the Board award a $295,952.60 
contract to Clever Devices to upgrade the communications systems on board MTD buses 
to migrate to the 4G cellular network and provide for future expansion of Wi-Fi and cellular 
services.   
 
Director Rodriguez moved to award the contract to Clever Devices.  Director McQuary 
seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 
9. GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT UPDATE - (INFORMATIONAL) 

General Manager Estrada updated the board about MTD’s involvement in area holiday 
parades and fleet status.  He answered questions from the Board regarding other items in 
the General Manager’s report. 
 

10. OTHER BUSINESS AND REPORTS - (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 
 Chair Davis reminded the directors that the Planning and Marketing Committee was to 

meet after the General Board meeting at 10:30 AM Tuesday, December 4, 2018.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENT RELATED TO CLOSED SESSION ITEM(S) WILL BE ALLOWED BEFORE 
THE RECESS 

No public comments regarding either closed session were made prior to recess. 
 

Chair Davis stated that the Board would stand in recess to the closed sessions at 9:10 
AM. 

 
11. RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN)  

a. Unrepresented Employees Performance Review (Gov. Code Section 54957(b)(1)) 
b. Conference with Labor Negotiators (Gov. Code Section 54957.6(a).)    

Employee:  Unrepresented Employees 
Agency-designated representatives: MTD General Manager 

  
No reportable action was taken by the Board. 

 
12. RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION (ACTION MAY BE TAKEN) 

a. General Manager Performance Review (Gov. Code Section 54957(b)(1)) 
b. Conference with Labor Negotiators (Gov. Code Section 54957.6(a).)    

Employee:  General Manager 
Agency-designated representatives: MTD Board of Directors Chair Dave Davis 
and Legal Counsel Doug Large 

   
No reportable action was taken by the Board. 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS DRAFT MINUTES 

3 

13. ADJOURNMENT 
Director Rodriguez moved to adjourn the meeting at 10:40 AM.  Director Weinberg 
seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District

Board Meeting of January 15, 2019
Cash Report

For the Period November 27, 2018 through December 11, 2018

$5,427,444.37

MONEY MARKET

Beginning Balance November 27, 2018

Accounts Receivable 1,014,291.62
Passenger Fares 110,168.79
Prepaids & Advertising 1,436.00
Miscellaneous Income 658.68
Measure A Transfer .00

1,126,555.09Total Deposits

1,160.00Workers' Compensation
(7,422.33)Miscellaneous Transfers

(31,646.14)401(k)/Pension Transfer
(164,856.50)Payroll Taxes
(366,135.12)Payroll
(389,071.42)Accounts Payable

(957,971.51)Total Disbursements

$5,596,027.95Total Cash and Investments as of December 11, 2018:

CASH INVESTMENTS 

WC / Liability Reserves ($4,086,176.58)

Ending Balance

5,596,027.95

Working Capital                                                      

LAIF Account $8,502,983.34

Total Cash Balance $14,099,011.29

Money Market Account

$10,012,834.71

SELF INSURED LIABILITY ACCOUNTS

11-Dec-18Cash Report Cover Sheet 15:42



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District 
Accounts Payable

Check # Date Company Description Amount Voids

  119633 11/29/2018 ABC BUS COMPANIES INC              BUS PARTS                                                   189.23  

  119634 11/29/2018 AMERICAN MOVING PARTS, LLC    BUS PARTS                                                   242.10  

  119635 11/29/2018 APPLEONE EMPLOYMENT SERVIC CONTRACT EMPLOYMENT                      2,093.52  

  119636 11/29/2018 B2B PRINTING SERVICES INC.         OFFICE SUPPLIES                                        103.10  

  119637 11/29/2018 BICKMORE INC                       WC ACTUARIAL REVIEW                          1,950.00  

  119638 11/29/2018 BIG BRAND TIRES, BRANDCO BILL SERVICE VEHICLE MAINTENANCE        59.45  

  119639 11/29/2018 BYD HEAVY INDUSTRIES, INC         WIP - ELECTRIC BUSES                              2,775.45 V

  119640 11/29/2018 CAPITOL HARDWARE & BUILDING B&G SUPPLIES                                             182.15  

  119641 11/29/2018 CARQUEST AUTO PARTS                BUS PARTS & SUPPLIES                            261.48  

  119642 11/29/2018 CIO SOLUTIONS, LP                  IT SERVICES                                                 600.00  

  119643 11/29/2018 COX COMMUNICATIONS, CORP.     INTERNET & CABLE TV                             420.43  

  119644 11/29/2018 CUMMINS PACIFIC, LLC               BUS PARTS & REPAIRS                              6,388.41  

  119645 11/29/2018 COUNTY OF SB SURVEYOR              RECORD OF SURVEY-CALLE REAL PR 498.00  

  119646 11/29/2018 DIESEL FORWARD, INC.               BUS PARTS                                                   2,263.74  

  119647 11/29/2018 GENFARE, A DIVISION OF SPX COR FAREBOX REPAIRS & PARTS                   205.77  

  119648 11/29/2018 GIBBS INTERNATIONAL INC            BUS PARTS                                                   1,680.68  

  119649 11/29/2018 GILLIG LLC                         BUS PARTS                                                   4,110.25  

  119650 11/29/2018 GOLD COAST TRANSPORT REFRIG BUS AIR CONDITIONER MAINTENANC 1,059.50  

  119651 11/29/2018 GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER CO      LEASED TIRES                                             14,338.05  

  119652 11/29/2018 GRAPHICINK                         PROMO ITEM                                                102.15  

  119653 11/29/2018 GRAINGER, INC.                     SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                  26.31  

  119654 11/29/2018 GRAYBAR ELECTRIC COMPANY, I REPAIRS & SUPPLIES T1 BLDG/GRDS    177.97  

  119655 11/29/2018 RYAN GRIPP                         REIMBURSEMENTS                                    178.35  

  119656 11/29/2018 HAYWARD LUMBER                     SHOP SUPPLIES                                           23.06  

  119657 11/29/2018 HI-LINE ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC BUS PARTS                                                   439.90  

  119658 11/29/2018 HOME IMPROVEMENT CTR.             SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                  51.67  

  119659 11/29/2018 HR AUTOGLASS  DBA                  BUS PARTS/REPAIRS                                  440.00  

  119660 11/29/2018 HSA EXPRESS PARTS REBUILDER   BUS PARTS                                                   395.00  

  119661 11/29/2018 INTELLICORP RECORD INC.            PRE-EMPLOYMENT CHECK                      156.72  

  119662 11/29/2018 JANICARE    DBA                    JANITORIAL SERVICES                              47.64  

  119663 11/29/2018 LANSPEED                   DBA     IT SERVICES                                                 625.00  

  119664 11/29/2018 LARA'S AUTO REPAIR  DBA            BUS REPAIRS                                                975.14  

  119665 11/29/2018 MC CORMIX CORP. (OIL)              LUBRICANTS                                                3,365.82  

  119666 11/29/2018 MC CORMIX CORP. (GAS)              FUEL-SERVICE VEHICLES                         2,832.99  

  119667 11/29/2018 MCMASTER-CARR SUPPLY CO.       SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                  45.80  

  119668 11/29/2018 MURPHY ELECTRIC MAINTENANC ELECTRICAL REPAIRS/INSTALLATION 208.50  

  119669 11/29/2018 MOHAWK MFG. AND SUPPLY CO.   BUS PARTS                                                   8.96  

  119670 11/29/2018 NEWEGG, INC                        IT EQUIPMENT & SUPPLIES                      4,093.20  

9:2512-Dec-18Accounts Payable Check Register



Check # Date Company Description Amount Voids

  119671 11/29/2018 NU-COOL REDI GREEN, INC            COOLANTS & SHOP SUPPLIES                 298.46  

  119672 11/29/2018 PREVOST CAR INC.- CREDIT DEPT. BUS PARTS                                                   113.74  

  119673 11/29/2018 N/S CORPORATION                    BUS WASHER PARTS                                  2,230.97  

  119674 11/29/2018 PB-RESERVE ACCOUNT                 PREPAID POSTAGE                                     1,500.00  

  119675 11/29/2018 POWERSTRIDE BATTERY CO.          BUS BATTERIES 598.89  

  119676 11/29/2018 NOLAN D ROBERTSON                  REIMBURSEMENTS                                    100.00  

  119677 11/29/2018 SAFETY-KLEEN CORPORATION       SHOP SUPPLIES                                           140.75  

  119678 11/29/2018 SANSUM CLINIC                      MEDICAL EXAMS                                        2,816.12  

  119679 11/29/2018 SB CHAMBER OF COMMERCE          MEMBERSHIP RENEWAL                          493.10  

  119680 11/29/2018 SANTA BARBARA HOSE & SUPPLY, BUS PARTS                                                   68.01  

  119681 11/29/2018 SB LOCKSMITHS, INC.                B&G REPAIR & SUPPLIES                          24.00  

  119682 11/29/2018 SILVAS OIL CO., INC.               LUBRICANTS                                                828.02  

  119683 11/29/2018 SM TIRE, CORP.                     BUS TIRE MOUNTING                                410.00  

  119684 11/29/2018 SOAP MAN DISTRIBUTIN   DBA       CLEANING SUPPLIES                                 154.97  

  119685 11/29/2018 STEWART'S DE-ROOTING & PLUM PLUMBING REPAIRS                                  308.31  

  119686 11/29/2018 SB CITY OF-REFUSE/WATER            UTILITIES                                                      743.39  

  119687 11/29/2018 SB CITY OF-PARKS AND REC           TREE REMOVAL APPLICATION FEE       50.00  

  119688 11/29/2018 SUZANNE ELLEDGE PLANNING &  CALLE REAL PERMIT SERVICES             7,186.85  

  119689 11/29/2018 TELONIC/BERKELEY                   SHOP SUPPLIES                                           2,550.00  

  119690 11/29/2018 TRUMAN ARNOLD COMPANIES (T DIESEL FUEL                                                31,417.43  

  119691 11/29/2018 UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC.       FREIGHT CHARGES                                    298.44  

  119692 11/29/2018 U.S. BANK CORP. PAYMENT SYSTE CREDIT CARD PURCHASES                      3,271.81  

  119693 11/29/2018 VALLEY POWER SYSTEMS, INC.      BUS PARTS                                                   2,653.83  

  119694 11/29/2018 VENTURA COUNTY STAR     DBA    PUBLIC NOTICE ADS                                  260.91  

  119695 11/29/2018 WAXIE SANITARY SUPPLY      DBA JANITORIAL SUPPLIES                              1,424.46  

  119696 11/29/2018 WURTH USA WEST INC.                SHOP SUPPLIES                                           365.59  

  119697 12/7/2018 BIG BRAND TIRES, BRANDCO BILL SERVICE VEHICLE MAINTENANCE        761.53  

  119698 12/7/2018 BNS ELECTRONICS, INC.              SANTA YNEZ SITE RENTAL                      285.28  

  119699 12/7/2018 BUENA TOOL, INC.                   SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                  57.64  

  119700 12/7/2018 BUYNAK, FAUVER, ARCHBALD&S LEGAL COUNSEL                                        25,335.85  

  119701 12/7/2018 CARQUEST AUTO PARTS                BUS PARTS & SUPPLIES                            94.85  

  119702 12/7/2018 CENTRAL CITY ABS, INC.             BUS SUPPLIES                                              26.65  

  119703 12/7/2018 CITY OF CARPINTERIA                CHARGING STATION ELECTRICITY       1,185.52  

  119704 12/7/2018 CENTRAL COAST CIRCULATION, L BUS BOOK DISTRIBUTION                        575.00  

  119705 12/7/2018 COMMUNITY RADIO, INC.              GIB. SITE RENTAL                                       256.29  

  119706 12/7/2018 CINTAS CORPORATION                 FIRST AID SUPPLIES                                   49.51  

  119707 12/7/2018 CUMMINS PACIFIC, LLC               BUS PARTS & REPAIRS                              285.00  

  119708 12/7/2018 COUNTY OF S.B.PUBLIC WORKS D WASTE DISPOSAL                                       59.20  

  119709 12/7/2018 DAVID DAVIS JR.                    DIRECTOR FEES                                          180.00  

  119710 12/7/2018 DENMUN OFFICE SOLUTIONS   DB IT CONTRACT SERVICES                           3,570.00  

  119711 12/7/2018 DIESEL FORWARD, INC.               BUS PARTS                                                   2,559.17  

9:2512-Dec-18Accounts Payable Check Register



Check # Date Company Description Amount Voids

  119712 12/7/2018 DOCUPRODUCTS CORPORATION    COPIER MAINTENANCE/SUPPLIES         196.99  

  119713 12/7/2018 FLEET SERVICES, INC.               BUS PARTS                                                   650.29  

  119714 12/7/2018 STATE OF CALIFORNIA                PAYROLL RELATED                                   426.55  

  119715 12/7/2018 FTI SERVICES, INC.                 IT SUPPORT SERVICES                              42.75  

  119716 12/7/2018 GIBBS INTERNATIONAL INC            BUS PARTS                                                   733.88  

  119717 12/7/2018 GILLIG LLC                         BUS PARTS                                                   3,450.59  

  119718 12/7/2018 GOLD COAST TRANSPORT REFRIG BUS AIR CONDITIONER MAINTENANC 1,037.00  

  119719 12/7/2018 GRAPHICINK                         PROMO ITEM                                                119.60  

  119720 12/7/2018 MARY GREGG                         TRAVEL EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT   266.00  

  119721 12/7/2018 JOHN HERNANDEZ                     TOOL ALLOWANCE                                    1,233.00  

  119722 12/7/2018 HOME IMPROVEMENT CTR.             SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                  56.19  

  119723 12/7/2018 JANICARE    DBA                    JANITORIAL SERVICES                              4,991.00  

  119724 12/7/2018 JOHNSON CONTROLS FIRE PROTE FIRE ALARM SERVICES                             782.39  

  119725 12/7/2018 KAISER HAZMAT & CONST. SAFET TRAINING COURSES                                   360.00  

  119726 12/7/2018 KIMBALL MIDWEST                    SHOP SUPPLIES                                           606.17  

  119727 12/7/2018 LENZ PEST CONTROL   DBA            FUMIGATION SERVICES                            125.00  

  119728 12/7/2018 JUAN MARTINEZ                      TOOL ALLOWANCE                                    133.00  

  119729 12/7/2018 MC CORMIX CORP. (OIL)              LUBRICANTS                                                4,324.08  

  119730 12/7/2018 MCMASTER-CARR SUPPLY CO.       SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                  58.26  

  119731 12/7/2018 CHUCK MCQUARY                      DIRECTOR FEES                                          120.00  

  119732 12/7/2018 MISSION LINEN SUPPLY, INC          UNIFORM & LINEN SERVICE                    7,892.82  

  119733 12/7/2018 MOHAWK MFG. AND SUPPLY CO.   BUS PARTS                                                   157.77  

  119734 12/7/2018 MOUNTAIN SPRING WATER             SHOP & OFFICE SUPPLIES                         1,168.75  

  119735 12/7/2018 NEWEGG, INC                        IT EQUIPMENT & SUPPLIES                      317.28  

  119736 12/7/2018 NU-COOL REDI GREEN, INC            COOLANTS & SHOP SUPPLIES                 1,346.28  

  119737 12/7/2018 NORTHWEST PUMP & EQUIPMENT FUEL ISLAND SUPPLIES                            55.91  

  119738 12/7/2018 PREVOST CAR INC.- CREDIT DEPT. BUS PARTS                                                   283.51  

  119739 12/7/2018 O'CONNOR PEST CONTROL    DBA  FUMIGATION                                               77.00  

  119740 12/7/2018 PAULA A. PEROTTE                   DIRECTOR FEES                                          120.00  

  119741 12/7/2018 CHRISTINA PERRY                    REIMBURSEMENTS                                    13.52  

  119742 12/7/2018 PETTY CASH- PERRY, CHRISTINA   MISC. PURCHASES                                      390.60  

  119743 12/7/2018 POWERSTRIDE BATTERY CO.          BUS BATTERIES 1,497.21  

  119744 12/7/2018 RALPH'S GROCERY                    SAFETY AWARDS                                       9,134.25  

  119745 12/7/2018 OLIVIA RODRIGUEZ                   DIRECTOR FEES                                          120.00  

  119746 12/7/2018 RON WILLIAMS MACHINE SHOP, I BUS REPAIRS                                                618.00  

  119747 12/7/2018 SB COUNTY FEDERAL CREDIT UNI PAYROLL DEDUCTION                              260.00  

  119748 12/7/2018 SILVAS OIL CO., INC.               LUBRICANTS                                                307.49  

  119749 12/7/2018 SMITTY'S TOWING SERVICE        D TOWING SERVICES                                     277.50  

  119750 12/7/2018 SANTA BARBARA SHERIFF'S DEPT PAYROLL RELATED                                   75.00  

  119751 12/7/2018 WILLIAM JOHN SHELOR                DIRECTOR FEES                                          180.00  

  119752 12/7/2018 SM TIRE, CORP.                     BUS TIRE MOUNTING                                276.67  

9:2512-Dec-18Accounts Payable Check Register



Check # Date Company Description Amount Voids

  119753 12/7/2018 SO. CAL. EDISON CO.                UTILITIES                                                      15,218.82  

  119754 12/7/2018 STAPLES CONTRACT & COMMERC OFFICE SUPPLIES                                        938.69  

  119755 12/7/2018 STAPLES CREDIT PLAN                OFFICE & COMPUTER SUPPLIES             391.43  

  119756 12/7/2018 STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION PAYROLL RELATED                                   250.00  

  119757 12/7/2018 STEWART'S DE-ROOTING & PLUM PLUMBING REPAIRS                                  144.00  

  119758 12/7/2018 SB CITY OF-REFUSE/WATER            UTILITIES                                                      4,152.82  

  119759 12/7/2018 DAVID T. TABOR                     DIRECTOR FEES                                          180.00  

  119760 12/7/2018 TEAMSTERS PENSION TRUST          UNION PENSION                                          95,795.67  

  119761 12/7/2018 TEAMSTERS UNION LOCAL NO. 18 UNION DUES                                                10,097.02  

  119762 12/7/2018 TREAS.TAX COLLECTOR,Harry E. H PROPERTY TAXES                                      13.00  

  119763 12/7/2018 TRUMAN ARNOLD COMPANIES (T DIESEL FUEL                                                47,207.25  

  119764 12/7/2018 UPS FREIGHT                        FREIGHT SHIPPING                                     256.62  

  119765 12/7/2018 J.C. M. AND ASSOCIATES INC.        UNIFORMS                                                    29.88  

  119766 12/7/2018 VALLEY POWER SYSTEMS, INC.      BUS PARTS                                                   20,426.97  

  119767 12/7/2018 VALLEY POWER SYSTEMS, INC.      BUS PARTS                                                   1,951.49  

  119768 12/7/2018 VERIZON WIRELESS                   WIRELESS PHONES & AIM CELLULAR  655.65  

  119769 12/7/2018 WAXIE SANITARY SUPPLY      DBA JANITORIAL SUPPLIES                              375.92  

  119770 12/7/2018 RICHARD WEINBERG                   DIRECTOR FEES                                          120.00  

  119771 12/7/2018 WURTH USA WEST INC.                SHOP SUPPLIES                                           154.31  

391,846.87

2,775.45

$389,071.42

Prior Cash Report Voided Checks: 0.00

Current Cash Report Voided Checks:

Grand Total:

9:2512-Dec-18Accounts Payable Check Register



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District
Cash Receipts of Accounts Receivable

Date Company Description Amount

11/28/2018 CalPERS                            OPEB Reimbursement - Sept '18 4,233.09

11/29/2018 S.B.C.A.G.                         Amtrak Connecting Service - Sept '18 12,607.50

12/4/2018 Department of Rehabilitation       Passes/Passports Sales                                           628.00

12/4/2018 LOSSAN Rail Corridor Agency        LOSSAN Contract Revenue FY19-1Q 10,344.50

12/4/2018 True Media LLC/Cottage Health      Advertising on Buses                                             936.00

12/5/2018 Jim Haggerty                       Retiree - Vision                                                 12.20

12/5/2018 Local Transportation Fund          SB 325 - Nov '18 736,791.27

12/5/2018 Measure A, Section 3 LSTI          Measure A Funds - Nov '18 184,270.60

12/5/2018 SB School District                 Passes/Token Sales                                               41,250.00

12/10/2018 ASTI Holding Company, LLC          Overpass Property Lease - Dec '18 16,678.46

12/10/2018 UCSB - Parking Services-7001       Passes/Passports Sales                                           6,540.00

$1,014,291.62Total Accounts Receivable Paid During Period

2/11/2018 3:43:55 PMCash Report Accounts Receivable Printed



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District

Board Meeting of January 15, 2019
Cash Report

For the Period December 11, 2018 through December 24, 2018

$5,596,027.95

MONEY MARKET

Beginning Balance December 11, 2018

Property Tax Revenue 466,250.55
Passenger Fares 143,877.28
Accounts Receivable 129,050.99
Measure A Transfer 4,614.64
Interest Income 3,324.71
Miscellaneous Income 1,116.05
Prepaids & Advertising 300.00

748,534.22Total Deposits

(2,819.54)Miscellaneous Transfers
(7,182.79)Bank & Credit Card Fees

(32,551.13)401(k)/Pension Transfer
(83,883.23)Workers' Compensation

(158,772.98)Payroll Taxes
(372,325.13)Payroll
(775,519.43)Accounts Payable

(1,433,054.23)Total Disbursements

$4,911,507.94Total Cash and Investments as of December 24, 2018:

CASH INVESTMENTS 

WC / Liability Reserves ($4,086,176.58)

Ending Balance

4,911,507.94

Working Capital                                                      

LAIF Account $8,502,983.34

Total Cash Balance $13,414,491.28

Money Market Account

$9,328,314.70

SELF INSURED LIABILITY ACCOUNTS

26-Dec-18Cash Report Cover Sheet 16:33



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District 
Accounts Payable

Check # Date Company Description Amount Voids

  119772 12/13/2018 HENRY ANDREWS                      RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    282.06  

  119773 12/13/2018 AON CONSULTING INC. (NJ)           ACTUARIAL SERVICES                              5,000.00  

  119774 12/13/2018 BIG BRAND TIRES, BRANDCO BILL SERVICE VEHICLE MAINTENANCE        399.11  

  119775 12/13/2018 JAMES BRACKETT                     RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    294.00  

  119776 12/13/2018 ROBERT BURNHAM                     RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    570.00  

  119777 12/13/2018 GILBERT CALLES                     RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    294.00  

  119778 12/13/2018 CARQUEST AUTO PARTS                BUS PARTS & SUPPLIES                            181.70  

  119779 12/13/2018 CITY OF SANTA BARBARA              CSR PARKING PERMITS                             80.00  

  119780 12/13/2018 CALIFORNIA TRANSIT ASSOCIATI ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP DUES                  12,360.00  

  119781 12/13/2018 STAN CISOWSKI                      RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    498.68  

  119782 12/13/2018 COX COMMUNICATIONS, CORP.     INTERNET & CABLE TV                             440.11  

  119783 12/13/2018 CUMMINS PACIFIC, LLC               BUS PARTS & REPAIRS                              4,263.56  

  119784 12/13/2018 CURTIS, NANCY                      RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    339.76  

  119785 12/13/2018 COUNTY OF S.B.PUBLIC WORKS D WASTE DISPOSAL                                       26.00  

  119786 12/13/2018 DIESEL FORWARD, INC.               BUS PARTS                                                   4,283.95  

  119787 12/13/2018 SHERRIE FISHER                     RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    293.16  

  119788 12/13/2018 FLEET SERVICES, INC.               BUS PARTS                                                   601.87  

  119789 12/13/2018 FRONTIER CALIFORNIA INC.           TELEPHONES                                               98.98  

  119790 12/13/2018 GIBBS INTERNATIONAL INC            BUS PARTS                                                   1,775.38  

  119791 12/13/2018 GILLIG LLC                         BUS PARTS                                                   8,660.38  

  119792 12/13/2018 GARY GLEASON                       RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    495.90  

  119793 12/13/2018 GOGETTERS, LLC      DBA            COURIER SERVICES                                   225.00  

  119794 12/13/2018 GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER CO      LEASED TIRES                                             542.19  

  119795 12/13/2018 GOTCHA MEDIA HOLDINGS, LLC    ADVERTISING AT UCSB KIOSKS             1,200.00  

  119796 12/13/2018 GRAINGER, INC.                     SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                  135.95  

  119797 12/13/2018 GUARDIAN-APPLETON (DENTAL I DENTAL INSURANCE                                 4,179.06  

  119798 12/13/2018 GUARDIAN-APPLETON (LIFE INS)   LIFE INSURANCE                                         1,141.21  

  119799 12/13/2018 JIM HAGGERTY                       RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    802.83  

  119800 12/13/2018 ALI HABIBI                         RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    770.42  

  119801 12/13/2018 HI-LINE ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC BUS PARTS                                                   144.34  

  119802 12/13/2018 HOME IMPROVEMENT CTR.             SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                  401.45  

  119803 12/13/2018 HR AUTOGLASS  DBA                  BUS PARTS/REPAIRS                                  220.00  

  119804 12/13/2018 JAY DANIEL ROBERTSON               RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    555.22  

  119805 12/13/2018 JANICARE    DBA                    JANITORIAL SERVICES                              5,201.11  

  119806 12/13/2018 LOUIS JONES                        RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    137.00  

  119807 12/13/2018 JOY EQUIPMENT PROTECTION, IN SERVICING FIRE EXTINGUISHERS         35.00  

  119808 12/13/2018 LABOR ALLIANCE MANAGED TRU UNION DENTAL INSURANCE                   10,305.75  

  119809 12/13/2018 LOUIS MANDEVILLE                   RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    559.22  

13:0627-Dec-18Accounts Payable Check Register



Check # Date Company Description Amount Voids

  119810 12/13/2018 MC CORMIX CORP. (OIL)              LUBRICANTS                                                3,235.02  

  119811 12/13/2018 MC CORMIX CORP. (GAS)              FUEL-SERVICE VEHICLES                         2,646.24  

  119812 12/13/2018 MCGOWAN GUNTERMANN              ANNUAL AUDIT                                           8,327.00  

  119813 12/13/2018 MCMASTER-CARR SUPPLY CO.       SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                  57.59  

  119814 12/13/2018 MEDICAL EYE SERVICES, INC.         VISION INSURANCE                                   444.08  

  119815 12/13/2018 MIKE CUEVAS GARDENING SERVI LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE SERVICE 730.00  

  119816 12/13/2018 KENNETH B. MILLS                   PROCUREMENT SERVICES                       1,914.00  

  119817 12/13/2018 MURPHY ELECTRIC MAINTENANC ELECTRICAL REPAIRS/INSTALLATION 274.28  

  119818 12/13/2018 MOHAWK MFG. AND SUPPLY CO.   BUS PARTS                                                   172.95  

  119819 12/13/2018 NEWEGG, INC                        IT EQUIPMENT & SUPPLIES                      714.52  

  119820 12/13/2018 NU-COOL REDI GREEN, INC            COOLANTS & SHOP SUPPLIES                 871.92  

  119821 12/13/2018 PREVOST CAR INC.- CREDIT DEPT. BUS PARTS                                                   173.46  

  119822 12/13/2018 OILFIELD ELECTRIC & MOTOR  DB EMERGENCY ELECTRICAL REPAIRS     2,219.76  

  119823 12/13/2018 CAREY POINDEXTER                   RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    564.68  

  119824 12/13/2018 REPUBLIC ELEVATOR, INC             ELEVATOR MAINTENANCE                     164.19  

  119825 12/13/2018 AL ROMERO SR.                      RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    196.00  

  119826 12/13/2018 SB LOCKSMITHS, INC.                B&G REPAIR & SUPPLIES                          833.31  

  119827 12/13/2018 SPECIAL DISTRICT RISK MGMENT MEDICAL HEALTH INSURANCE              48,733.56  

  119828 12/13/2018 SANTA BARBARA COUNTY EHS      ANNUAL HAZMAT PERMIT FEE              879.20  

  119829 12/13/2018 SM TIRE, CORP.                     BUS TIRE MOUNTING                                400.92  

  119830 12/13/2018 SMARDAN-HATCHER CO., INC         B&G REPAIRS & SUPPLIES                        339.77  

  119831 12/13/2018 SO. CAL. EDISON CO.                UTILITIES                                                      628.43  

  119832 12/13/2018 SOFTCHOICE CORP, INC.              COMPUTER SOFTWARE                            8,605.54  

  119833 12/13/2018 STEWART'S DE-ROOTING & PLUM PLUMBING REPAIRS                                  719.45  

  119834 12/13/2018 THE COUNTRY MEAT MARKET IN VETERAN'S DAY BBQ                                5,047.33  

  119835 12/13/2018 THE MEDCENTER                      MEDICAL EXAMS                                        2,164.00  

  119836 12/13/2018 TK SERVICE, INC.                   BUS PARTS & REPAIRS                              688.12  

  119837 12/13/2018 TEAMSTERS MISC SECURITY TRUS UNION MEDICAL INSURANCE                 212,461.00  

  119838 12/13/2018 TOOL DISCOUNTER.COM          DBA CLEANING SUPPLIES                                 484.85  

  119839 12/13/2018 TRAPEZE SOFTWARE GROUP, INC. ANNUAL SOFTWARE LICENSE FEES      4,950.00  

  119840 12/13/2018 TRUMAN ARNOLD COMPANIES (T DIESEL FUEL                                                21,631.02  

  119841 12/13/2018 VALLEY POWER SYSTEMS, INC.      BUS PARTS                                                   743.83  

  119842 12/13/2018 JOHN J. VASQUEZ                    RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    609.99  

  119843 12/13/2018 VENTURA COUNTY OVERHEAD D B&G REPAIRS & SUPPLIES                        350.00  

  119844 12/13/2018 VERIZON WIRELESS                   WIRELESS PHONES & AIM CELLULAR  1,739.71  

  119845 12/13/2018 WAXIE SANITARY SUPPLY      DBA JANITORIAL SUPPLIES                              217.80  

  119846 12/13/2018 ALEXANDER YOUNG                    RETIREE HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT    538.14  

  119847 12/13/2018 ZAMORA, FRANK & LISA               RETIREE HEALTH                                       319.20  

  119848 12/21/2018 ABC BUS COMPANIES INC              BUS PARTS                                                   237.35  

  119849 12/21/2018 ASBURY ENVIRONMENTAL              WASTE OIL RECYCLER                              295.00  

  119850 12/21/2018 JOSE BAUTISTA                      AD MOUNTING/DISMOUNTING               192.00  

13:0627-Dec-18Accounts Payable Check Register



Check # Date Company Description Amount Voids

  119851 12/21/2018 BIG BRAND TIRES, BRANDCO BILL SERVICE VEHICLE MAINTENANCE        818.74  

  119852 12/21/2018 BROWN & BROWN/WHILT FATCH  D&O AND EPLI INSURANCE                     68,225.22  

  119853 12/21/2018 BUYNAK, FAUVER, ARCHBALD&S LEGAL COUNSEL                                        22,967.78  

  119854 12/21/2018 BYD COACH & BUS LLC                WIP - ELECTRIC BUSES                              2,229.45  

  119855 12/21/2018 CARQUEST AUTO PARTS                BUS PARTS & SUPPLIES                            24.81  

  119856 12/21/2018 CELTIS VENTURES, INC.              MARKETING SERVICES                             5,985.46  

  119857 12/21/2018 CLEVER DEVICES LTD                 AIM CONTRACT INSTALLMENT             28,546.00  

  119858 12/21/2018 CIO SOLUTIONS, LP                  IT SERVICES                                                 600.00  

  119859 12/21/2018 CUMMINS PACIFIC, LLC               BUS PARTS & REPAIRS                              4,423.52  

  119860 12/21/2018 DENMUN OFFICE SOLUTIONS   DB IT CONTRACT SERVICES                           3,230.00  

  119861 12/21/2018 DOWNTOWN ORGANIZATION, INC. TC MAINTENANCE                                     450.00  

  119862 12/21/2018 EASY LIFT TRANSPORTATION, INC MONTHLY ADA SUBSIDY                         78,496.83  

  119863 12/21/2018 ELECTRONIC DATA MAGNETICS, I BUS PASSES                                                  3,654.00  

  119864 12/21/2018 FLEET SERVICES, INC.               BUS PARTS                                                   607.46  

  119865 12/21/2018 STATE OF CALIFORNIA                PAYROLL RELATED                                   415.00  

  119866 12/21/2018 FRONTIER CALIFORNIA INC.           TELEPHONES                                               2,001.66  

  119867 12/21/2018 GIBBS INTERNATIONAL INC            BUS PARTS                                                   695.09  

  119868 12/21/2018 GILLIG LLC                         BUS PARTS                                                   542.35  

  119869 12/21/2018 GLOBAL TOWING, INC.                TOWING SERVICES                                     1,000.00  

  119870 12/21/2018 GOLD COAST TRANSPORT REFRIG BUS AIR CONDITIONER MAINTENANC 800.25  

  119871 12/21/2018 STEPHEN HAHN                       TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT                      114.00  

  119872 12/21/2018 HOME IMPROVEMENT CTR.             SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                  27.71  

  119873 12/21/2018 Dept. INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS, Stat ANNUAL SELF INSURANCE FEE              25,717.53  

  119874 12/21/2018 JANEK CORP                         BUS PARTS                                                   918.94  

  119875 12/21/2018 LANSPEED                   DBA     IT SERVICES                                                 1,500.00  

  119876 12/21/2018 MC CORMIX CORP. (OIL)              LUBRICANTS                                                1,022.45  

  119877 12/21/2018 MCGOWAN GUNTERMANN              ANNUAL AUDIT                                           11,474.00  

  119878 12/21/2018 MCMASTER-CARR SUPPLY CO.       SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                  30.31  

  119879 12/21/2018 NATIONAL DRIVE                     PAYROLL DEDUCTION                              44.00  

  119880 12/21/2018 NATIONAL INTERSTATE INS INC.   LIABILITY INSURANCE                             26,703.01  

  119881 12/21/2018 ARTURO NAVARRO                     REIMBURSEMENT                                      94.61  

  119882 12/21/2018 NEWEGG, INC                        IT EQUIPMENT & SUPPLIES                      811.21  

  119883 12/21/2018 NU-COOL REDI GREEN, INC            COOLANTS & SHOP SUPPLIES                 738.30  

  119884 12/21/2018 PREVOST CAR INC.- CREDIT DEPT. BUS PARTS                                                   956.03  

  119885 12/21/2018 PETTY CASH- HAHN, STEVE            MISC SHOP NEEDS                                      70.91  

  119886 12/21/2018 SAFETY-KLEEN CORPORATION       SHOP SUPPLIES                                           298.90  

  119887 12/21/2018 SB COUNTY FEDERAL CREDIT UNI PAYROLL DEDUCTION                              260.00  

  119888 12/21/2018 SANTA BARBARA NEWS PRESS       PUBLIC NOTICES/EMPLOYMENT ADS   95.04  

  119889 12/21/2018 SILVAS OIL CO., INC.               LUBRICANTS                                                504.60  

  119890 12/21/2018 SANTA BARBARA SHERIFF'S DEPT PAYROLL RELATED                                   75.00  

  119891 12/21/2018 SM TIRE, CORP.                     BUS TIRE MOUNTING                                130.00  

13:0627-Dec-18Accounts Payable Check Register



Check # Date Company Description Amount Voids

  119892 12/21/2018 SO. CAL. EDISON CO.                UTILITIES                                                      7,092.71  

  119893 12/21/2018 SOCALGAS                           UTILITIES                                                      531.69  

  119894 12/21/2018 SOUTHWEST LIFT & EQUIPMENT, I LIFT REPAIRS & SUPPLIES                        11,059.23  

  119895 12/21/2018 STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION PAYROLL RELATED                                   250.00  

  119896 12/21/2018 FRANKLIN RODGER STEPHENS       REIMBURSEMENTS                                    32.31  

  119897 12/21/2018 TEAMSTERS UNION LOCAL NO. 18 UNION DUES                                                928.92  

  119898 12/21/2018 TRUMAN ARNOLD COMPANIES (T DIESEL FUEL                                                43,396.52  

  119899 12/21/2018 UNITED REFRIGERATION INC.         BUS AIR CONDITIONING SUPPLIES        587.25  

  119900 12/21/2018 UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC.       FREIGHT CHARGES                                    434.90  

  119901 12/21/2018 UNITED WAY OF SB                   PAYROLL DEDUCTION                              68.00  

  119902 12/21/2018 VALLEY POWER SYSTEMS, INC.      BUS PARTS                                                   6,104.68  

  119903 12/21/2018 VALLEY POWER SYSTEMS, INC.      BUS PARTS                                                   1,951.49  

  119904 12/21/2018 VENTURA COUNTY STAR     DBA    PUBLIC NOTICE ADS                                  111.50  

  119905 12/21/2018 VOICE SMART NETWORKS, LLC      PHONE SYSTEM MAINTENANCE CONT 1,312.50  

  119906 12/21/2018 YACO SCHOLARSHIP FUND              PAYROLL DEDUCTION                              48.00  

775,519.43

0.00

$775,519.43

Prior Cash Report Voided Checks: 0.00

Current Cash Report Voided Checks:

Grand Total:

13:0627-Dec-18Accounts Payable Check Register



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District
Cash Receipts of Accounts Receivable

Date Company Description Amount

12/11/2018 City of S.B. Waterfront Department Waterfront Shuttle Service-Cruise Ship 9/18 3,272.08

12/11/2018 City of SB - Public Works Director Downtown Shuttle - Nov. 2018 98,832.67

12/11/2018 Goodwin & Thyne Properties         Advertising on Buses                                             2,080.00

12/11/2018 SB School District                 Passes/Token Sales                                               2,300.00

12/17/2018 S.B.C.A.G.                         Amtrak Connecting Service - Oct. 2018 15,058.50

12/19/2018 CalPERS                            OPEB Reimbursement - Oct. 2018 6,271.74

12/19/2018 City of SB Creeks Division         Advertising on Buses                                             300.00

12/19/2018 True Media LLC/Cottage Health      Advertising on Buses                                             936.00

$129,050.99Total Accounts Receivable Paid During Period

2/26/2018 4:36:51 PMCash Report Accounts Receivable Printed



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District

Board Meeting of January 15, 2019
Cash Report

For the Period December 25, 2018 through January 7, 2019

$4,911,507.94

MONEY MARKET

Beginning Balance December 25, 2018

Accounts Receivable 944,978.93
Passenger Fares 97,782.71
Prepaids & Advertising 3,260.00
Miscellaneous Income 245.07
Measure A Transfer (189,135.18)

857,131.53Total Deposits

(1,239.78)Miscellaneous Transfers
(14,477.35)401(k)/Pension Transfer

(108,990.82)Accounts Payable
(150,466.86)Payroll Taxes
(352,071.04)Payroll

(627,245.85)Total Disbursements

$5,141,393.62Total Cash and Investments as of January 7, 2019:

CASH INVESTMENTS 

WC / Liability Reserves ($4,146,893.15)

Ending Balance

5,141,393.62

Working Capital                                                      

LAIF Account $8,502,983.34

Total Cash Balance $13,644,376.96

Money Market Account

$9,497,483.81

SELF INSURED LIABILITY ACCOUNTS

08-Jan-19Cash Report Cover Sheet 15:46



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District 
Accounts Payable

Check # Date Company Description Amount Voids

  119907 1/4/2019 ALLIED ELECTRONICS, INC            BUS PARTS                                                   760.49  

  119908 1/4/2019 BIG BRAND TIRES, BRANDCO BILL SERVICE VEHICLE MAINTENANCE        765.72  

  119909 1/4/2019 BNS ELECTRONICS, INC.              SANTA YNEZ SITE RENTAL                      55.04  

  119910 1/4/2019 CALIFORNIA ELECTRIC SUPPLY, I SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                  312.16  

  119911 1/4/2019 CARQUEST AUTO PARTS                BUS PARTS & SUPPLIES                            90.09  

  119912 1/4/2019 CINTAS CORPORATION                 FIRST AID SUPPLIES                                   124.21  

  119913 1/4/2019 COX COMMUNICATIONS, CORP.     INTERNET & CABLE TV                             420.43  

  119914 1/4/2019 CUMMINS PACIFIC, LLC               BUS PARTS & REPAIRS                              2,001.96  

  119915 1/4/2019 DAVID DAVIS JR.                    DIRECTOR FEES                                          120.00  

  119916 1/4/2019 DIESEL FORWARD, INC.               BUS PARTS                                                   3,680.29  

  119917 1/4/2019 FEDEX         dba                  FREIGHT CHARGES                                    220.15  

  119918 1/4/2019 FLEET SERVICES, INC.               BUS PARTS                                                   135.40  

  119919 1/4/2019 STATE OF CALIFORNIA                PAYROLL RELATED                                   415.00  

  119920 1/4/2019 GIBBS INTERNATIONAL INC            BUS PARTS                                                   1,148.86  

  119921 1/4/2019 GILLIG LLC                         BUS PARTS                                                   4,712.09  

  119922 1/4/2019 GOLD COAST TRANSPORT REFRIG BUS AC MAINTENANCE 563.50  

  119923 1/4/2019 GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER CO      BUS TIRE LEASE 13,304.14  

  119924 1/4/2019 GRAINGER, INC.                     SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                  317.63  

  119925 1/4/2019 GRAYBAR ELECTRIC COMPANY, I REPAIRS & SUPPLIES T1 BLDG/GRDS    2,936.25  

  119926 1/4/2019 HOME IMPROVEMENT CTR.             SHOP/B&G SUPPLIES                                  47.14  

  119927 1/4/2019 HR AUTOGLASS  DBA                  BUS PARTS/REPAIRS                                  220.00  

  119928 1/4/2019 JERRY'S PLUMBING & HEATING, I PLUMBING REPAIRS                                  343.00  

  119929 1/4/2019 KIMBALL MIDWEST                    SHOP SUPPLIES                                           320.66  

  119930 1/4/2019 LARA'S AUTO REPAIR  DBA            BUS REPAIRS                                                989.87  

  119931 1/4/2019 LAWSON PRODUCTS INC                SHOP SUPPLIES                                           472.63  

  119932 1/4/2019 LORI'S MOBILE NOTARY&FINGERP MOBILE NOTARY                                        355.00  

  119933 1/4/2019 MC CORMIX CORP. (GAS)              FUEL-SERVICE VEHICLES                         2,529.28  

  119934 1/4/2019 CHUCK MCQUARY                      DIRECTOR FEES                                          120.00  

  119935 1/4/2019 MISSION LINEN SUPPLY, INC          UNIFORM & LINEN SERVICE                    6,112.98  

  119936 1/4/2019 MOHAWK MFG. AND SUPPLY CO.   BUS PARTS                                                   26.88  

  119937 1/4/2019 NU-COOL REDI GREEN, INC            COOLANTS & SHOP SUPPLIES                 256.22  

  119938 1/4/2019 NORTHWEST PUMP & EQUIPMENT FUEL ISLAND SUPPLIES                            546.49  

  119939 1/4/2019 PREVOST CAR INC.- CREDIT DEPT. BUS PARTS                                                   1,100.03  

  119940 1/4/2019 PAULA A. PEROTTE                   DIRECTOR FEES                                          60.00  

  119941 1/4/2019 PETTY CASH- HAHN, STEVE            MISC SHOP NEEDS                                      47.64  

  119942 1/4/2019 PETTY CASH- PERRY, CHRISTINA   MISC. PURCHASES                                      374.49  

  119943 1/4/2019 POWERSTRIDE BATTERY CO.          EV BATTERIES                                             98.07  

  119944 1/4/2019 R.C. SIMPSON, INC.                 RETAINER FEE                                             315.00  

9:2009-Jan-19Accounts Payable Check Register



Check # Date Company Description Amount Voids

  119945 1/4/2019 RILEY'S FLOWERS       DBA          SYMPATHY/GET WELL BOUQUETS       67.41  

  119946 1/4/2019 OLIVIA RODRIGUEZ                   DIRECTOR FEES                                          60.00  

  119947 1/4/2019 SANSUM CLINIC                      MEDICAL EXAMS                                        2,470.00  

  119948 1/4/2019 SAFEGUARD         DBA              OFFICE SUPPLIES                                        225.15  

  119949 1/4/2019 SB COUNTY FEDERAL CREDIT UNI PAYROLL DEDUCTION                              260.00  

  119950 1/4/2019 SILVAS OIL CO., INC.               LUBRICANTS                                                143.50  

  119951 1/4/2019 SANTA BARBARA SHERIFF'S DEPT PAYROLL RELATED                                   75.00  

  119952 1/4/2019 WILLIAM JOHN SHELOR                DIRECTOR FEES                                          120.00  

  119953 1/4/2019 SM TIRE, CORP.                     BUS TIRE MOUNTING                                446.94  

  119954 1/4/2019 SO. CAL. EDISON CO.                UTILITIES                                                      2,171.24  

  119955 1/4/2019 STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION PAYROLL RELATED                                   250.00  

  119956 1/4/2019 SWRCB ACCOUNTING OFFICE         STORM WATER PERMITS                          2,800.00  

  119957 1/4/2019 STEWART'S DE-ROOTING & PLUM PLUMBING REPAIRS                                  96.00  

  119958 1/4/2019 SB CITY OF-REFUSE/WATER            UTILITIES                                                      4,825.24  

  119959 1/4/2019 SUZANNE ELLEDGE PLANNING &  CALLE REAL PERMIT SERVICES             266.75  

  119960 1/4/2019 THE LIGHTHOUSE                     SHOP SUPPLIES                                           29.27  

  119961 1/4/2019 DAVID T. TABOR                     DIRECTOR FEES                                          60.00  

  119962 1/4/2019 TANK TEAM INC.                     TANK TESTS                                                 123.00  

  119963 1/4/2019 TEAMSTERS UNION LOCAL NO. 18 UNION DUES                                                664.52  

  119964 1/4/2019 TRUMAN ARNOLD COMPANIES (T DIESEL FUEL                                                42,303.77  

  119965 1/4/2019 VALLEY POWER SYSTEMS, INC.      BUS PARTS                                                   122.89  

  119966 1/4/2019 VERIZON WIRELESS                   WIRELESS PHONES & AIM CELLULAR  684.70  

  119967 1/4/2019 VERITECH, INC.                     BUS PARTS                                                   2,179.00  

  119968 1/4/2019 WAXIE SANITARY SUPPLY      DBA JANITORIAL SUPPLIES                              2,067.65  

  119969 1/4/2019 RICHARD WEINBERG                   DIRECTOR FEES                                          60.00  

108,990.82

0.00

$108,990.82

Prior Cash Report Voided Checks: 0.00

Current Cash Report Voided Checks:

Grand Total:

9:2009-Jan-19Accounts Payable Check Register



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District
Cash Receipts of Accounts Receivable

Date Company Description Amount

12/27/2018 City of S.B. Waterfront Department Waterfront Shuttle Service-Cruise Ship 112618 2,104.48

12/27/2018 MacDonald Media/MUFG Union Ban Advertising on Buses                                             16,383.60

12/27/2018 MacDonald Media/MUFG Union Ban Advertising on Buses                                             16,383.60

12/27/2018 UCSB - Parking Services-7001       Passes/Passports Sales                                           6,336.00

1/3/2019 ASTI Holding Company, LLC          Overpass Property Lease   Jan 19 16,678.46

1/3/2019 Back Bone Media- Toad & Co.        Advertising on Buses                                             880.20

1/3/2019 Local Transportation Fund          SB 325 - Dec 18 693,098.16

1/3/2019 Measure A, Section 3 LSTI          Measure A Funds   Dec 18 189,135.18

1/4/2019 County of Santa Barbara            Passes/Token Sales                                               3,679.25

1/7/2019 MedBridge                          Advertising on Buses                                             300.00

$944,978.93Total Accounts Receivable Paid During Period

1/8/2019 4:00:30 PMCash Report Accounts Receivable Printed



 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE: JANUARY 15, 2019 AGENDA ITEM: #7 

DEPARTMENT: CAPITAL PROJECTS 

TYPE: ACTION ITEM 

PREPARED BY: RYAN GRIPP ____________________ 
                     Signature            
 
REVIEWED BY: GENERAL MANAGER ____________________  
                          Signature            
 
SUBJECT: FACILITIES MASTER PLAN RFP CONTRACT AWARD RECOMMENDATION 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff requests that the Board give the General Manager authority to enter into a contract with 
Stantec Architecture Inc. for a not to exceed amount of $350,000. Such contract is for a Facilities 
Master Plan that will serve as the guiding document for future facilities investments. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
Project Description—The purpose of this RFP is to engage a professional consulting firm to 
develop a Facilities Master Plan concentrated on Terminals 1 and 2 that will serve to inform 
decisions regarding facility needs and investments at the two properties. To achieve that end, the 
consultant will follow a three-phased approach: 
 
Phase 1: Since facilities needs are largely driven by a transit agency’s operations, the consultant 
will perform a comprehensive analysis of MTD operations. The consultant will begin by studying 
existing operations and comparing that against key planning documents from MTD, as well as 
local and regional partners, to understand priorities and develop a picture of the transit landscape 
in MTD’s service area. Such documents include MTD’s “Strategic Plan: 2016-2021”, “Short Range 
Transit Plan: FY 2015 to FY 2019”, and the “Facilities Master Plan”. The consultant will investigate 
legislation and policies that influence transit operations and the financial implications such 
regulations may have on MTD operations. Finally, the consultant will engage internal and external 
stakeholders to ensure stakeholder input is a foundational element of the operations analysis and 
overall Plan. 
 
Phase 2: The second phase requires the consultant to perform in-depth assessments of facilities 
and equipment at Terminals 1 and 2. The work will include thorough inspections of buildings and 
equipment; meetings with MTD facilities and maintenance personnel to assess needs based upon 
building and equipment history; an evaluation of maintenance and equipment replacement 
records; and review of facilities inventories, equipment data, specifications, and construction 
drawings. The consultant’s work will also include a determination of utilities capacities; review of 
traffic and circulation conditions; review of zoning; and confirmation of easements and setbacks.  
Particular attention will be paid to existing electrical infrastructure and upgrades needed to 
achieve MTD’s transportation electrification goals. Phase 2 will culminate with a Facility 
Assessment Report describing the findings from the facilities assessments. 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 

2 

Phase 3: The final phase will identify alternative facility layouts based upon operational needs of 
the future and existing facility conditions. The consultant will perform detailed cost studies of each 
alternative layout that will include construction costs, phasing costs, land acquisition costs (if 
applicable), and related soft costs. The studies will also include possible funding streams to aid 
in offsetting project costs.    
 
Once the tasks have been completed for the three phases, the consultant will synthesize the 
results from Phase 1 – Operations Analysis, Phase 2 – Facilities Assessments, and Phase 3 – 
Alternative Layouts and Cost Studies into a comprehensive Facilities Master Plan.  
 
PROJECT BUDGET & FUNDING: 
The majority of funding for the project, $300,000, will come from CalSTA Transit and Intercity Rail 
Capital Program (TIRCP) grant funds awarded to the Santa Barbara County Association of 
Governments (SBCAG). The remaining $50,000 will come from MTD’s capital budget. 
 
SOLICITATION PROCESS: 
Request for Proposals—The Request for Proposals (RFP) procurement process was used in 
order to take into account price and other factors related to experience and technical capacity. 
The RFP was publicly noticed in October 2018 in the Ventura County Star and the Santa Barbara 
News-Press. It was simultaneously emailed to firms on MTD’s bidders list, which included firms 
from Santa Barbara, Los Angeles, and Orange Counties. Two firms attended a pre-proposal 
conference that provided interested parties with an opportunity to ask questions and learn more 
about the RFP from MTD personnel. Subsequent questions and requests for clarification resulted 
in one addendum, and the bid process culminated in the receipt of two proposals by the November 
2018 deadline. 
 
Responsiveness & Responsibility—The proposals were reviewed for “responsiveness” to 
determine that all required materials, information, and forms were provided. Both proposals/firms 
were found responsive and thus progressed on to the proposal evaluation stage. After a technical 
review of the proposals (discussed below), the pool of firms was narrowed to one determined to 
be in the competitive range for the RFP. That proposal/firm was reviewed for “responsibility” which 
included comprehensive discussions with references and an evaluation of the firm’s financial 
capacity to undertake the requirements of the contract. The one proposal/firm in the competitive 
range was found responsible and thus progressed in the process. 
 
Proposal Evaluation—Because of the wide ranging disciplines listed in the Scope of Work, the 
evaluation committee was comprised of transit professionals with diverse backgrounds. In order 
to accomplish this, two of the members were invited from agencies outside of MTD. The three-
member committee was composed of Geoff Straw, Executive Director for San Luis Obispo Transit 
Authority; Reed Caldwell, Director of Engineering and Construction for Gold Coast Transit; and 
Robert Lurie, Maintenance Supervisor for MTD. The committee’s goal was to determine the firms 
whose proposals most closely met the evaluation criteria in the RFP. 
 
The technical evaluation was carried out in November 2018. The committee members 
independently reviewed each firm’s proposal and came together to score them based upon the 
following criteria: technical qualifications and experience of the firm; qualifications of key 
personnel; work plan; and record of past performance. Each criterion was weighted by importance 
according to the following table: 
 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 

3 

 
The committee met over several hours evaluating and discussing the proposals, and individually 
assigning scores to each of the criteria on a scoresheet. The raw scores from each committee 
member’s scoresheet were then weighted based upon the table above and totaled. The total out 
of a possible 3000 points (1000 possible points from each committee member) for each firm is 
listed in the following graph: 
 

 
 
Based on the scores, only Stantec Architecture Inc. (Stantec) advanced to the competitive range. 
After moving to the next stage in the process, Stantec was evaluated for “responsibility” to 
determine their technical and financial capacity to undertake the work in the project (process 
described in the “Responsiveness and Responsibility” section above). 
 
MTD then invited Stantec for an interview. The interview panel was composed of MTD’s General 
Manager, Jerry Estrada, and MTD’s Assistant General Manager, Brad Davis. The interview 

725
525 610

420

2280

425 350 385
240

1400

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

Category 1 Category 2 Category 3 Category 4 Total

Weighted Evaluation Scores

Stantec

HDR

Category Description 
Scoring 
Criteria 

1. Technical 
Qualifications and 
Experience of the 
Firm 

Experience in performing work similar in nature and/or related 
to the work described in the Scope of Work; experience working 
with transit or other public agencies; strength and stability of 
the firm, including consultant team. A local office within 75 
miles of the project site. 

 
 

30 

2. Qualifications 
of Key 
Personnel 

Qualifications and previous experience of personnel; key 
personnel’s level of involvement in performing related work 
cited in the Scope of Work. 

 
25 

3. Work Plan Proven ability and commitment to provide sufficient detail to 
demonstrate the proposers’ understanding of the work; 
provides a clear and logical outline of work to be performed 
and a focus on MTD’s desired outcomes; and schedule 
indicating firms commitment to completing the project in an 
efficient and timely manner. 
 

 

25 

4. Record of Past 
Performance 

Proven track record of satisfactorily completed work; length of 
time firm has been established; complexity of work performed; 
and satisfaction of key references. 

 
20 

Total 100 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 

4 

provided Stantec an opportunity to further demonstrate their ability to fulfill the Scope of Work and 
allowed the interviewers an opportunity to meet Stantec’s project team. The interview was very 
productive and Stantec did a good job of presenting their strengths and answering questions. Due 
to their solid performance, the interviewers recommended advancing Stantec to the final stage of 
the RFP process. 
 
In January 2019, MTD entered into negotiations with Stantec and requested a best and final offer 
(BAFO). Their BAFO was provided by the deadline and included a 26% reduction from their 
original bid. The 26% reduction was a result of the elimination of “non-essential” tasks from their 
proposal. While the BAFO amount of $332,173 is $32,173 greater than the independent cost 
estimate for the solicitation, it is still within an acceptable range and appears to be fair and 
reasonable. Staff is still in negotiations with Stantec to add an option provision to the contract that 
would allow MTD to reinstate tasks that were removed from Stantec’s proposal to achieve the 
favorable BAFO pricing.   
 
CONTRACT EXECUTION 
If the Board gives the General Manager authority to enter into a contract with Stantec Architecture 
Inc., MTD staff will issue Stantec a “Notification of Contingent Award” indicating MTD’s intent to 
execute a contract for the Facilities Master Plan RFP after receipt of required certificates of 
insurance. Such action will only take place after final contract negotiations related to the option 
provision referenced above are settled.  Once negotiations have concluded and all of the requisite 
forms have been provided, MTD’s General Manager will execute the contract. 



 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE: JANUARY 15, 2019 AGENDA ITEM: #8 

DEPARTMENT: FINANCE 

TYPE: ACTION ITEM 

PREPARED BY: BRAD DAVIS ____________________ 
                     Signature            
 
REVIEWED BY: GENERAL MANAGER ____________________  
                          Signature            
 
SUBJECT: ADVANCE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE RENEWABLE DIESEL FUEL CONTRACT 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff requests that the Board provide advance authority to the General Manager to enter into a 
renewable diesel fuel contract for an upcoming bid solicitation subject to the following conditions: 

• The gross price does not exceed $2.70 per gallon; 
• The fixed price contract term is for one year beginning December 1, 2019; and, 
• The contract is awarded to the low bidder found to be responsive and responsible. 

 
DISCUSSION: 
Basis of Advance Authority 

Under MTD’s procurement policy, Board approval is required before entering into contracts 
exceeding $250,000. Providing advance authority to enter into the fuel contract, which will exceed 
this dollar threshold, will allow staff to award the contract the same day that fuel bids are received. 
This will result in lower bid prices for the reasons discussed below. 

A contract for the provision of ultra-low sulfur diesel fuel (ULSD) was recently awarded for a one-
year period that runs through November 30, 2019. Staff recommends switching to renewable 
diesel fuel (RD) upon completion of that contract (discussed on the following page). Because the 
price of oil and its distillates—including ULSD—have fallen sharply since last fall, and there is a 
correlation between the price of ULSD and RD, staff intends to solicit bids for the next fuel contract 
within the next month to take advantage of the relatively low prices. 

Staff has determined that there are an adequate number of suppliers willing to bid RD at a fixed 
price. As with ULSD, suppliers are expected to hedge their bid prices by purchasing commodity 
futures contracts. The winning bidder seeks to enter into its futures contracts as quickly as 
possible following bid submittal in order to lock in their profit margin. The greater the period of 
time between bid submittal and MTD contract award notification, the greater the potential for 
futures contract price changes thereby increasing the price risk to the bidder. MTD’s guarantee 
to make the award decision quickly following the receipt of bids minimizes the risk premium 
vendors will add to their bid prices. 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 

2 
 

Price Bid Maximum 

RD is cost competitive with ULSD in California (this is partly the result the state’s Low Carbon 
Fuel Standard which offsets some of the production cost through carbon credits). Based on 
information from other California public agencies, the price per gallon is typically within 10 cents 
of ULSD prices. Therefore, staff is requesting that the Board maintain the maximum bid price of 
$2.70 authorized for the previous ULSD bid solicitation. With current diesel fuel prices, the low 
bid price would be expected to be substantially below this maximum. However, as recently 
experienced, the price of oil, and therefore RD, can change quickly. The recommended level 
should prevent the necessity of returning to the Board for increased authority, which could extend 
the bid schedule by several weeks. 

Renewable Diesel 

Renewable diesel is an alternative fuel that is nearly identical to petroleum-based diesel in its 
performance characteristics yet is not produced from fossil fuels. It uses the same fat, oil, and 
grease feedstocks as biodiesel but differs from biodiesel in its production process which results 
in RD being chemically similar to ULSD while eliminating most concerns with biodiesel (e.g., 
reduced fuel efficiency, increased engine wear and maintenance, and storage system microbe 
growth). As a result, RD can be used in diesel engines without the blending with ULSD required 
by biodiesel. After use for several years by a number of large public agencies, including the State 
of California, there have been no negative impacts reported on diesel engine performance, 
maintenance, or life. RD has been approved for use by both Cummins and Detroit Diesel, the two 
engine manufacturers used in MTD diesel buses. 

Reduced Carbon Footprint 

Renewable diesel produces fewer greenhouse gas (GHG) and other harmful emissions than 
ULSD. The California Air Resources Board (CARB) completed an air quality assessment in 20151 
that reported life cycle reductions in GHG emissions—primarily carbon dioxide (CO2), methane 
(CH4), nitrous oxide (N2O), and hydrofluorocarbons—ranging from 15% to 80% depending on 
the feedstock source. The study also found reductions of 30% in particulate matter (PM), 10% in 
nitrogen oxides (NOx), 5% in total hydrocarbons (THC), 10% in carbon monoxide (CO). 

CARB ICT Regulation 

The recently approved CARB Innovative Clean Transit regulation includes a requirement that 
beginning in 2020, all diesel fuel contracts entered into by large transit agencies must specify 
renewable diesel. Early entry into an RD contract by MTD will avoid the coming surge in the 
alternative fuel bids and lock in a supply of the cleaner burning renewable diesel for the year. 

 

                                                
1 State of California Environmental Protection Agency, Multimedia Evaluation of Renewable Diesel, May 2015 



 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 

 
MEETING DATE: JANUARY 15, 2019 AGENDA ITEM: #9 

DEPARTMENT: FINANCE 

TYPE: ACTION ITEM 

PREPARED BY: BRAD DAVIS ____________________ 
                     Signature            
 
REVIEWED BY: GENERAL MANAGER ____________________  
                          Signature            
 
SUBJECT: PROCUREMENT POLICY DOLLAR LIMIT UPDATES 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the Board approve updating the District’s procurement policy as follows: 

• Increase the small purchases threshold for professional services to $250,000; and, 
• Increase the micro-purchases threshold to $10,000 

DISCUSSION: 
The MTD Procurement Manual was developed in the 1980’s and was based on state and federal 
laws and regulations in effect at that time. While the specified solicitation processes have changed 
little over the intervening years, the dollar thresholds to determine the required solicitation method 
and level of formality have grown considerably. In particular, the federal limit for “simplified 
acquisitions” (i.e., small purchases) has been increased in stages from $25,000 to the current 
$250,000. In that time, the limit for micro-purchases has risen from $2,000 to $10,000. The MTD 
Procurement Manual thresholds have not followed suit and remain at $25,000 and $2,000 for 
small purchases and micro-purchases, respectively. 

Procurements fall into three main categories: construction; equipment, materials and supplies; 
and professional services. Under state and federal law, the first two categories are subject to a 
publically advertised sealed bid process with award to the lowest responsible bidder. Professional 
services use a competitive proposal process that takes into consideration qualifications and other 
qualitative factors in addition to price. Of note is that state laws and regulations are almost 
exclusively concerned with construction (public works) and the acquisition of materials and 
equipment with little mention of professional services other than for architectural and engineering 
purposes. This information including the dollars thresholds are summarized in the below table. 

 

Procurement Method Applicable to: Federal State MTD
 Sealed Bids*  Equipment, Materials & Supplies ≥ $250,000 ≥ $25,000 ≥ $25,000
 Competitive Proposals  Professional Services ≥ $250,000 not specified ≥ $25,000
 Small Purchases  All purchases < $250,000 not defined < $25,000
 Micro-purchases  All purchases < $10,000 not defined < $2,000
*Excludes construction which uses a sealed bid process for amounts exceeding $3,000

Dollar Limits



BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 

2 
 

The Procurement Manual is scheduled for a comprehensive update later this year. With several 
professional service solicitations scheduled before it is expected to be completed, the limit 
updates would simplify and expedite these procurements. Such services include those for 
banking, auditing, armored carrier, pension plan legal and investment, and bus parts inventory. 

Last year, MTD sought and received a legal opinion from Buynak, Fauver, Archbald & Spray 
concerning state and federal procurement requirements and dollar limits. The recommendations 
and information provided in this report are largely based on and do not conflict with that opinion. 

Attached are several items supporting or detailing the requested Procurement Manual changes. 

ATTACHMENT(S): 

• Federal Office of Management and Budget memo dated June 20, 2018 (re: limit increases) 
• MTD Procurement Manual pages with changes (red-lined) 
• MTD Procurement Manual (with all recommended changes incorporated) 

 



EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 


OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET 


WASHINGTON, D.C. 20503 


OFFICE OF FEDERAL 
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT June 20, 2018 

M-18-18 

MEMORANDUM FOR CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICERS AND HEADS OF SMALL EXECUTIVE 
AGENCIES 

FROM: 	 Tim Soltis ~~~ 
Deputy Controller, Office of Federal Financial Management 

SUBJECT: 	 Implementing Statutory Changes to the Micro-Purchase and the Simplified 
Acquisition Thresholds for Financial Assistance 

In accordance with recent statutory changes set forth in the National Defense Authorization Acts (NDAA) 
for Fiscal Years 2017 and 2018, this memorandum raises the threshold for micro-purchases under Federal 
financial assistance awards to $10,000, and raises the threshold for simplified acquisitions to $250,000 for 
all recipients. Further, it implements an approval process for certain institutions that want to request 
micro-purchase thresholds higher than $10,000. Agencies are required to implement these changes in the 
terms and conditions of their awards, and recipients ofexisting Federal financial assistance awards may 
implement them in their internal controls. 

Background 

This memorandum applies to all Federal agencies, as defined at 5 U.S.C. § 551(1), that award grants or 
cooperative agreements. It implements changes to the micro-purchase and simplified acquisition 
thresholds for financial assistance under the NDAAs for Fiscal Year (FY) 2017 and FY2018. The micro
purchase threshold refers to purchases ofsupplies or services using simplified acquisition procedures, not 
to exceed an established amount pursuant to the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) 
Govemmentwide Guidance for Grants and Agreements ("Uniform Guidance") at 2 C.F.R. § 200.67 
(Micro-purchase). The simplified acquisition threshold refers to purchases of property or services using 
small purchase methods not to exceed an established amount pursuant to 2 C.F.R. § 200.88 (Simplified 
acquisition threshold). For Federal financial assistance awards, these purchases are acquired for use by a 
Federal program. The NDAA for FY2017 increased the micro-purchase threshold from $3,500 to $10,000 
for institutions of higher education, or related or affiliated nonprofit entities, nonprofit research 
organizations or independent research institutes ( 41 U .S.C. § 1908). The NOAA for FY2018 increases 
the micro-purchase threshold to $10,000 for all recipients and also increases the simplified acquisition 
threshold from $100,000 to $250,000 for all recipients. 

Implementing the NDAA for FY2017 

Section 2 l 7(b) ofthe NOAA for FY2017 raises the micro-purchase threshold to$ I 0,000 for 
procurements under grants and cooperative agreements for institutions ofhigher education, or related or 
affiliated nonprofit entities, nonprofit research organizations or independent research institutes. 1 

1 Pub. L. No. 114-328 (codified at 41 U.S.C. § I902(a)(2)). 

bdavis
Highlight

bdavis
Highlight

bdavis
Highlight



The NOAA for FY2017 also establishes an interim uniform process by which these recipients can request 
and Federal agencies can approve requests to apply a higher micro-purchase threshold. Specifically, the 
2017 NOAA allows a threshold above $10,000 if approved by the head of the relevant executive agency. 
For purposes of this approval, the institution's cognizant Federal agency for indirect cost rates will be the 
relevant executive agency as defined in 2 C.F.R. § 200.19 (Cognizant agency for indirect costs). To 
receive a higher threshold, the institution must either have "clean single audit findings" (i.e., in 
accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.520 - Criteria for a low-risk auditee), have an acceptable internal 
institutional risk assessment, or the higher threshold must be consistent with State law for public 
institutions. 

Agencies should reflect this change through policy or terms and conditions in awards for those 
institutions. The effective date for this change was when the NOAA for FY2017 was signed into law on 
December 23, 2016. OMB intends to revise the Uniform Guidance to conform with the law. 2 

Process for Requesting a Higher Threshold Under the NDAA for FY2017 

Requests for approval should be submitted to the institution's cognizant Federal agency for indirect cost 
rates; however, institutions should contact the agency before sending the request to determine the correct 
point ofcontact. The cognizant Federal agency will assign review of the request to the appropriate office 
within the agency to determine whether to approve, and will maintain records and justification ofall 
approvals. The request should include the threshold level being requested and the justification(s) for it 
based on the criteria above per Section 2 I 7(b) of the NOAA for FY2017. 

Implementing the NDAA for FY2018 

This memorandum also implements provisions of the NOAA for FY 2018, Pub. L. No. 115-91 , which 
became law on December 12, 2017. Specifically, section 806 raised the micro-purchase threshold from 
$3,500 to $10,000, and section 805 raised the simplified acquisition threshold from $I 00,000 to 
$250,000. Pursuant to 2 C.F.R. § 200.67 (Micro-purchase) and 2 C.F.R. § 200.88 (Simplified acquisition 
threshold), these higher thresholds are not effective until implemented in the Federal Acquisition 
Regulation (FAR) at 48 C.F .R. Subpart 2. 1 (Definitions). 3 

In order to allow maximum flexibility for grant recipients in light of the changes to the NOAA for 
FY2018, OMB is granting an exception allowing recipients to use the higher threshold of$10,000 for 
micro-purchases and $250,000 for simplified acquisitions in advance of revisions to the FAR at 48 C.F.R. 
Subpart 2.1 and the Uniform Guidance. Pursuant to 2 C.F.R. § 200.102 (Exceptions), OMB may allow 
exceptions to the Uniform Guidance when exceptions are not prohibited by statute. The exception takes 
effect upon the date of issuance of this memo. Agencies should apply this exception to all recipients. 
Recipients should document any change based on this exception in accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.318 
(General procurement standards). 

If you have any questions regarding this memorandum, please contact Mary Tutman at 
Maiy.E.Tutman@omb.eop.gov or Gil Tran at Hai_M._ Tran@omb.eop.gov. 

2 The American Innovation and Competitiveness Act, Pub. L. No. 114-329, § 207{b) {2017) states that the Uniform 
Guidance shall be revised to conform with the requirements concerning the micro-purchase threshold. 

3 Codified at 41 U.S.C. § I902{t). 
2 


mailto:Tran@omb.eop.gov
mailto:Maiy.E.Tutman@omb.eop.gov
bdavis
Highlight



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District 

Procurement Manual 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

March 2015January 2019 

 

  



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

March 2015January 2019 Page 13 of 50 

6.2 EQUIPMENT AND MATERIAL PURCHASES 

Development of technical specifications for equipment and material procurements shall be the 
responsibility of the Procurement Officer. Consultant assistance may be enlisted for procurements 
of a highly technical nature. 

All technical specification narratives shall include a statement of the qualitative nature of the 
equipment or material to be procured, including form and function. Such statement shall clearly 
establish the minimum essential characteristics and standards required to accomplish its intended 
use. Also included shall be explicit references to all reliability and testing requirements, as well as 
any other procedures necessary to guarantee performance. 

Prior to the development of technical specifications MTD may conduct a market survey to identify 
sources offering products suitable for the District’s needs. However, in the course of its conduct 
MTD employees shall: 1) refrain from making any commitment for a future contract, and; 2) 
neither solicit nor accept any form or assistance from a potential contractor which would give such 
an unfair advantage in a competitive bidding process. 

6.3 PROFESSIONAL AND CONSULTANT SERVICES 

Procurement of professional and consultant services exceeding $250,000 is accomplished through 
a published Request for Proposals (RFP). The RFP shall contain a complete description of required 
tasks and identify all requirements which proposers must fulfill. In addition, the RFP shall identify 
all evaluation criteria to be employed by MTD as well as their relative importance.  

RFP documents issued by MTD shall contain the following components: 

(a) A broad description of the services needed and the objectives underlying the 
procurement; 

(b) Identification of all Contractor responsibilities, including items which must be 
supplied by the Contractor; 

(c) Identification of all MTD responsibilities including items, property, data, and 
services to be supplied by the District; 

(d) Description of all standards, regulations, and laws with which the Contractor must 
conform; 

(e) Specific description of all tasks to be performed by the Contractor; 

(f) Identification of schedules and deadlines which must be met by the Contractor. 

6.4 FTA CLAUSES 

It is the policy of MTD that procurements financed in any part with FTA funds shall conform in 
all respects to the procurement regulations promulgated by that agency. Thus, any MTD bid or 
proposal document issued for an FTA funded procurement shall identify all pertinent regulations 
applicable to the Contractor. This includes, but is not limited to, items such as Disadvantaged 
Business Enterprise programs, Buy America requirements, and non-discrimination provisions. 

 

7.0 METHODS OF SOURCE SELECTION 

7.1 GENERAL POLICY 

As stated previously, open and fair competition is a basic tenet of MTD procurement policy. In the 
exercise of this policy it is recognized that the District purchases many types of goods and services. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

March 2015January 2019 Page 14 of 50 

Since the marketplace differs for these various items, it is necessary to employ a variety of source 
selection techniques in order to ensure the best competition for each procurement. 

Accordingly, MTD recognizes and authorizes three basic methods for the conduct of District 
procurement: 1) sealed bid; 2) competitive proposal, and; 3) small purchase procedures. In 
addition, MTD also authorizes the use of sole source and emergency procurements as exceptions 
to the basic methods only if necessary under conditions existing at the time. 

The material presented in this section establishes the conditions under which each type of 
procurement may be used. Administrative procedures applicable to each procurement also are 
detailed. 

7.2 SEALED BID PROCUREMENTS 

7.2.1 Conditions for Use 

It is the policy of MTD that, unless accepted excepted by circumstances described herein, sealed 
bidding shall be performed as follows:for purchases of $25,000 or more and will be formally 
advertised and subject to the provisions below. 

(a) For purchases under $25,000 sealed bidding shall be conducted by contacting two 
or more responsible suppliers who are willing and able to compete effectively; 

(b) Purchases of $25,000 or more shall be formally advertised, subject to the provisions 
below. 

The formally advertised sealed bid procurement shall be conducted when: 

(a) A complete, adequate and realistic specification or purchase description is 
available; 

(b) Two or more responsible bidders are willing and able to compete effectively for the 
business; 

(c) The procurement lends itself to a firm fixed price contract and the selection of the 
successful bidder can be made principally on the basis of price; 

(d) Sufficient time is available to accommodate formal advertising. 

7.2.2 Advertising 

In cases where sealed bid procurements are formally advertised, such advertising shall be 
published in a newspaper of general circulation in the Santa Barbara area. Additional sources may 
be employed as appropriate, including trade publications, journals and newsletter. 

The advertisement shall contain a concise description of the procurement to be conducted along 
with information indicating the method by which interested parties may obtain appropriate 
solicitation documents. Additional items contained in the formal advertisement include date, time 
and location for submission of bids. 

As a supplement to advertising the availability of an Invitation for Bids (IFB) copies of the bid 
documents will be mailed directly to prospective bidders. The number of such mailings will vary 
by procurement, but will be sufficient to assure adequate competition. 

7.2.3 Bidding Schedules 

Consistent with the need for obtaining goods or services, all IFB’s shall be issued in a fashion 
which allows sufficient time to permit prospective bidders to prepare and submit bids. It is the 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

March 2015January 2019 Page 20 of 50 

12. Administers bid protests pursuant to MTD policy (if 
applicable) 

13. Administers contract 

General Manager 

     1. Approves Purchase Requisition 

     2. Approves bid award  

     3. Executes contract 

4. Provides recommendation to Board of Directors 
concerning bid protests (if applicable) 

Board of Directors 

1. Considers and rules upon bid protests (if applicable) 

2. Approves non-budget capital purchases 

7.3 COMPETITIVE PROPOSAL PROCUREMENTS 

7.3.1 Conditions for Use 

Whenever the Procurement Officer determines in writing that the use of competitive sealed bidding 
is either not practical or not advantageous to MTD, a procurement of $250,000 or more may shall 
be conducted through a formal solicitation of competitive proposals. In making such determination 
the Procurement Officer shall consider the following: 

(a) Whether quality, availability, or capability is overriding in relation to price for the 
type of good or service needed; 

(b) Whether the marketplace will respond more satisfactorily to a solicitation 
permitting not only a range of alternative proposals but discussion and evaluation 
of them before making award. 

If the Procurement Officer makes an affirmative determination on any of the above items 
conditions are appropriate for use of a competitive proposal procurement. 

Pursuant to FTA regulations and MTD policy competitive proposals shall be solicited for 
qualifications based procurements of architectural and engineering services. This shall also include 
related services such as construction or program management, feasibility studies, preliminary 
engineering design, surveying, mapping, and associated functions. 

Procurement of other professional and personal services, e.g., legal counsel shall be accomplished 
by competitive proposal. Finally, this method of procurement shall be employed whenever it is not 
possible to fully detail the scope or quantity of services to be obtained. 

7.3.2 Contents of the Request for Proposals 

All RFP solicitations prepared by MTD shall be based upon a clear and complete description of 
the requirements for the material or service to be obtained. These requirements shall contain no 
features which unduly restrict competition. 

The RFP shall clearly identify the method by which proposals will be evaluated and award made. 
This includes a complete list of all evaluation criteria and their relative importance in the 
evaluation process. The disclosure of relative importance need not be made by publication of 
explicit numerical weighting for evaluative criteria; a simple ranking shall be considered sufficient. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

March 2015January 2019 Page 21 of 50 

7.3.3 Advertising 

Competitive proposal procurement estimated by the Procurement Officer to exceed 
$25,000$250,000 shall be advertised through a Public Notice of Requests for Proposals. Such 
Notice shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the Santa Barbara area. 
Additional sources may be employed as appropriate, including trade journals. 

Notices for RFP’s shall contain a brief description of the service to be obtained as well as 
information concerning the method by which interested parties may obtain the solicitation 
documents. Also included shall be details of the date, time, and location for submission of 
proposals. 

Copies of the RFP documents shall be sent to prospective proposers by the Procurement Officer 
at the time of Public Notice publication. RFP materials shall also be provided promptly to all 
parties requesting them. 

7.3.4 Issuance, Amendment, and Cancellation of RFPs 

Proposals shall be solicited from an adequate number of potentially qualified firms or individuals 
to assure effective competition. Whenever possible, no fewer than three potential proposers shall 
be solicited. 

MTD may elect to make changes to an RFP between the date of issuance and deadline for receipt. 
In this event such changes shall be accomplished through a written amendment to the RFP. This 
amendment shall be sent to each party known to have received a copy of the original RFP. 

It is the general policy of MTD that any information released to a prospective proposer concerning 
an RFP or amendment thereto shall be furnished promptly to all other RFP recipients. This policy 
shall be employed in all cases wherein: 1) such information is necessary for submission of 
proposals, or; 2) the lack of same would be prejudicial to uninformed proposers. 

Amendments to RFP documents shall be issued in sufficient time to permit all prospective 
proposers to consider the information in preparing their proposals. 

At any time prior to execution of a contract MTD may cancel a competitive proposal solicitation. 
Such action shall be taken pursuant to a written determination by the MTD General Manager that 
it is in the best interests of the District to do so. In the event that an RFP is cancelled the 
Procurement Officer notifies all proposers or RFP recipients in writing. 

7.3.5 Modification and Withdrawal of Proposals 

At any time prior to the deadline established for their receipt, a proposer may, by written request, 
modify or withdraw a proposal. All RFP modifications must be made in writing and submitted as 
directed in the solicitation documents. 

Timely withdrawal of a proposal shall in no way prevent the affected party from submitting another 
proposal, or prejudice evaluation of same after the date of opening. 

7.3.6 Receipt of Proposals 

Proposals may be opened at any time after their receipt, providing that such receipt occurred prior 
to the deadline established in the RFP. Proposals received after the deadline may be rejected and 
returned unopened to the sender. 

Any response to the RFP shall be honored to the maximum extent practical. No proposals shall be 
rejected on the basis of non-responsiveness to the provisions of the RFP. However, this shall not 
absolve proposers of responsibility for fulfilling all requirements of the RFP. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

March 2015January 2019 Page 30 of 50 

16. Prepares recommendation to General Manager for 
contract award 

17. Issues notice of award to proposers and returns 
securities to same as appropriate 

18. Prepares contract documents 

19. Administers procurement protests and pursuant to 
MTD policy (if applicable) 

20. Administers contract 

General Manager    

     1. Approves Purchase Requisition 

     2. Approves contract award 

     3. Executes contract 

4. Provides recommendation to Board of Directors 
concerning resolution of protests (if applicable) 

Board of Directors 

1. Considers and rules upon procurement protests (if 
applicable) 

2. Approves non-budget capital purchases 

7.5 SMALL PURCHASE PROCUREMENTS 

7.5.1 Conditions for Use 

Small purchase procedures as described herein represent simple and less formal methods which 
may be used to procure services less than $250,000,; and equipment, materials, and supplies, and 
other property which do not cost more less than $25,000 in the aggregate. Such procedures are 
used for minor purchases which do not justify the administrative time and expense necessary for 
conduct of the formal sealed bidding and competitive procurement processes. Appropriate 
procedures or actions to ensure competition, satisfactory vendor qualifications, applicable product 
or service requirements, and reasonableness of price shall continue to be followed for small 
purchases. Necessary procedures and processes will depend upon the nature, scale, and anticipated 
cost of the contract. If unclear, the Procurement Officer will determine the solicitation process. 

However, while these procedures are intended to make small purchases administratively simpler 
to complete, adequate competition shall be assured. MTD policy prohibits the use of small 
purchase procedures for the purpose of avoiding other forms of procurement, e.g., sealed bids. 
This includes the dividing of procurements into individual minor purchases, and other actions 
taken to circumvent proper source selection methods as described herein. 

7.5.2 Assurance of Competition and Reasonableness of PriceMicro-
Purchases 

Purchases not exceeding $2,000$10,000 in the aggregate may be accomplished without obtaining 
competitive quotations if the price is can be determined to be reasonable. Such determination shall 
be made through comparison of the proposed price with the following: 

 (a) Current price lists; 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

March 2015January 2019 Page 31 of 50 

 (b) Current catalog prices; 

 (c) Printed price advertisements; 

 (d) Known prices of similar items in a related industry; 

 (e) Prices determined to be reasonable in recent purchases; 

 (f) Buyer’s knowledge of the item(s) being procured. 

Small purchases in excess of $2,000 but less than $25,000 in the aggregate shall be accomplished 
by obtaining oral quotations. Such quotations shall be confirmed in writing by no fewer than two 
qualified sources. 

Purchases in excess of $25,000 shall be accomplished through the use of competitive procurement 
procedures described herein. 

7.5.3 Procurement Records 

The responsibility for maintaining small purchase procurement records belongs to the originating 
department. Such records shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

(a) Source for determination of price reasonableness, e.g., price list, catalog or 
advertisement; 

 (b) Documentation of oral price quotations solicited and received; 

 (c) Written vendor price quotation confirmations. 

The Procurement Officer shall ensure that departments making small purchases maintain complete 
and accurate records for each procurement. 

7.5.4 MTD Organizational Procedures and Responsibilities 

Responsibility for administration of small purchase procurements shall be assigned as follows: 

Responsible Party   Tasks 

Originating Department 1. Solicits vendor prices and determines    
reasonableness 

2. Documents and prepares evaluation of each price 
quotation. 

3. Submits Purchase Requisition 

4. Makes award to vendor 

5. Receives items and reconciles with Purchase Order. 
Forwards purchase receipts and materials to 
Accounting 

Finance Department 1. Controller receives Purchase Requisition from 
originating department, reviews for budgetary consistency 
and forwards to General Manager for approval 

 2. Processes all vendor invoices 

General Manager 1. Approves Purchase Requisition 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District 

Procurement Manual 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

January 2019 

 

  



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District 

Procurement Manual 
January 2019 

 

Table of Contents 
1.0 INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................ 1 

1.2 Application ....................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.3 Goals of the MTD Procurement System ........................................................................................... 1 

2.0 SBMTD PROCUREMENT POLICIES ....................................................................................... 2 
2.1 Promotion of Open Competition ...................................................................................................... 2 

2.2 Fairness and Equity ......................................................................................................................... 2 

2.3 Price and Cost Analyses ................................................................................................................... 2 

2.4 Purchase vs. Lease Options ............................................................................................................. 2 

2.5 Procurement Records and Documentation ...................................................................................... 3 

2.6 Procurement Awards ........................................................................................................................ 3 

3.0 SBMTD CODE OF CONDUCT ................................................................................................... 3 
3.1 Purpose and Applicability ................................................................................................................ 3 

3.2 Conflict of Interest............................................................................................................................ 3 

3.3 Gifts and Gratuities .......................................................................................................................... 4 

3.4 Contacts with Vendors, Bidders, and Proposers .............................................................................. 4 
3.5 Release and Use of Information ....................................................................................................... 4 

4.0 DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................................................... 5 
4.1 Glossary of Procurement Terms ...................................................................................................... 5 

5.0 SBMTD PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION .......................................................................... 7 
5.1 Delegation of Authority for Approval of Procurements ................................................................... 7 

5.2 Procurement Officer ......................................................................................................................... 7 
5.3 Procurement Documents .................................................................................................................. 8 

5.4 General Procurement Procedures ................................................................................................... 8 

6.0 DEVELOPMENT SOLICITATION DOCUMENT STANDARDS .........................................12 
6.1 General Policies ..............................................................................................................................12 

6.2 Equipment and Material Purchases ................................................................................................13 

6.3 Professional and Consultant Services .............................................................................................13 
6.4 FTA Clauses ....................................................................................................................................13 

7.0 METHODS OF SOURCE SELECTION ....................................................................................13 
7.1 General Policy ................................................................................................................................13 

7.2 Sealed Bid Procurements ................................................................................................................14 

7.3 Competitive Proposal Procurements ...............................................................................................20 



7.4 Non-Competitive Negotiation (Sole Source) Procurements ............................................................26 

7.5 Small Purchase Procurements ........................................................................................................30 
7.6 Emergency Procurements ...............................................................................................................31 

7.7 Pre-Award Review of FTA Funded Procurements ..........................................................................32 

7.8 Piggybacking ...................................................................................................................................33 

7.9 Cooperative Purchasing ..................................................................................................................33 

8.0 BONDING AND BID SECURITY ..............................................................................................34 
8.1 Types of Bonds and Bid Securities ..................................................................................................34 
8.2 Conditions for Use ..........................................................................................................................34 

9.0 PROCUREMENT PROTEST PROCEDURES .........................................................................35 
9.1 Purpose and Applicability ...............................................................................................................35 

9.2 Definitions .......................................................................................................................................35 

9.3 Bases for Protest .............................................................................................................................36 

9.4 Pre-Award Protests .........................................................................................................................36 
9.5 Post-Award Protests ........................................................................................................................37 

9.6 Additional Protest Procedures for FTA Funded Procurements ......................................................38 

10.0 MTD CONTRACT DOCUMENTS .............................................................................................39 
10.1 General Policies .........................................................................................................................39 

10.2 Contract Types ...........................................................................................................................40 

10.3 Conditions for Use ......................................................................................................................40 
10.4 Standard Contract Provisions ....................................................................................................41 

10.5 Liquidated Damages ...................................................................................................................42 

10.6 Term of Contracts .......................................................................................................................43 

10.7 Options .......................................................................................................................................43 

11.0 CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION .............................................................................................44 
11.1 Organizational Responsibilities .................................................................................................44 

11.2 Contract Modifications ...............................................................................................................45 

11.3 Disputes ......................................................................................................................................45 

11.4 Contractor Payments ..................................................................................................................46 

11.5 Termination ................................................................................................................................46 

11.6 Contract Closeout Procedures ...................................................................................................47 

12.0 DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS PROPERTY ....................................................................................48 
12.1 Purpose.......................................................................................................................................48 

12.2 Capital and Non-Capital Assets .................................................................................................48 

12.3 Determination of Surplus Status .................................................................................................48 

12.4 Pre-Sale Requirements ...............................................................................................................48 

12.5 Disposition Procedures ..............................................................................................................49 
12.6 FTA Funded Assets .....................................................................................................................50 

 



 

January 2019 Page 1 of 50 

SANTA BARBARA METROPOLITAN TRANSIT DISTRICT 

PROCUREMENT MANUAL 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 PURPOSE 

The purposes of this Procurement Manual are to:  

(a) Promote cost-effective procurement practices which to the fullest extent practical 
maximize the purchasing power of public funds expended by MTD; 

(b) Ensure the fair and equitable treatment of all individuals and firms affected by the 
MTD procurement system; 

(c) Foster effective and broad-based competition within the free enterprise system; 

(d) Provide safeguards for the maintenance of a procurement system characterized by 
fairness and integrity; 

(e) Establish a single reference source for all policies, standards, and procedures 
applicable to MTD procurements. 

1.2 APPLICATION 

This document is intended to describe the methods and procedures by which the Santa Barbara 
Metropolitan Transit District (hereinafter “MTD” or “District”) purchases goods and services. The 
policies, standards, and other guidelines detailed herein shall govern all MTD procurements, 
regardless of their type, purpose, or dollar value. The contents of this Manual also are intended to 
guide the disposal of surplus property, unless governed by statute. 

In some cases, procurements involving governmental grant funding are bound by special 
regulations promulgated by the grantor agency. Salient regulations for purchases of this nature are 
included and identified in this Manual so that the document may function as a comprehensive 
reference for all procurements regardless of their funding source. 

While reasonable effort has been made to ensure that the policies of this Procurement Manual 
comply with applicable federal and state laws or regulations (requirements), where any conflict 
with such requirements exists, the federal or state requirement shall take precedence over and 
supersede this Procurement Manual policy. Compliance with such requirements shall not prevent 
MTD from implementing policies within this Procurement Manual that exceed federal or state 
requirements where such policies do not contradict the intent of those requirements. 

1.3 GOALS OF THE MTD PROCUREMENT SYSTEM 

Procurement activities conducted by MTD are guided by the following goals: 

(a) Ensure full, open, and fair competition in the procurement of goods and services; 

(b) Conduct procurements in a manner which precludes the purchase of unnecessary 
and duplicative items; 

(c) Ensure that materials and services are obtained only from responsible, qualified 
firms having the capacity to perform successfully under the terms and conditions 
governing each procurement; 

(d) Maintain the highest integrity in the procurement process; 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 2 of 50 

(e) Ensure full and complete compliance with all contracts for procurement of goods 
and services; 

(f) Resolve procurement disputes and protests in a fair and equitable manner; 

(g) Maintain complete and accurate records of all procurement activities. 

 

2.0 SBMTD PROCUREMENT POLICIES 

2.1 PROMOTION OF OPEN COMPETITION 

In order to ensure cost-effective purchasing and maximize the buying power of public monies, 
MTD shall promote full and open competition by: 

(a) Under conditions appropriate for use of sealed bid procurements, letting contracts 
to the lowest responsible bidder for: i) purchase of all supplies, equipment, and 
materials when the expenditure required exceeds twenty five thousand dollars 
($25,000), and; ii) construction of facilities when the expenditure exceeds three 
thousand dollars ($3,000); 

(b) Soliciting competitive bids or proposals for every item not included above which 
is amenable to that procedure, unless it is determined to be in the best interest of 
MTD to conduct an alternate type of procurement; 

(c) Developing solicitation documents which contain no exclusionary or 
discriminatory specifications; 

(d) Placing no unreasonable requirements on firms in order to qualify for consideration 
in MTD procurements; 

(e) Ensuring that bonding and other bid security requirements are reasonable and used 
only when appropriate; 

(f) Imposing no geographic preferences in the evaluation of bids and proposals for 
FTA funded procurements. 

2.2 FAIRNESS AND EQUITY 

MTD shall ensure that procurement activities are conducted at all times in a manner which ensures 
the fair and equitable treatment of all. Toward this end, MTD shall adhere to the standards, 
procedures, and processes contained herein, and shall apply such uniformly in all procurements. 

2.3 PRICE AND COST ANALYSES 

In its capacity as steward of public funds MTD is responsible for ensuring that goods and services 
are procured in a cost-effective manner. Accordingly, it is the District’s policy that some type of 
cost or price analysis shall be conducted in connection with every procurement action, including 
contract modifications.  

2.4 PURCHASE VS. LEASE OPTIONS 

As an additional method of ensuring cost-effective expenditures procurement decisions shall, 
where appropriate, evaluate the economic implications of purchase and lease options. As a general 
practice, however, MTD shall not enter into leases when such are long term in nature or involve 
items which should be capitalized but cannot due to current financial circumstances. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 3 of 50 

2.5 PROCUREMENT RECORDS AND DOCUMENTATION 

MTD shall maintain records in sufficient detail to document the significant history of each 
procurement. Such records shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

(a) Rationale for method of procurement; 

(b) Selection of contract type; 

(c) Selection or rejection of bidders and prospers; 

(d) All Solicitation documents and public advertisements thereof, correspondence with 
bidders and proposers, and bid or proposal materials received; 

(e) All material concerning protests filed in connection with MTD procurements; 

(f) Documents relating to any contract amendment or change order; 

(g) Price and cost analyses conducted by MTD staff. 

2.6 PROCUREMENT AWARDS 

For all procurements involving award in response to a bid or proposal solicitation, MTD shall 
conduct an evaluation of each firm responding. This evaluation, intended to assess capacity to 
comply with the terms and conditions of the procurement, shall consider such matters as integrity, 
history of past performance, financial resources, and technical capabilities. MTD shall make 
awards only to responsible firms judged to possess the ability to perform successfully under the 
terms governing the procurement. 

 

3.0 SBMTD CODE OF CONDUCT 

This section supplements MTD’s Board adopted policy to comply with Government Code 
Section 87311 by resolution 03-3. 

3.1 PURPOSE AND APPLICABILITY  

As a governmental institution, MTD must be vigilant in its protection of the public trust. Toward 
this and employees, officers, and agents of MTD must conduct themselves in a manner which will 
foster public confidence in the integrity of the District’s procurement system. 

This section is intended to prescribe standards of conduct designed to ensure honesty and integrity 
in MTD procurements. The standards established herein shall apply to all activities associated with 
the procurement of goods and services, and shall extend to all employees, officers, and agents of 
MTD. 

3.2 CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

No employee, officer or agent of MTD shall participate in the selection, award, or administration 
of a contract or purchase order if a conflict of interest, whether real of apparent, would be involved. 
Such conflict would arise when any of the following has a financial or other interest in the firm(s) 
considered or selected for award: 

(a) An MTD employee, officer, or agent; 

(b) Any member of his/her immediate family; 

(c) His/her business associate, or; 

(d) An organization which employs or is about to employ any of the above. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 4 of 50 

Employees, officers, and agents of MTD shall be subject to the laws of the State of California 
concerning conflicts of interest for public officials. Anyone found to violate standards established 
by such laws shall be subject to the penalties, sanctions, or other disciplinary actions provided for 
therein. 

In cases where an employee, officer, or agent of MTD may have a conflict of interest, it is the 
policy of MTD that such individual(s) must promptly report the situation in writing to the MTD 
Procurement Officer. Failure to adhere to this requirement shall constitute a violation of MTD 
policy and shall subject the violator to disciplinary action as deemed appropriate by the MTD 
General Manager. 

3.3 GIFTS AND GRATUITIES 

No employee, officer, or agent of MTD may solicit or accept, either directly or indirectly, any gift, 
gratuity, loan, or other item or service of value if; 

(a) The discharge of his/her official duties would be influenced; 

(b) He/she has been, is presently, or may in the near future be involved in any official 
act or action directly affecting the donor or lender; 

Invitations received from bidders or other parties involved in a pending procurement for business 
lunches, parties, or similar functions shall be declined. This is intended to avoid any situation 
which may give an appearance of improper influence in MTD procurement activities. 

Notwithstanding the above, this section shall not apply to the following: 

(a) An occasional non-pecuniary gift of nominal value accepted in the ordinary course 
of a business meeting; 

(b) Unsolicited advertising or promotional material of nominal intrinsic value; 

(c) A gift, gratuity, favor, loan, or other item of value when circumstances make it clear 
that an obvious long-standing social or family relationship, rather than a business 
relationship, is the motivating factor. 

Failure to adhere to the provisions of this section shall constitute a violation of MTD policy and 
shall subject the violator to disciplinary action as deemed appropriate by the General Manager. 

3.4 CONTACTS WITH VENDORS, BIDDERS, AND PROPOSERS 

Prior to the issuance of a procurement solicitation, informational and research contacts with 
prospective vendors may be made for the purpose of gathering needed data. However, in making 
such contacts MTD employees, officers, and agents shall avoid any commitment, or implication 
thereof, of a possible future contract. 

Accordingly, requests for substantial complimentary services or supplies which may imply an 
obligation on the part of MTD shall be avoided. Also to be avoided are requests for testing services, 
product samples or demonstrations, and free trips to examine vendor products. 

Whenever a procurement is in progress, e.g., during the solicitation, evaluation, negotiation, and 
award phases, all contacts with potential contractors or vendors shall be made through the 
Procurement Officer. 

3.5 RELEASE AND USE OF INFORMATION 

With the exception of formally advertised sealed bid procurements, i.e., Invitation for Bids, all 
cost and pricing information received by MTD in negotiated procurements is to be treated as 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 5 of 50 

confidential. Similar treatment shall be afforded to all technical data received in response to 
Requests for Proposals, with the exception of data contained in any contracts awarded by MTD. 

No employee, officer, or agent of MTD shall use such confidential information for the actual or 
anticipated benefit of themselves, their relatives, or persons with whom they have a common 
financial interest. 

 

4.0 DEFINITIONS 

4.1 GLOSSARY OF PROCUREMENT TERMS 

The following glossary is intended to define the terms used in this Procurement Manual: 

ADDENDA: Written modifications to solicitation documents issued by MTD prior to the official 
opening of bids or proposals. 

APPROVED EQUAL: A substitute offered by a prospective bidder which is approved by 
MTD as equal to or better than a product or process identified in a bid specification. 

BID: A formal offer made by an individual or firm in response to a solicitation issued by MTD 
for procurement of goods or services. 

BID DOCUMENTS AND SPECIFICATIONS: A set of documents issued by MTD which 
describes a specific project, establishes terms, conditions, parameters, and schedules for its 
conduct, and solicits bids for its performance by external parties. 

BID SECURITY: A certified check or bond submitted by a bidder to MTD as a guarantee that 
the bidder will, if awarded the bid: a) enter into a contract with MTD for performance of the work, 
and; b) file all bonds and insurance certificates required in the MTD bid documents. 

BIDDER: Any individual, firm, corporation, partnership, or combination thereof submitting a 
bid for work described in a solicitation document issued by MTD. 

BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER: A method of meeting recurring needs for small quantities of 
supplies or services by establishing “charge accounts” between a vendor and MTD. Blanket 
Purchase Orders are characterized by a specified period of validity, maximum permissible dollar 
amounts, and designation of a specific person or persons at MTD as the authorized Ordering Agent.  
The use of pre-approved vendors is also acceptable with the written authorization of the General 
Manager.  Pre-approved vendors will be limited to a term of 1-year, at which time the department 
originally requesting authorization will be required to seek reauthorization. 

CHANGE ORDER: A written order signed by the MTD Procurement Officer or other duly 
authorized representative and issued to a Contractor which amends an existing contract. 

CONTRACT: A written instrument which establishes a legal relationship obligating the 
seller to furnish goods and/or services, and the buyer to make payment therefore. This includes all 
types of written commitments, e.g., purchase orders, which obligate MTD to an expenditure of 
funds. 

CONTRACT MODIFICATION: Any written alteration in specifications, delivery point, rate 
of delivery, period of performance, price, quantity, or other provisions of any contract 
accomplished by mutual action of the parties thereto. 

CONTRACTOR: Any individual or firm with which MTD establishes a legal relationship by 
means of a contract. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 6 of 50 

COST ANALYSIS: A review and evaluation of Contractor cost data in which individual 
components or cost elements are examined. In this process actual Contractor data in each cost 
element is compared to what such elements should cost under assumed conditions in which the 
contractor performs with reasonable economy and efficiency.  

COST LIMITATION: The total amount paid to the Contractor (generally architectural or 
engineering) for producing and delivering standard services, e.g., designs, plans, and 
specifications. 

INVITATION FOR BIDS (IFB): The complete package of related documents furnished by 
MTD to prospective bidders for the purpose of soliciting bids for work described therein. The IFB, 
used for sealed bid procurements, defines project terms and conditions, describes technical 
material or service requirements, and establishes parameters for the bidding process. 

LIQUIDATED DAMAGES: An amount assessed a Contractor as a result of its failure to 
complete to the work specified in a contract, and/or its failure to complete such work within the 
period of performance stated in the contract. Liquidated damages are assessed when the 
Contractor’s failure to perform causes increased cost to MTD or a grantor agency, with the extent 
of actual damages being difficult or impossible to assess. 

NOTICE TO PROCEED: Written direction issued by MTD to a Contractor to commence 
delivery, installation, services, or other work provided for in a contract. 

OPTION: A unilateral right in a contract by which MTD may, for a specified time, elect to 
purchase additional goods or services identified in the contract, or extend its term. 

PERFORMANCE BOND: A bond filed by a Contractor in favor of MTD which functions to 
secure fulfillment of all of its obligations under a contract.  

PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE: The interval of time specified in the contract documents for 
completion of work. 

PRICE ANALYSIS: A process of examining and evaluating a price submitted by a contractor 
without reviewing in detail the separate cost elements and profit included in such price. This 
analysis is intended to determine the reasonableness of a total price offered. 

PROCUREMENT: The process of buying, purchasing, renting, leasing, or otherwise acquiring 
goods or services. This encompasses all functions pertaining to such acquisition, including 
development and issuance of solicitation documents, selection of sources, preparation and award 
of contract, and all phases of contract administration.  

PROCUREMENT OFFICER: The person designated by the General Manager as the party 
responsible for management of the District’s procurement process. The Procurement Officer is 
authorized to administer contracts and also make written determinations related thereto.  

PROGRESS PAYMENTS: Reimbursement paid to a Contractor for costs incurred at a specified 
stage in the completion of work. 

PURCHASE ORDER: A legal and contractual document used as a written confirmation 
describing all aspects of an agreement made between MTD and the seller. 

PURCHASE REQUISITION: An MTD form used to initiate a procurement action for 
materials, supplies, or services. 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP): All documents issued by MTD for the purpose of 
soliciting proposals from external parties for performance of work described therein. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 7 of 50 

RESPONSIBLE BIDDER/PROPOSER: A bidder or proposer determined by MTD to have the 
financial resources, technical ability, judgment, skill, and integrity to successfully fulfill the 
requirements of a contract. 

RESPONSIVE BID: A bid which conforms to all technical and legal requirements contained in 
the Bid Documents. 

SCOPE OF SERVICES: A description clearly defining the goods or services being procured, 
stated either through performance specifications and standards or a complete depiction of the tasks 
to be performed. 

FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION (FTA): An agency of the U.S. Department of 
Transportation empowered to provide grants to MTD and other agencies for procurement of goods 
and services. Purchases financed in any part with FTA grant monies must comply with all 
applicable procurement requirements promulgated by that agency. 

 

5.0 SBMTD PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION 

5.1 DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY FOR APPROVAL OF PROCUREMENTS 

Consistent with the Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Act of 1965 and, specifically, but 
without limitation, Section 95520 of that Act, the MTD Board of Directors authorizes and 
delegates to the General Manager the authority and responsibility to approve and execute: 

(a) All Purchase Requisitions; 

(b) All Purchase Orders and contracts; 

(c) Routine regular procurements, e.g., fuel and lubricants; 

(d) All contract documents, including amendments and change orders; 

(e) Settlement of claims against MTD in an amount not to exceed $5,000 per claim; 

(f) Settlements in specific matters pursuant to authorization by the MTD Board of 
Directors. 

The MTD General Manager is empowered to delegate any of the authorities described above. 
However, the General Manager shall retain overall responsibility for the control of such matters, 
and may, if necessary, supersede the procurement authority of any MTD employee.  

Exception to this policy is permitted only in the event of an emergency situation (i.e., purchase is 
immediately necessary either to preserve life or property or prevent immediate termination of a 
critical MTD function or activity) wherein the General Manager is not available. In such situations 
purchases may be approved by the Controller or Assistant General Manager. If such approval is 
impossible due to the nature of the emergency, a necessary MTD procurement may be made by a 
department manager. 

Notwithstanding the authority granted to the General Manager herein, the General Manager shall 
obtain approval from the MTD Board of Directors prior to executing any non-emergency 
procurement that exceeds $250,000. 

5.2 PROCUREMENT OFFICER 

Administrative responsibility for all procurements excepting small purchases is delegated to the 
MTD Procurement Officer. The Procurement Officer shall be a member of the MTD management 
staff designated by the General Manager to assume this responsibility. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 8 of 50 

The Procurement Officer maintains responsibility for the following functions: 

(a) Preparation and issuance of all bid and proposal solicitation documents; 

(b) Administration of procurement processes, e.g., conduct of pre-bid conferences, 
bidder/proposer contacts; 

(c) Preparation of bid/proposal evaluations and recommendations concerning contract 
award for consideration by the MTD General Manager; 

(d) Negotiation of contracts following award; 

(e) Contact administration, including amendments, change orders, and closeouts. 

The Procurement Officer shall share certain of the above duties with other MTD management staff 
members as needed. This occurs most commonly in the evaluation of bids and proposals and in 
activities related to contract administration. 

Additional information concerning the duties and organizational relationships of the Procurement 
Officer are contained in Section 7.0. 

5.3 PROCUREMENT DOCUMENTS 

The following types of procurement documents are authorized for use by MTD. The circumstances 
under which they are employed are described herein.  

(a) Purchase Requisition: Requisitions are used to initiate purchases not involving bus 
parts, contract services, or petty cash expenditures. Requisitions must be approved 
prior to the issuance of a Purchase Order; 

(b) Purchase Order: Used for service, equipment or supply purchases normally 
involving a single delivery made within a one year period. Stock inventory items 
comprise the most frequent purchases in this category; 

(c) Blanket Purchase Order: Employed most commonly to cover regular, repetitive 
procurements, including rentals from the same vendor. Blanket Purchase Orders 
are issued for a maximum period of one year; 

(d) Lease: Utilized in situations where economic advantages exist over purchase 
options for equipment or other material. Also employed for real estate when 
determined appropriate by the MTD Board of Directors; 

(e) Contract: Used for professional services and procurements involving large 
expenditures and extensive scope of services. 

 

5.4 GENERAL PROCUREMENT PROCEDURES 

Following is an explanation of the general procedures employed for MTD procurements. 
Information concerning procedures for source selection and conduct of bid or proposal solicitation 
is presented in Section 7.0. 

5.4.1 Requisition and Purchasing Procedures 

Five categories of purchases are made by MTD, as listed below: 

i. Purchase Order Items, including all stock inventory items and all purchases 
not exempted in the list below; 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 9 of 50 

ii. Requisition Items, encompassing: liability claim payments; short term 
contract services; expense reimbursements; fees for dues, conferences, and 
subscriptions; mileage and travel expenses; use of MTD credit cards. 

iii. Non-Requisition Items, including: contract maintenance services for 
facilities and office equipment; emergency services; pre-authorized 
vendors. 

iv. Professional Services, covering minor use of such services, e.g., security 
and audit. 

v. Petty Cash, used for non-recurring minor purchases of office, shop, or 
facility supplies in amounts no greater than one hundred dollars ($100.00). 

Approval procedures for purchases in each category are as follows: 

i. Purchase Order Items:  Any item requiring a Purchase Order (including 
Blanket Purchase Orders) must be requested through use of a Requisition 
or Reorder Report as described in Section 5.4.2  

ii. Requisition Items: All requisitions must be signed by department managers 
and submitted to the Controller, who will process them for approval. Except 
for emergency circumstances as defined in this Manual, no purchases shall 
occur prior to the receipt of an approved requisition. 

iii. Non-Requisition Items: Contract services shall be obtained only from 
vendors authorized by the General Manager, and shall include only those 
items covered in current MTD contracts. Even though pre-approved, 
submission of requisitions accompanied by appropriate invoices is 
necessary. This procedure also applies to emergency services. 

iv. Professional Services: Procurement of professional services shall be 
coordinated through the Procurement Officer, who shall determine the 
appropriate method of procurement. All such services not procured via 
advertised solicitation, e.g., competitive proposal, shall be subject to 
approval through the requisition procedure described above. 

v. Petty Cash: Petty cash should be used only for purchase of non-recurring 
items of minor expense, e.g., special office supplies, and must be supported 
by receipts. Petty cash purchases must receive prior approval from the 
Controller or Assistant General Manager. 

5.4.2 Credit Cards 

In addition to the above, MTD maintains a credit card account.  

(a) Purpose of Credit Card: An MTD credit card may be issued to certain employees 
for the purpose making purchases in which invoicing the MTD is not an option, not 
practical or would result in additional costs.  It is not intended to be the preferred 
payment method, but rather limited to necessity-based situations.  Use of MTD 
credit card is not intended to replace effective procurement planning or circumvent 
the purchasing approvals and requirements.  Foreseen uses for a MTD Credit Card 
include but are not limited to: 

i. Securing travel reservations; 

ii. Paying travel expenses; 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 10 of 50 

iii. Placing phone or internet orders; and 

iv. Conducting MTD business in the most efficient manner. 

 

(b) Acknowledgement and Receipt of Credit Card: All cards will only be issued with 
the written and filled approval of the General Manager.  When an individual MTD 
credit card is issued, the Human Resource Department shall ask the employee to 
sign a copy of this policy acknowledging his/her understanding of the procedures 
for the use of the MTD credit card and acknowledging the receipt of the credit card. 
Administration shall also maintain a credit card in the name of the General Manager 
which is to be used by the entire organization. For identification purposes, this card 
will be defined as the ‘generic’ credit card.  User of the generic card must have a 
signed policy acknowledgement form on file in the Human Resource Department 
prior to checking out a card.  The Chief Financial Officer will arrange for the 
appropriate spending limit for all credit cards. 

(c) Prohibited uses:  The MTD credit card shall not be used for the following: 

i. Any personal items and personal services, even if the intent is to repay the 
MTD at a later date; 

ii. Cash advances, wire transfers, money orders, etc.; 

iii. Betting, casino gaming or related activities; 

iv. Political or religious organizations; 

v. Court costs, fines, bails or bonds; 

vi. Recurring rental or lease payments; 

vii. Purchase of telephone services including cell phone and calling cards, 
except for telephone calls charged to a hotel/motel room while traveling on 
City business; and 

viii. Alcoholic beverages. 

CREDIT CARD USE POLICY 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM 

I have received and read the Credit Card Use Policy and understand and will abide by its 
provisions.  I further understand and accept full financial responsibility for any improper use of 
MTD’s credit card on my part.  I’m aware that when I sign this acknowledgment form it will be 
placed in my personnel file. 

 

            

Card User Name    Date 

 

      

Card User Signature 

 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 11 of 50 

5.4.3 General Purchase Order Procedures 

The following procedures shall govern the processing of MTD Purchase Orders: 

i. No purchase order shall be issued without prior approval of a requisition. 
An exception is made for resupply of maintenance parts carried in perpetual 
inventory. For these purchases, an MTD computer generated Suggested 
Reorder Report (Min/Max List) signed by the Manager of Maintenance 
must be used in place of a requisition. 

ii. Requisitions and Reorder Reports shall be signed by the appropriate 
department manager and submitted to the Controller for processing. 

iii. Purchase order numbers will not be issued in advance of the actual 
document, except in case of emergency. 

iv. Purchase orders will be signed by the Controller and distributed as indicated 
on the original purchase requisition.  

v. Purchases are authorized only for the items listed on the purchase order, and 
only in the amounts and prices shown. When the requested items are 
received it shall be the responsibility of the party originating the purchase 
order to check such items for conformance with the purchase order. 

vi. Except as permitted under (vii), below, invoice discrepancies found by the 
party originating the purchase order shall be noted on a Request for Change 
form which shall be submitted to the Controller for review. Such form shall 
be processed and approved in the same manner as purchase orders. Unless 
such Request for Change form is approved, no invoice will be paid above 
the amount shown on the original purchase order unless permitted under 
(vii), below. 

vii. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary above, any invoice unit price that 
exceeds the approved purchase order unit price by less than 5%, up to a 
maximum of $25, shall not require a Request for Change form as a 
prerequisite to payment of the invoice. 

5.4.4 Emergency and Contract Service Procedures 

In cases where goods or services are procured either due to emergency or for services provided 
under contract, responsibility for conducting the procedures detailed herein shall be assigned to 
the department which administers the subject activity. These responsibilities are listed below: 

 Department   Services 

 Administration  Telephones (Except T.C) 

     Office Equipment 

     Building Alarms 

Finance   Keys & Locks 

 Maintenance   Plumbing (Except T.C.) 

     Electrical & Lighting 

     A/C & Heating 

     Radios (Mobile units) 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 12 of 50 

 Operations   Plumbing (T.C. only) 

     Telephones (T.C. only) 

     Radios (fixed facilities) 

For procurements of this type the originating department shall be responsible for completion and 
submission of a requisition accompanied by all pertinent invoices. 

 

6.0 DEVELOPMENT SOLICITATION DOCUMENT STANDARDS 

6.1 GENERAL POLICIES 

Technical specifications and Scope of Service statements used in MTD bid or proposal solicitation 
documents shall be prepared by the Procurement Officer. Assistance shall be provided as needed 
by the department originating the procurement. Such department shall be responsible for supplying 
the Procurement Officer with technical data, performance criteria, and any other information 
necessary for production of specifications or Scope of Service descriptions. 

Technical specifications and Scope of Service statements shall describe accurately and in clear, 
precise language all technical requirements to be met for satisfactory conduct of the task under 
consideration. Such descriptions shall consist of a statement of the qualitative nature of the 
material, product, or service to be procured along with those minimum characteristics and 
standards to which conformance is necessary for the satisfaction of the intended use. These 
materials shall be prepared in a format which clearly depicts the complete service or item(s) to be 
delivered throughout the entire course of the project. 

The Procurement Officer shall ensure that technical specifications and Scope of Service statements 
are not biased in favor of any particular prospective contractor. Descriptive literature prepared by 
any such contractor shall not be used as the sole basis for specifications or Scope of Service 
descriptions contained in MTD procurement solicitation documents. 

Pursuant to the MTD procurement policies contained herein, specifications and Scope of Services 
shall not contain items which unduly restrict free and open competition. To the maximum extent 
practical, such materials shall be written in a manner which describes the tasks to be conducted 
rather than prescribing precisely the manner in which these will be accomplished. In the case of 
product procurements, technical requirements shall endeavor to specify the minimum performance 
characteristics needed. The intent of this policy is to permit flexibility wherever possible in the 
approach employed by a contractor to perform the work desired by MTD. 

Accordingly, detailed product specifications shall be avoided if at all possible. In order that 
competition is not restricted, MTD shall include a “brand name or equal” reference only when it 
is impractical or uneconomical to fashion a clear and accurate description of its technical 
requirements.  

In cases where “brand name or equal” specification must be used MTD shall describe its minimum 
needs and clearly identify salient physical and functional characteristics of the brand name product 
requested. Additionally, a statement shall be included indicating that the specification is not 
intended to be restrictive. 

MTD solicitation documents shall include a clear description of all items which bidders or 
proposers must submit. Such documents also shall identify all requirements applicable to the 
procurement, whether imposed by MTD, grantor agencies, or by local, state, or federal statutes.  



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 13 of 50 

6.2 EQUIPMENT AND MATERIAL PURCHASES 

Development of technical specifications for equipment and material procurements shall be the 
responsibility of the Procurement Officer. Consultant assistance may be enlisted for procurements 
of a highly technical nature. 

All technical specification narratives shall include a statement of the qualitative nature of the 
equipment or material to be procured, including form and function. Such statement shall clearly 
establish the minimum essential characteristics and standards required to accomplish its intended 
use. Also included shall be explicit references to all reliability and testing requirements, as well as 
any other procedures necessary to guarantee performance. 

Prior to the development of technical specifications MTD may conduct a market survey to identify 
sources offering products suitable for the District’s needs. However, in the course of its conduct 
MTD employees shall: 1) refrain from making any commitment for a future contract, and; 2) 
neither solicit nor accept any form or assistance from a potential contractor which would give such 
an unfair advantage in a competitive bidding process. 

6.3 PROFESSIONAL AND CONSULTANT SERVICES 

Procurement of professional and consultant services exceeding $250,000 is accomplished through 
a published Request for Proposals (RFP). The RFP shall contain a complete description of required 
tasks and identify all requirements which proposers must fulfill. In addition, the RFP shall identify 
all evaluation criteria to be employed by MTD as well as their relative importance.  

RFP documents issued by MTD shall contain the following components: 

(a) A broad description of the services needed and the objectives underlying the 
procurement; 

(b) Identification of all Contractor responsibilities, including items which must be 
supplied by the Contractor; 

(c) Identification of all MTD responsibilities including items, property, data, and 
services to be supplied by the District; 

(d) Description of all standards, regulations, and laws with which the Contractor must 
conform; 

(e) Specific description of all tasks to be performed by the Contractor; 

(f) Identification of schedules and deadlines which must be met by the Contractor. 

6.4 FTA CLAUSES 

It is the policy of MTD that procurements financed in any part with FTA funds shall conform in 
all respects to the procurement regulations promulgated by that agency. Thus, any MTD bid or 
proposal document issued for an FTA funded procurement shall identify all pertinent regulations 
applicable to the Contractor. This includes, but is not limited to, items such as Disadvantaged 
Business Enterprise programs, Buy America requirements, and non-discrimination provisions. 

 

7.0 METHODS OF SOURCE SELECTION 

7.1 GENERAL POLICY 

As stated previously, open and fair competition is a basic tenet of MTD procurement policy. In the 
exercise of this policy it is recognized that the District purchases many types of goods and services. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 14 of 50 

Since the marketplace differs for these various items, it is necessary to employ a variety of source 
selection techniques in order to ensure the best competition for each procurement. 

Accordingly, MTD recognizes and authorizes three basic methods for the conduct of District 
procurement: 1) sealed bid; 2) competitive proposal, and; 3) small purchase procedures. In 
addition, MTD also authorizes the use of sole source and emergency procurements as exceptions 
to the basic methods only if necessary under conditions existing at the time. 

The material presented in this section establishes the conditions under which each type of 
procurement may be used. Administrative procedures applicable to each procurement also are 
detailed. 

7.2 SEALED BID PROCUREMENTS 

7.2.1 Conditions for Use 

It is the policy of MTD that, unless excepted by circumstances described herein, sealed bidding 
shall be performed for purchases of $25,000 or more and will be formally advertised and subject 
to the provisions below. 

The formally advertised sealed bid procurement shall be conducted when: 

(a) A complete, adequate and realistic specification or purchase description is 
available; 

(b) Two or more responsible bidders are willing and able to compete effectively for the 
business; 

(c) The procurement lends itself to a firm fixed price contract and the selection of the 
successful bidder can be made principally on the basis of price; 

(d) Sufficient time is available to accommodate formal advertising. 

7.2.2 Advertising 

In cases where sealed bid procurements are formally advertised, such advertising shall be 
published in a newspaper of general circulation in the Santa Barbara area. Additional sources may 
be employed as appropriate, including trade publications, journals and newsletter. 

The advertisement shall contain a concise description of the procurement to be conducted along 
with information indicating the method by which interested parties may obtain appropriate 
solicitation documents. Additional items contained in the formal advertisement include date, time 
and location for submission of bids. 

As a supplement to advertising the availability of an Invitation for Bids (IFB) copies of the bid 
documents will be mailed directly to prospective bidders. The number of such mailings will vary 
by procurement, but will be sufficient to assure adequate competition. 

7.2.3 Bidding Schedules 

Consistent with the need for obtaining goods or services, all IFB’s shall be issued in a fashion 
which allows sufficient time to permit prospective bidders to prepare and submit bids. It is the 
general policy of MTD that bidding time (i.e., the period between the date of IFB issuance and the 
deadline for receipt of bids) shall be no less than: 

(a) Twenty (20) calendar days for procurement of standard and readily available 
commercial goods or services, and; 

(b) Thirty (30) calendar days for procurements of non-standard goods or services. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 15 of 50 

This policy may be varied in special circumstances as determined by the Procurement Officer or 
General Manager. Exceptions also are permitted where the urgent nature of a need for goods or 
services does not permit such delay. 

7.2.4 Issuance, Amendment and Cancellation of IFB 

All documents associated with an IFB for an MTD procurement shall be issued by the Procurement 
Officer. IFB distribution may be accomplished through direct mailing to prospective bidders at the 
time of formal advertisement or at a subsequent time in response to a direct request. All such 
requests shall be honored promptly. 

Upon occasion it is necessary to make changes to an IFB document between the dates of issuance 
and public opening. For this purpose changes shall include, but not be limited to, modifications to 
specifications, quantities, delivery schedules, or Contractor requirements. In such cases changes 
to the IFB shall be accomplished through the issuance of an addendum to the IFB. This addendum 
shall be sent to each party known to have received a copy of the original IFB. 

It is the general policy of MTD that any information released to a prospective bidder concerning 
an IFB shall be furnished promptly to all other bidders as an addendum. This shall be applied in 
all cases wherein: 1) such information is necessary for submission of bids, or; 2) the lack of same 
would be prejudicial to uninformed bidders. 

IFB addenda shall be issued in sufficient time to permit all prospective bidders to consider such 
information in submitting or modifying their bids. 

At any time prior to the award of a bid MTD may cancel an IFB. Such action shall be taken only 
when it is in the best interest of the District to do so pursuant to a written determination by the 
MTD General Manager. In this event the Procurement Officer shall notify all bidders or IFB 
recipients in writing of the cancellation, and shall return all bid securities as applicable. 

7.2.5 Modification of Bids 

Prior to the time of public opening bids may be modified or withdrawn upon receipt of a written 
request from the bidder or duly authorized representative. All bid modifications must be made in 
writing and sealed in an opaque envelope marked as directed in the IFB. 

A bid may be withdrawn by a bidder or authorized representative upon receipt of a written request. 
In such cases MTD shall return the bid unopened to the bidder. Timely withdrawal of a bid shall 
in no way prevent the bidder from submitting another bid, or prejudice evaluation of same after 
bid opening. 

No modifications to or withdrawal of bids shall be permitted after the time of public opening. 

7.2.6 Bid Opening 

Bids shall be opened publicly in the presence of one or more witnesses at the time and place 
designated in the IFB. The amount of each bid, together with the name of the bidder, shall be read 
aloud and recorded by the Procurement Officer. Such information shall then be a matter of public 
record and made available to those requesting it. 

7.2.7 Bid Corrections and Clarifications 

Except as provided herein, no changes to prices or other bid provisions prejudicial to the interest 
of MTD or fair competition shall be permitted after such bids have been publicly opened. 

FTA regulations and MTD policy prohibit any clarification of ambiguous bids after a public 
opening. Thus, in cases where bids are unclear in an FTA funded procurement, MTD shall not 
solicit clarifications of same from bidders or their authorized representatives. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 16 of 50 

This policy notwithstanding, MTD may permit a bidder to correct a bid after public opening under 
specific circumstances. These are as follows: 

(a) A bidder shall not be permitted to correct a bid mistake after public opening 
which would cause such bidder to have the lowest bid, unless the mistake 
is clearly evident from examining the bid document, e.g., errors in addition 
or extensions of unit prices; 

(b) An otherwise low bidder shall be permitted to correct a mistake of fact in 
its bid, including price, when the intended bid is obvious from the bid 
document or is otherwise supported by proof which has evidentiary value. 
A low bidder shall not be permitted to correct a bid for mistakes or errors in 
judgement; 

(c) A low bidder shall be permitted to furnish information called for in the IFB 
and not supplied due to oversight, provided that it does not, in the judgement 
of the Procurement Officer, affect the responsiveness of said bid. 

All decisions to permit the correction of bids, or to cancel awards or contracts based upon bid 
mistakes, shall be supported by a written determination by the Procurement Officer that such action 
was in the best interest of MTD and not prejudicial to the interest of fair competition. 

7.2.8 Bid Evaluation 

Following the public opening of bids the Procurement Officer shall conduct an evaluation of all 
bids received in timely fashion. Bids received after the time and date of public opening as stated 
in the IFB shall be returned to the bidder unopened and receive no further consideration. 

In the evaluation of bids the Procurement Officer shall make a determination concerning the 
responsiveness and responsibility of bidders. The responsiveness of a bid is determined by its 
conformance to the technical and legal requirements of MTD’s bid documents. In general, a bid is 
determined to be non-responsive and not considered for award when it contains a deficiency as to 
any material factor. This is defined as a circumstance which affects price, quality, or quantity of 
the goods or services being furnished. 

The determination of a bidder’s responsibility shall be made pursuant to the following criteria: 

(a) Financial resources, evaluated from Dun & Bradstreet Reports and other 
sources; 

(b) Skill, judgment, and integrity; 

(c) Technical ability to perform the required work; 

(d) Previous performance under contracts for similar work. 

The results of this evaluation shall be documented by the Procurement Officer and employed in 
the justification of contract awards.  

In addition to considerations of responsiveness and responsibility a technical evaluation shall be 
prepared for each procurement. This process consists of an assessment of whether the apparent 
low bidder is technically responsive. The technical evaluation shall make such determination in 
relation to the specifications in the IFB. 

7.2.9 Bid Rejection 

MTD reserves the right to reject any and all bids received, or to waive any informality or non-
substantive defects therein, if it is in the best interest of the District to do so. Criteria established 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 17 of 50 

by MTD for rejection of bids are presented below. However, such criteria are not to be considered 
all-inclusive; bids may be rejected due to other special circumstances as determined by the 
Procurement Officer. 

(a) Any bid which fails to conform to the essential requirements of the IFB, 
e.g., specifications or delivery schedule, shall be rejected as non-responsive. 
The Procurement Officer shall be responsible for making determinations 
concerning non-responsiveness; 

(b) Any bid may be rejected if the Procurement Officer makes a written 
determination that the price offered therein is unreasonable. This 
determination must be supported by a price or cost analysis; 

(c) Any bid which fails to include a bid security as specified in the IFB shall be 
rejected; 

(d) Any bid which imposes conditions modifying the requirements of the IFB, 
or limiting liability to MTD in such a manner that an advantage over other 
bidders is created, may be rejected. 

However, a low bidder may be requested to delete objectionable conditions 
from its bid if the conditions affect the form and not the substance of the 
bid. For this purpose “substance” shall mean provisions affecting price, 
quantity, quality, or delivery of the items offered. 

7.2.10 Award of Bid 

Unless all bids are rejected, award shall be made by MTD via written notice to the lowest 
responsive and responsible bidder whose bid meets the requirements and criteria set forth in the 
IFB. Such award shall be made within the time specified in the IFB; the normal period observed 
is thirty (30) days following public bid opening. 

Notwithstanding the above, special circumstances may occur under which it is in the best interest 
of MTD to make award to other than the apparent lowest responsive and responsible bidder. In 
this case the Procurement Officer shall prepare an analysis justifying such action, which shall 
become a part of the procurement records. For FTA funded procurements award shall be made 
pursuant to the provisions of Section 7.7 herein. 

In the event that only one bid is received in response to an IFB, a price or cost analysis must be 
prepared by the Procurement Officer. If the results of the analysis demonstrate the price offered in 
the single bid to be reasonable MTD shall, subject to applicable provisions of Section 7.7, make 
award to the sole bidder. Should the price offered be deemed unreasonable, MTD shall reject the 
bid and notify the bidder in writing of the decision. 

At the time of award the Procurement Officer shall notify all unsuccessful bidders in writing of 
such decision. 

7.2.11 Procurement Records 

The Procurement Officer shall be responsible for maintaining complete and accurate records 
concerning the significant history of a sealed bid procurement. Such records shall include, but not 
be limited to, the following: 

(a) Pre-Contract Documents 

• Purchase Requisition 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 18 of 50 

• Rationale for Method of Procurement 

• IFB Bid Documents 

• Proof of Publication 

• List of Pre-Bid Conference Attendees 

• Summary of Pre-Bid Conference 

• Requests for Approved Equals and Responses Thereto (If Applicable) 

• List of Bid Document Recipients 

• List of Bidders and Bid Prices 

• Justification Statement for Use of Brand Names in Specifications (If applicable) 

• General Pre-Contract Correspondence 

• Determination of Bid Responsiveness and Bidder Responsibility 

• Technical Bid Evaluations 

• Notice of Award 

• Notice to Unsuccessful Bidders 

• Protests Prior to Award (If applicable) 

• Protests After Award (If applicable) 

• Documentation and Resolution of Bid Mistakes and Irregularities (If 
applicable) 

(b) Contract Administration Documents 

• Executed Contract 

• Contract Amendments, Change Orders, and Supporting Correspondence (If 
applicable) 

• Bid Securities 

• Certificates of Insurance 

• Termination Notices and Supporting Justification (If applicable) 

• Liquidated Damages Data and Supporting Correspondence (If applicable) 

• General Contract Administration Correspondence 

• Contract Closeout Documentation 

7.2.12 MTD Organizational Procedures and Responsibilities 

Responsibility for the conduct and administration of sealed bid procurements shall be assigned as 
follows: 

Responsible Party    Tasks 

Originating Department  1. Submits Purchase Requisition  



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 19 of 50 

2. Supplies technical and other data to Procurement 
Officer for use in bid documents 

  3. Participants in Pre-Bid Conference 

4. Assists Procurement Officer in technical bid 
evaluation and requests for approved equals as 
needed 

5. Assists Procurement Officer in contract 
administration as needed 

 

Finance Department  

1. Receives Purchase Requisition from originating 
department, reviews for budgetary consistency and 
forwards to General Manager for approval 

2. Processes and verified Purchase Orders and all 
vendor invoices 

Procurement Officer    

1. Prepares all bid documents and administers 
distribution 

2. Prepares notice for publication 

3. Conducts Pre-Bid Conference 

4. Conducts all pre-award communications with 
prospective bidders 

5. Responds to requests for approved equals and 
clarification of bid documents 

6. Prepares and issues IFB addenda as needed 

7. Conducts public bid opening 

8. Evaluates bids and bidders for responsiveness and 
responsibility 

9. Prepares recommendation to General Manager for 
bid award 

10. Issues notice of award to bidders and returns bid 
securities as needed 

11. Prepares contract documents 

12. Administers bid protests pursuant to MTD policy (if 
applicable) 

13. Administers contract 

General Manager 

     1. Approves Purchase Requisition 

     2. Approves bid award  



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 20 of 50 

     3. Executes contract 

4. Provides recommendation to Board of Directors 
concerning bid protests (if applicable) 

Board of Directors 

1. Considers and rules upon bid protests (if applicable) 

2. Approves non-budget capital purchases 

7.3 COMPETITIVE PROPOSAL PROCUREMENTS 

7.3.1 Conditions for Use 

Whenever the Procurement Officer determines in writing that the use of competitive sealed bidding 
is either not practical or not advantageous to MTD, a procurement of $250,000 or more shall be 
conducted through a formal solicitation of competitive proposals. In making such determination 
the Procurement Officer shall consider the following: 

(a) Whether quality, availability, or capability is overriding in relation to price for the 
type of good or service needed; 

(b) Whether the marketplace will respond more satisfactorily to a solicitation 
permitting not only a range of alternative proposals but discussion and evaluation 
of them before making award. 

If the Procurement Officer makes an affirmative determination on any of the above items 
conditions are appropriate for use of a competitive proposal procurement. 

Pursuant to FTA regulations and MTD policy competitive proposals shall be solicited for 
qualifications based procurements of architectural and engineering services. This shall also include 
related services such as construction or program management, feasibility studies, preliminary 
engineering design, surveying, mapping, and associated functions. 

Procurement of other professional and personal services, e.g., legal counsel shall be accomplished 
by competitive proposal. Finally, this method of procurement shall be employed whenever it is not 
possible to fully detail the scope or quantity of services to be obtained. 

7.3.2 Contents of the Request for Proposals 

All RFP solicitations prepared by MTD shall be based upon a clear and complete description of 
the requirements for the material or service to be obtained. These requirements shall contain no 
features which unduly restrict competition. 

The RFP shall clearly identify the method by which proposals will be evaluated and award made. 
This includes a complete list of all evaluation criteria and their relative importance in the 
evaluation process. The disclosure of relative importance need not be made by publication of 
explicit numerical weighting for evaluative criteria; a simple ranking shall be considered sufficient. 

7.3.3 Advertising 

Competitive proposal procurement estimated by the Procurement Officer to exceed $250,000 shall 
be advertised through a Public Notice of Requests for Proposals. Such Notice shall be published 
in a newspaper of general circulation in the Santa Barbara area. Additional sources may be 
employed as appropriate, including trade journals. 

Notices for RFP’s shall contain a brief description of the service to be obtained as well as 
information concerning the method by which interested parties may obtain the solicitation 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 21 of 50 

documents. Also included shall be details of the date, time, and location for submission of 
proposals. 

Copies of the RFP documents shall be sent to prospective proposers by the Procurement Officer 
at the time of Public Notice publication. RFP materials shall also be provided promptly to all 
parties requesting them. 

7.3.4 Issuance, Amendment, and Cancellation of RFPs 

Proposals shall be solicited from an adequate number of potentially qualified firms or individuals 
to assure effective competition. Whenever possible, no fewer than three potential proposers shall 
be solicited. 

MTD may elect to make changes to an RFP between the date of issuance and deadline for receipt. 
In this event such changes shall be accomplished through a written amendment to the RFP. This 
amendment shall be sent to each party known to have received a copy of the original RFP. 

It is the general policy of MTD that any information released to a prospective proposer concerning 
an RFP or amendment thereto shall be furnished promptly to all other RFP recipients. This policy 
shall be employed in all cases wherein: 1) such information is necessary for submission of 
proposals, or; 2) the lack of same would be prejudicial to uninformed proposers. 

Amendments to RFP documents shall be issued in sufficient time to permit all prospective 
proposers to consider the information in preparing their proposals. 

At any time prior to execution of a contract MTD may cancel a competitive proposal solicitation. 
Such action shall be taken pursuant to a written determination by the MTD General Manager that 
it is in the best interests of the District to do so. In the event that an RFP is cancelled the 
Procurement Officer notifies all proposers or RFP recipients in writing. 

7.3.5 Modification and Withdrawal of Proposals 

At any time prior to the deadline established for their receipt, a proposer may, by written request, 
modify or withdraw a proposal. All RFP modifications must be made in writing and submitted as 
directed in the solicitation documents. 

Timely withdrawal of a proposal shall in no way prevent the affected party from submitting another 
proposal, or prejudice evaluation of same after the date of opening. 

7.3.6 Receipt of Proposals 

Proposals may be opened at any time after their receipt, providing that such receipt occurred prior 
to the deadline established in the RFP. Proposals received after the deadline may be rejected and 
returned unopened to the sender. 

Any response to the RFP shall be honored to the maximum extent practical. No proposals shall be 
rejected on the basis of non-responsiveness to the provisions of the RFP. However, this shall not 
absolve proposers of responsibility for fulfilling all requirements of the RFP. 

It is the policy of MTD that information contained in proposals shall be treated as confidential. 
Such information shall not be disclosed to external parties; special care shall be taken to ensure 
that no disclosures are made to competing proposers. 

7.3.7 Evaluation of Proposals 

All proposals received shall be evaluated and ranked solely on the basis of the criteria contained 
in the RFP; MTD policy prohibits the use of any evaluative standard or guideline not so published. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 22 of 50 

In the application of evaluative criteria MTD shall observe their relative importance as indicated 
in the RFP. 

Procedures for evaluation of competitive proposals are uniform for all procurements with the 
exception of architectural and engineering (A&E) services. 

Non-A&E Procurements 

For all procurements not involving A&E services, price is included among the criteria established 
for proposal evaluation. In these cases MTD ratings of all criteria (price included) are tallied for 
each proposer pursuant to their relative weights. The composite scores of all proposers are 
subsequently ranked in descending order. 

If so stated in the RFP, MTD may then select the proposer receiving the highest score for award 
on the basis of its original proposal and price. However, the RFP may provide for an alternate 
evaluative process. This would entail the selection of a group of one or more proposers as being 
in the competitive range, i.e., those proposers determined to have a reasonable chance of being 
selected for award based upon price and other factors stated in the RFP. MTD would then enter 
into negotiations (as later described) with each proposer in the range as the final phase of proposal 
evaluation. 

A&E Procurements 

For procurements of A&E services FTA and MTD policy prohibit the use of price as an evaluation 
factor. In these cases the qualifications of each proposer are evaluated as described herein. The 
proposer determined to be most qualified is selected for award subject to negotiation of fair and 
reasonable compensation. Negotiations are conducted only with the most qualified proposer. 

In the event that compensation cannot be agreed upon with the most qualified proposer MTD will 
formally terminate negotiations. Negotiations will be initiated with the proposer determined by 
MTD to be the next most qualified, with award made if the amount of compensation is determined 
by the General Manager to be fair and reasonable. 

Evaluation of Proposer Qualifications 

All competitive proposal procurements, whether for A&E service or otherwise, involve an 
evaluation of the qualifications of each proposer. This process begins with a review of technical 
expertise and experience of proposers in order to assess their capability to perform the services 
under consideration. This qualification assessment shall be performed by an Evaluation Committee 
comprised of MTD management personnel appointed by the Procurement Officer. 

The proposer shall be evaluated on its understanding of and capacity to perform the work described 
in the RFP. The Evaluation Committee shall consider both organization and experience with 
attention to factors such as: 

  (a) Experience and organizational characteristics of the firm; 

(b) Experience and commitment of key personnel assigned to the project; 

  (c) Experience with public agencies and transit operators; 

  (d) Record of performance in previous work; 

  (e) Innovative management techniques 

These factors are evaluated along with others stated in the RFP. The product of this process is a 
composite evaluation score for each proposer, derived from a weighted tally of scores on each 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 23 of 50 

criterion. Such scores represent a numerical ranking of proposer qualifications, and are employed 
as described above to determine the candidate(s) for award. 

7.3.8 Negotiation with Proposers 

MTD standards concerning the proper use of negotiations are described above. In no case shall 
negotiations be conducted other than as defined herein. 

Proposers shall be accorded fair and equitable treatment with respect to any opportunity for 
negotiations, and there shall be no disclosure of any information derived from proposals submitted 
by competing proposers. Employees, officers, and agents of MTD shall ensure that negotiations 
are conducted in accordance with ethical business standards. 

The following policies have been established by MTD for proposer negotiations: 

(a) All proposers selected to participate in negotiations shall be permitted a 
reasonable opportunity to clarify or revise their proposals. This may include 
correction of deficiencies, revisions resulting from negotiations, or 
submission of price, cost, or other data. For this purpose a deficiency is 
defined as that portion of a proposal which would not satisfy MTD 
requirements as stated in the RFP; 

(b) Negotiations shall not disclose the strengths or weakness of competing 
proposals or information obtained therefrom; 

(c) Auction techniques shall not be employed at any time in the conduct of 
negotiations. This technique includes such actions as indicating to a 
proposer a price which must be met to qualify for further consideration, or 
informing a proposer of the standing of his price relative to competitors. 
However, it shall be permissible to inform a proposer that his price is 
considered too high by MTD; 

(d) A cutoff date shall be established for submission in writing of final offers. 
All proposers involved in negotiations shall be so notified in writing. Such 
notification shall state that: I) negotiations have been concluded; ii) 
proposers are being given an opportunity for submission of “best and final” 
offer, and; iii) material must be received by the time and date specified. 

7.3.9 Award of Proposal 

In all competitive procurement MTD shall make award to the responsible proposer whose proposal 
is determined to be most advantageous to MTD, taking into consideration price (excepting A&E 
services as provided above) and other factors set forth in the RFP. Unsuccessful proposers shall 
be promptly notified in writing. 

In making the award MTD shall document in writing the method by which pertinent evaluative 
criteria were applied in ascertaining that the selected proposal is most advantageous to the District. 
Such documentation shall be made a permanent part of the procurement records described below. 

7.3.10 Procurement Records 

The Procurement Officer shall be responsible for maintaining complete and accurate records 
concerning the significant history of competitive proposal procurements. Such records shall 
include, but not be limited to, the following: 

 (a) Pre-Contract Documents 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 24 of 50 

• Purchase Requisition 

• Rationale for Method of Procurement 

• RFP Documents, Including Amendments 

• Proof of Publication 

• RFP Correspondence 

- Initial mailing list 

- Letter requests for RFP 

- General correspondence 

• All Proposals Received 

• Proposal Evaluation Documentation 

• Negotiation Documentation 

- Cost and price analyses 

- Summary of negotiation sessions 

- General correspondence 

• Notice of Award 

• Notice to Unsuccessful Proposers 

• Protests After Award (If applicable) 

(b) Contract Administration Documents 

• Executed Contract 

• Contract Amendments, Change Orders, and Supporting Correspondence (If 
applicable) 

• Proposal Securities 

• Certificates of Insurance 

• Termination Notices and Supporting Justification (If applicable) 

• Liquidated Damages Data and Supporting Correspondence (If applicable) 

• General Contract Administration Correspondence 

• Contract Closeout Documentation 

7.3.11 MTD Organizational Procedures and Responsibilities 

Responsibility for administration of competitive proposal procurements shall be assigned as 
follows: 

Responsible Party   Tasks 

Originating Department  1. Submits Purchase Requisition 

2. Supplies technical and other data to Procurement 
Officer for use in RFP documents 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 25 of 50 

3. Serves on Evaluation Committee as assigned by 
Procurement Officer 

4. Assists Procurement Officer in contract 
administration as needed 

Finance Department 

1. Receives Purchase Requisition from originating 
department, reviews for budgetary consistency and 
forwards to General Manager for approval 

2. Processes and verifies Purchase Orders and all 
vendor invoices 

Procurement Officer    

1. Prepares all RFP documents and administers 
distribution  

2. Prepares notice for publication 

3. Conducts all pre-award communications with 
prospective proposers 

4. Conducts proposer briefing concerning RFP 

5. Prepares and issues RFP amendments as needed 

     6. Receives and records all proposals 

     7. Evaluates proposers for responsibility 

8. Assigns members of Evaluation Committee and 
prepares forms and other materials for use in 
proposal evaluations 

9. Participates in Evaluation Committee functions 

10. Determines competitive range of proposers for 
participation in negotiations 

11. Conducts negotiations and administers negotiation 
process 

12. Prepares recommendation to General Manager for 
contract award 

13. Issues notice of award to proposers and returns 
securities to same as appropriate 

14. Prepares contract documents 

15. Administers procurement protests and pursuant to 
MTD policy (if applicable) 

16. Administers contract 

General Manager 

     1. Approves Purchase Requisition 

     2. Approves contract award 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 26 of 50 

     3. Executes contract 

4. Provides recommendation to Board of Directors 
concerning resolution of protests (if applicable) 

Board of Directors 

1. Considers and rules upon procurement protests (if 
applicable) 

     2. Approves non-budget capital purchases 

7.4 NON-COMPETITIVE NEGOTIATION (SOLE SOURCE) PROCUREMENTS 

7.4.1 Conditions for Use 

A non-competitive negotiation procurement is characterized by: 1) a process wherein a proposal 
is solicited or accepted from only one source, or; 2) after solicitation of a number of sources 
competition is determined to be inadequate. Pursuant to FTA regulations such procurements also 
include contract amendments and change orders which are outside the scope of the original 
contract. 

Procurement by non-competitive negotiation may be employed only when: 1) the award of a 
contract is infeasible under procedures applicable to small purchases (described in Section 7.5), 
sealed bids, or competitive proposals, and; 2) at least one of the following circumstances applies: 

 (a) The item to be procured is available only from a single source; 

(b) MTD has an urgent need for the item which will not permit a delay resulting from 
competitive solicitation; 

(c) In the case of FTA funded procurements, approval has been solicited and received 
from that agency; 

(d) After solicitation of a number of sources the Procurement Officer makes a written 
determination that competition is inadequate; 

(e) The object in question is part of an FTA funded procurement, qualifies as an 
associated capital maintenance item as defined by FTA, and is procured directly 
from the supplier of the item to be replaced. In this case MTD must certify to FTA 
that such supplier is the only source for the item and that its price is no higher than 
that paid by like customers. 

No procurement shall be made by non-competitive negotiation unless the Procurement Officer 
makes a written determination of the necessity therefore. Such determination shall be based only 
upon the criteria stated herein. 

7.4.2 Cost Analyses 

Pursuant to the criteria above, whenever MTD determines that a non-competitive procurement 
must be conducted for an FTA funded purchase, a cost analysis shall be performed of the fees 
proposed by a prospective contractor. Cost analyses also shall be performed for all contract 
modifications and change orders occurring in FTA funded procurements. 

An exception to this requirement is permitted if price reasonableness can be established on the 
basis of: 

(a) A catalog or market price of a commercial product sold in substantial quantities to 
the general public, or; 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 27 of 50 

 (b) Prices established by law or regulation. 

In these cases a cost analysis need not be performed. The Procurement Officer shall make a written 
determination of the basis upon which cost analysis was waived. 

7.4.3 Contract Price 

In non-competitive FTA funded procurements MTD shall negotiate profit as a separate element of 
the contract price. In determining a fair and reasonable profit, the Procurement Officer shall give 
consideration to the following: 

 (a) Characteristics and complexities of the work to be performed; 

 (b) Risks borne and investments made by the Contractor; 

 (c) Extent of subcontracting activity; 

 (d) Past performance of the Contractor; 

 (e) General industry profit rates for similar work. 

In no case shall contract pricing be based upon either a “cost plus a percentage of cost” or 
“percentage of construction cost”. Such “cost plus” contracting is prohibited by MTD policy. 

7.4.4 Award of Contract 

For non-competitive procurements not involving FTA funds, MTD shall make award of a contract 
only following a determination by the Procurement Officer that the proposed determination by the 
Procurement Officer that the proposed price is reasonable. Such determination, along with 
supporting cost analyses, shall be submitted to the General Manager, who shall approve and 
execute the contract. 

For FTA funded non-competitive procurements MTD shall not award a contract until FTA 
approval has been received. Procedures governing this process are described in Section 7.7. 

7.4.5 Procurement Records 

The Procurement Officer shall be responsible for maintaining complete and accurate records 
concerning the significant history of non-competitive negotiation procurements. Such records shall 
include, but not be limited to, the following: 

 (a) Pre-Contract Documents 

• Purchase Requisition 

• RFP Documents, (If applicable) 

• Proof of Publication (If applicable) 

• RFP Correspondence (If applicable) 

- Initial mailing list 

- Letter requests for RFP 

- General correspondence 

• All proposals Received (If applicable) 

• Proposal Evaluation Documentation (If applicable) 

• Rationale and Justification for Non-Competitive Procurement 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 28 of 50 

• Negotiation Documentation 

- Cost and price analyses 

- Profit analyses 

-Summary of negotiation sessions 

- General correspondence 

• Notice of Award 

• Documentation and Analyses for FTA Review of Procurement (If 
applicable) 

• FTA Approval Letter for Procurement (If applicable) 

• Protests Prior to Award 

• Protests After Award 

(b) Contract Administration Documents 

• Executed Contract 

• Contract Amendments, Change Orders, and Supporting Correspondence (If 
applicable) 

• Contractor Securities 

• Certificates of Insurance 

• Termination Notices and Supporting Justification (If applicable) 

• Liquidated Damages Data and Supporting Correspondence (If applicable) 

• General Contract Administration Correspondence 

• Contract Closeout Documentation 

7.4.6 MTD Organizational Procedures and Responsibilities 

Responsibility for administration of non-competitive proposal procurements shall be assigned as 
follows: 

Responsible Party   Tasks 

Originating Department  1. Submits Purchase Requisition 

2. Supplies technical and other data to Procurement 
Officer for use in RFP documents (if applicable) 

3. Serves on Evaluation Committee as assigned by 
Procurement Officer (if applicable) 

4. Assists Procurement Officer in conduct of cost 
analysis (if applicable) 

5. Assists Procurement Officer in contract 
administration as needed 

Finance Department  



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 29 of 50 

1. Receives Purchase Requisition from originating 
department, reviews for budgetary consistency and 
forwards to General Manager for approval 

2. Assists Procurement Officer in conduct of cost 
analysis (if applicable) 

3. Processes and verifies Purchase Orders and all 
vendor invoices 

Procurement Officer 

1. Prepares justification analysis for non-competitive 
negotiation procurement 

2. Prepares materials for FTA review of procurement 
(if applicable) 

3. Prepares all RFP documents and administers 
distribution (if applicable) 

4. Prepares notice for publication (if applicable) 

5. Conducts all pre-award communications with 
prospective proposers 

6. Conducts proposer briefing concerning RFP (if 
applicable) 

7. Prepares and issues RFP amendments as needed (if 
applicable) 

8. Receives and records all proposals (if applicable) 

9. Evaluates proposers for responsibility 

10. Assigns members of Evaluation Committee and 
prepares forms and other materials for use in 
proposal evaluations (if applicable) 

11. Participates in Evaluation Committee functions (if 
applicable) 

12. Determines competitive range of proposers for 
participation in negotiations (if applicable) 

13. Conducts negotiations and administers negotiation 
process 

14. Performs cost analysis for proposed contract price (if 
applicable) 

15. Performs profit analysis for contract (if applicable) 

16. Prepares recommendation to General Manager for 
contract award 

17. Issues notice of award to proposers and returns 
securities to same as appropriate 

18. Prepares contract documents 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 30 of 50 

19. Administers procurement protests and pursuant to 
MTD policy (if applicable) 

20. Administers contract 

General Manager    

     1. Approves Purchase Requisition 

     2. Approves contract award 

     3. Executes contract 

4. Provides recommendation to Board of Directors 
concerning resolution of protests (if applicable) 

Board of Directors 

1. Considers and rules upon procurement protests (if 
applicable) 

2. Approves non-budget capital purchases 

7.5 SMALL PURCHASE PROCUREMENTS 

7.5.1 Conditions for Use 

Small purchase procedures as described herein represent simple and less formal methods which 
may be used to procure services less than $250,000; and equipment, materials, and supplies which 
cost less than $25,000 in the aggregate. Such procedures are used for purchases which do not 
justify the administrative time and expense necessary for conduct of the formal sealed bidding and 
competitive procurement processes. Appropriate procedures or actions to ensure competition, 
satisfactory vendor qualifications, applicable product or service requirements, and reasonableness 
of price shall continue to be followed for small purchases. Necessary procedures and processes 
will depend upon the nature, scale, and anticipated cost of the contract. If unclear, the Procurement 
Officer will determine the solicitation process. 

MTD policy prohibits the use of small purchase procedures for the purpose of avoiding other forms 
of procurement, e.g., sealed bids. This includes the dividing of procurements into individual minor 
purchases, and other actions taken to circumvent proper source selection methods as described 
herein. 

7.5.2 Micro-Purchases 

Purchases not exceeding $10,000 in the aggregate may be accomplished without obtaining 
competitive quotations if the price can be determined to be reasonable. Such determination shall 
be made through comparison of the proposed price with the following: 

 (a) Current price lists; 

 (b) Current catalog prices; 

 (c) Printed price advertisements; 

 (d) Known prices of similar items in a related industry; 

 (e) Prices determined to be reasonable in recent purchases; 

 (f) Buyer’s knowledge of the item(s) being procured. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 31 of 50 

7.5.3 Procurement Records 

The responsibility for maintaining small purchase procurement records belongs to the originating 
department. Such records shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

(a) Source for determination of price reasonableness, e.g., price list, catalog or 
advertisement; 

 (b) Documentation of oral price quotations solicited and received; 

 (c) Written vendor price quotation confirmations. 

The Procurement Officer shall ensure that departments making small purchases maintain complete 
and accurate records for each procurement. 

7.5.4 MTD Organizational Procedures and Responsibilities 

Responsibility for administration of small purchase procurements shall be assigned as follows: 

Responsible Party   Tasks 

Originating Department 1. Solicits vendor prices and determines    
reasonableness 

2. Documents and prepares evaluation of each price 
quotation. 

3. Submits Purchase Requisition 

4. Makes award to vendor 

5. Receives items and reconciles with Purchase Order. 
Forwards purchase receipts and materials to 
Accounting 

Finance Department 1. Controller receives Purchase Requisition from 
originating department, reviews for budgetary consistency 
and forwards to General Manager for approval 

 2. Processes all vendor invoices 

General Manager 1. Approves Purchase Requisition 

7.6 EMERGENCY PROCUREMENTS 

Emergency purchases may be made under circumstances wherein the urgency of the need does not 
permit the delay appurtenant to more formal procurements. This procedure may be used only if: 

(a) A purchase is immediately necessary either to preserve life or property, or to protect 
public health, welfare, and safety, or; 

(b) An urgent purchase must be made to prevent immediate termination of a critical 
MTD function or activity, or;  

(c) All bids received in a sealed bid procurement are determined by the Procurement 
Officer to be unreasonable, and insufficient time exists to resolicit bids without 
endangering the public health and safety or immediately terminating a critical MTD 
function. 

The Procurement Officer shall make a written determination of the basis for the emergency and 
shall indicate the reasons for selection of the contractor. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 32 of 50 

In an emergency an award may be made without competition; however, it is the policy of MTD 
that the procurement be made with such competition as is practicable under the circumstances. 

7.7 PRE-AWARD REVIEW OF FTA FUNDED PROCUREMENTS 

7.7.1 General Policies 

Upon request by FTA, MTD shall make available technical specifications and other solicitation 
documents appurtenant to any procurement financed with FTA monies. The Procurement Officer 
shall maintain responsibility for ensuring compliance with any such request made by FTA. 

Any MTD purchase for which FTA funds are expended must adhere to the procurement standards 
and procedures established in FTA Circular 4220.1B Third Party Contracting Guidelines. It is the 
policy of MTD that all FTA funded procurements shall be conducted in accordance with the 
provisions of this Circular. 

Under specific circumstances FTA regulations require submission of procurement documentation 
for approval prior to contract award. This includes procurements involving non-competitive 
negotiation, receipt of a single bid or offer, award to other than the low bidder, and use of a “brand 
name” product specification. 

For such procurements MTD shall submit appropriate information to FTA after a determining the 
proposed Contractor but before making award. For “brand name” specification procurements 
MTD shall submit required information to FTA prior to issuance of solicitation documents. 

Procedures applicable to each situation involving FTA pre-award review are described below: 

Non-Competitive Negotiation (Sole Source) Procurements 

For procurements in which non-competitive negotiation is proposed MTD is responsible for 
submitting information to FTA which documents the need for use of this method. This consists of 
a justification statement incorporating: 

(a) An explanation of the procurement need including details concerning the unique 
features which result in only one source capable of meeting such need; 

(b) A description of the alternative considered and reasons for the rejection of such 
alternatives; 

(c) An explanation of the Contractor’s unique capabilities which result in it being the 
only available source; 

(d) A description of the actions taken by MTD to ensure that future procurements for 
like or similar goods or services will be competitive; 

(e) A statement that the price is fair and reasonable, accompanied by an explanation of 
the basis for that determination (e.g., cost analysis or negotiation memorandum). 

Single Bid or Offer Procurements 

For any procurement in which only one bid or offer is received MTD shall submit the following 
documentation to FTA: 

(a) A statement that MTD has analyzed the specification and concludes that no items 
exist which serve to inhibit or eliminate competition. If such analysis reveals the 
existence of a restrictive item, justification shall be provided that MTD needs the 
item in order to fulfill its minimum requirements; 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 33 of 50 

(b) For all vendors which were expected to compete but did not, MTD shall provide 
evidence that it requested such vendors to submit their reasons for declining 
participation. All responses received shall be included in such submission; 

(c) A statement that the price is fair and reasonable, accompanied by an explanation of 
the basis for that determination. 

Proposed Award to Other than Low Bidder 

For any procurement in which MTD proposes to make award to other than the low bidder, the 
following documentation shall be submitted to FTA: 

(a) A detailed explanation of the reasons why the apparent low bidder is determined to 
be not responsive or responsible; 

(b) A statement of assurance that the proposed recipient of the award is responsible and 
responsive to the solicitation in all aspects; 

(c) A statement that the price is fair and reasonable, accompanied by an explanation of 
the basis for that determination; 

(d) Copies of written decisions or disposition of any protests filed against MTD. 

Procurements Involving “Brand Name” Product Specifications 

For any procurement in which the use of a “brand name” specification is proposed MTD shall 
submit the following information to FTA prior to issuance of solicitation documents: 

(a) All portions of the proposed specification relevant to the “brand name” 
requirement; 

(b) A description of the reasons why MTD could not feasibly make available an 
adequate specification or more detailed description (by means other than inspection 
and analysis) in time for the acquisition under consideration; 

(c) An explanation of MTD’s minimum needs for the item, accompanied by a 
description of the salient physical and functional characteristics thereof. 

Following submission of the information described above FTA will provide a written concurrence 
or denial of the proposed procurement action. In cases where FTA denies such action, MTD will 
proceed pursuant to the provisions of the decision. 

7.8 PIGGYBACKING 

The term “piggybacking” is defined as the post-award use of a contractual document/process that 
allows someone who was not contemplated in the original procurement to purchase the same 
supplies or equipment through the original document/process.” 

This method of procurement is deemed an acceptable practice by MTD however; MTD shall 
adhere to all Federal Transportation Administration (FTA) requirements related to this method of 
procurement. 

7.9 COOPERATIVE PURCHASING 

7.9.1 Definitions 

"Cooperative purchasing" means procurement conducted by, or on behalf of, more than one public 
procurement unit. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 34 of 50 

"Local public procurement unit" means any political subdivision; any agency, board, department 
or other instrumentality of such political subdivision; and any nonprofit corporation created for 
the purpose of administering a cooperative purchase agreement. 

"Public procurement unit" means either MTD; any state or an agency of the United States; or a 
local public procurement unit. 

7.9.2 Cooperative Purchasing Authority 

MTD may either participate in, sponsor, conduct or administer a cooperative purchasing agreement 
for the procurement of any goods or services with one or more public procurement units in 
accordance with an agreement entered into between the participants. All cooperative purchasing 
participated in under this section shall be through contracts awarded through full and open 
competition. Any public procurement unit administering a cooperative purchase shall substantially 
comply with the applicable competitive bidding requirements of this MTD Procurement Manual, 
in which case MTD shall be deemed to have complied with the requirements thereof. Cooperative 
purchasing may include purchasing through multiple award schedules of public procurement units; 
joint or multiparty contracts between public procurement units; and open-ended public 
procurement unit contracts that are made available to other public procurement units. 

7.9.3 Compliance with Federal Requirements 

All cooperative purchasing participated in by MTD that is FTA funded shall follow, include, or be 
amended to include any applicable federal requirements, clauses or certifications. 

 

8.0 BONDING AND BID SECURITY 

8.1 TYPES OF BONDS AND BID SECURITIES 

MTD authorizes the use of three categories of bid securities (defined in Section 4.0) in connection 
with procurements: 

(a) Bid guarantee, consisting of cash, bid bond, certified check, or other negotiable 
instrument acceptable to MTD which accompanies a bid for the purpose of assuring 
that the bidder will, upon MTD’s acceptance of the bid, execute such contractual 
documents as may be required within the time specified; 

(b) Performance bond, used in connection with a contract to secure fulfillment of all 
the Contractor’s obligations under such contract; 

(c) Payment bond, also used in connection with a contract to assure payment as 
required by law of all persons supplying labor and material in the execution of the 
work provided for therein.  

No other types of bid securities shall be used in procurements conducted by MTD. 

8.2 CONDITIONS FOR USE 

Bid securities shall not be required for non-construction procurements or contracts unless the 
Procurement Officer determines such to be necessary. Circumstances under which bid securities 
may be employed in non-construction procurements include, but are not limited to, the following: 

(a) The procurement involves equipment or services of a critical nature to the 
operations of MTD; 

(b) The procurement includes items being specially manufactured, thereby making 
procurement from another source difficult or unduly time-consuming. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 35 of 50 

The following standards shall govern the application of bid securities: 

Contract Bond Type 
Type Bid Performance Payment 

Construction    

FTA Funded (Contracts over $100,000) 5% 100% 100% 
Non-FTA Funded (Bid bond required for 
contracts over $3,000; all bond types 
required for contracts over $25,000) 

5% 100% 100% 

Equipment (No Installation)1    

FTA Funded n/a n/a n/a 
Non-FTA Funded 5%2 100%2,3 n/a 

Services (Except Personal or Professional)    

FTA Funded n/a n/a n/a 
Non-FTA Funded 5%2 100%2 100%2 

Notes to Bid Security Standards: 
1 Equipment contracts involving installation are treated as construction contracts for bid security purposes. 
2 Only imposed if required by circumstances described in this Section. 
3 On standard bus procurements financed with FTA funds, MTD will lower the performance bond 

requirement to 20% if requested by one or more bidders. 

 

9.0 PROCUREMENT PROTEST PROCEDURES 

9.1 PURPOSE AND APPLICABILITY 

The procedures described in this section have been established to ensure uniform, timely, and 
equitable consideration of all complaints received by MTD concerning its procurement activities. 
The Procurement Officer shall be responsible for the conduct and administration of procurement 
protests pursuant to the procedures established in this Section and Section 7.0 of this document. 

The following protest procedures shall be employed for procurements conducted by MTD. Such 
protests shall be applicable only to procurements wherein MTD requests bids, proposals or offers 
for goods or services financed in whole or in part by public funds. 

Procurements involving FTA funds are subject to additional protest procedures established by that 
agency. Procedures applicable to FTA funded procurements are so identified. 

9.2 DEFINITIONS 

The following definitions apply to terms used in this section: 

DAYS: Unless otherwise specified, refers to MTD working days. 

FILE OR SUBMIT: Refers to the date of receipt by MTD. 

INTERESTED PARTY: All bidders or proposers involved in an MTD procurement. This 
may also include a subcontractor or supplier who shows substantial 
economic interest in a provision of the IFB or RFP, or in the 
interpretation of such provision. 

BID: Refers to and includes: i) the terms “offer” and “proposal” as employed in this document; 
ii) sealed bids; iii) competitive negotiation, and; iv) non-competitive negotiation. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 36 of 50 

9.3 BASES FOR PROTEST 

If in the course of a procurement action an interested party has reason to believe that: a) free and 
open competition does not exist, or; b) MTD solicitation documents contain restrictive 
specifications, such party may file a protest in accordance with the procedures described herein. 

In addition to the above, protests may be filed based upon the following factual or alleged 
circumstances: 

 (a) Violation of federal, state or local law or regulation; 

 (b) Sole source procurements; 

 (c) Award made to other than the low bidder; 

(d) Failure to adhere to evaluation criteria set forth in solicitation documents, or use of 
additional criteria not so published; 

 (e) Changes to evaluation criteria made during the evaluation process; 

 (f) Local or DBE preferences; 

 (g) Solicitation advertising violating applicable laws or regulations; 

 (h) Conduct of negotiations after bid opening in sealed bid procurements; 

 (i) Provision of inadequate time to prepare a bid or proposal. 

Protests of MTD procurements filed by interested parties shall be considered in two general 
categories: 1) those filed prior to award, and; 2) protests occurring after award has been made. 

9.4 PRE-AWARD PROTESTS 

The following procedures shall be followed for all protests filed prior to award: 

1. Protests must be filed no later than ten (10) days prior to the date established in the 
solicitation for receipt of bids or proposals. 

2. Protests must be submitted in writing to the attention of the Procurement Officer. The 
written protests shall include: 

 (a) The name, address, and telephone number of the protestor; 

 (b) The MTD solicitation number and project description; 

(c) A statement of the grounds for the protest, accompanied by all supporting 
documentation. All grounds must be fully supported with documentation; 

 (d) The resolution sought from MTD by the protestor. 

3. The Procurement Officer shall receive the protest and issue written notification to the 
protestor within five days that the matter is undergoing review. Notice of the protest shall 
be given in writing to all known recipients of solicitation documents. 

4. Procurement activity shall be suspended pending resolution of a protest unless one or more 
of the following conditions exists: 

 (a) The goods or services being procured are urgently required; 

(b) Delivery or performance will be unduly delayed by failure to make an award 
promptly; 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 37 of 50 

(c) Failure to make prompt award will result in termination of a critical MTD function 
or activity or otherwise cause undue harm to the District, or; 

(d) The General Manager prepares a written finding that such protest is clearly 
frivolous in nature, and therefore does not warrant a disruption of the procurement 
process. 

The Procurement Officer shall be responsible for making a written determination that 
circumstances require MTD to proceed with a procurement during a pending protest. 

Unless such determination is made the procurement shall be suspended pending resolution of the 
protest. All parties known to have received solicitation documents shall be notified in writing of 
such suspension by the Procurement Officer. 

5. All protests received within the specified period shall be examined by the Procurement 
Officer who shall evaluate the matter and, within five (5) days, forward a recommendation 
concerning its disposition to the General Manager. 

No additional material shall be accepted for consideration during the protest review unless 
specifically requested in writing by MTD. 

6. The General Manager may attempt to resolve the protest with the affected party. If: a) 
within five (5) days after receipt of recommendations from the Procurement Officer the 
General Manager elects not to attempt such resolution, or; b) if resolution is attempted but 
not achieved within twenty (20) days after receipt of the aforementioned recommendations, 
the General Manager shall forward the matter to the MTD Board of Directors (hereinafter 
“Board”) for resolution. 

For these purposes “resolution” shall mean the written withdrawal of a protest by the 
originating party. 

7. The MTD Board shall formally consider the protests at a public meeting within fourteen 
(14) calendar days after the date on which the matter is forwarded by the General Manager. 
Protesting parties shall be notified in writing of the date on which their matters shall be 
considered by the MTD Board. Such parties shall be afforded an opportunity to present 
their case at the Board meeting. 

8. The MTD Board shall then make a formal decision on such protests at a public meeting. 
The decision of the Board, along with a formal record of the protest, shall become a matter 
of public record, and shall be considered final. The Procurement Officer shall notify 
protesting parties in writing of any protest decision made by the Board. 

Except under conditions described in #4 above, such decision by the MTD Board shall be 
made prior to award of any contract related to the subject procurement. 

9. Should the Board deny the protest, MTD shall proceed with the procurement process. In 
the case of FTA funded procurements no contract shall be awarded within five (5) days 
following the Board’s decision unless such award is necessary due to circumstances 
described in #4 above. If the decision of the Board is to uphold the protest, then MTD shall 
proceed pursuant to Board direction. 

9.5 POST-AWARD PROTESTS 

Protests received after award of contract shall be considered only if received within five (5) days 
following the date on which such award is made. Post-award protests received after that time shall 
not be considered. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 38 of 50 

Post-award protests shall be processed in the same fashion as that employed for pre-award protests. 
However, the award shall remain valid and procurement activities shall continue unless the 
General Manager determines in writing that suspension of such award is necessary pending protest 
resolution. In that event the awardee shall be so notified in writing, and the Procurement Officer 
shall effect an agreement with the Contractor for suspension of activity. 

9.6 ADDITIONAL PROTEST PROCEDURES FOR FTA FUNDED PROCUREMENTS 

For procurements involving FTA funding, MTD shall inform protesting parties that the 
circumstances under which FTA will accept and review protests are limited to the following: 

  (a) The alleged failure of MTD to have written protest procedures; 

  (b) The alleged failure of MTD to follow such procedures; 

(c) The alleged violation by MTD of a specific federal requirement which 
provides an applicable complaint procedure. 

In the instance of (c) above, the applicable complaint procedure shall be submitted and processed 
in accordance with pertinent federal regulations e.g., 49 CFR Part 661, Section 661.15 for Buy 
America, or 49 CFR Section 23.73 for Minority Business Enterprise participation. 

Should a protest be filed with FTA under either (a) or (c) above, the following process will be used 
by FTA pursuant to Circular 4220.1B, Chapter V: 

1. Parties shall file a protest with FTA not later than five days after a final decision is rendered 
by the MTD Board as provided herein. In instances where the protestor alleges that MTD 
failed to make a final determination on the protest, protesters shall file a protest with FTA 
not later than five days after the protester knew or should have known of MTD’s failure to 
render a final determination on the protest; 

2. MTD shall not award a contract for five days following its decision on a bid protest except 
in accordance with the provisions and limitations of item 9 of this section. After five days, 
MTD shall confirm with FTA that FTA has not received a protest on the contract in 
question; 

3. Protests shall be filed with the FTA Region IX office with a concurrent copy to MTD; 

4. The protest filed with FTA shall: 

 a. include the name and address of the protester; 

b. identify the grantee, project number, and the number, if any, of the contract 
solicitation; 

c. contain a statement of the grounds for protest and any supporting documentation. 
This should detail the alleged failure to follow protest procedures or the alleged 
failure to have procedures, and should be supported by documentation to the extent 
possible; 

d. include a copy of the local protest filed with MTD along with a copy of MTD’s 
decision, if any. 

5. FTA shall notify MTD in a timely manner of the receipt of a protest. FTA shall instruct 
MTD to notify the contractor of the protest if award has been made or, if no award has been 
made, to notify all interested parties. MTD shall instruct all who receive such notice that 
they may communicate further directly with FTA; 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 39 of 50 

6. MTD shall submit the following information to FTA not later than ten days after receipt of 
notification by FTA of the protest: 

 (a) a copy of MTD’s protest procedures; 

 (b) a description of the process followed concerning the protest, and; 

 (c) any supporting documentation. 

7. MTD shall provide the protester with a copy of the above submission; 

8. The protester may provide any comments on MTD’s submission no later than ten days after 
the protester’s receipt of such material; 

9. When a protest has been filed in a timely fashion with MTD before award, MTD shall not 
make an award prior to five days after the resolution of the protest, or if a protest has been 
filed with FTA, during the period in which the protest is pending, unless MTD determines 
that: 

 (a) The items to be procured are urgently required; 

(b) Delivery or performance will be unduly delayed by failure to make the award 
promptly, or; 

(c) Failure to make prompt award will otherwise cause undue harm to MTD or the 
Federal Government 

In the event that MTD determines that the award is to be made during the five day period 
following the local protest decision or the period in which the protest is pending, MTD 
shall notify FTA prior to making such award; 

10. Upon receipt of the material described herein, FTA will either request further information 
or a conference among the parties, or will render a decision on the protest; 

11. The protest procedures contained herein shall be included in solicitation documents issued 
by MTD for all federally assisted procurements. 

 

10.0 MTD CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

10.1 GENERAL POLICIES 

MTD has established the following policies for all contract documents used in connection with 
MTD procurements: 

(a) Fixed price contracts shall be employed in all formally advertised 
procurements; 

(b) The use of contracts incorporating a “cost plus percentage of cost” provision 
is prohibited for any procurement; 

(c) Contracts incorporating “time and material” provisions shall not be used 
unless the Procurement Officer makes a written determination that no other 
type is suitable and the contract includes a ceiling price that the Contractor 
exceeds at its own risk.   

The Procurement Officer shall be responsible for ensuring that all MTD contracts comply with 
these policies. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 40 of 50 

10.2 CONTRACT TYPES 

The following types of contracts have been authorized for use in procurements made by MTD: 

FIRM FIXED PRICE (FFP) 

Contracts of this type are characterized by a lump sum price not subject to adjustment on the basis 
of the Contractor’s costs for work performed under such contract. In FFP contracts the risk of 
performance falls on the Contractor; financial responsibility for cost overruns is assumed by the 
Contractor and not MTD. 

FIXED PRICE WITH ESCALATION (FPE) 

FPE contracts include a lump sum price subject to adjustment (either upward or downward) based 
upon contingencies specified in the contract. Three types of price adjustments may be used in 
MTD contracts based upon: 

  (a) Established prices; 

  (b) Actual costs of labor or material; 

  (c) Cost indexes of labor or material. 

COST REIMBURSEMENT 

In the cost reimbursement contract remuneration to a Contractor is limited to reimbursement of 
allowable costs incurred in the performance of specified work. No fees are paid by MTD. 

Included within this category is the cost sharing contract wherein the Contractor receives no fee 
and is reimbursed for only a specified portion of allowable costs incurred. 

TIME AND MATERIALS/LABOR-HOUR 

In this type of contract remuneration is based upon actual cost of materials plus fees for supplies 
or services determined by labor-hours compensated at specified hourly rates. Since this 
arrangement normally affords the least economic advantages of all permitted contract types, its 
use is limited to specific circumstances established herein. 

10.3 CONDITIONS FOR USE 

As a general practice, the type of contract to be used in a given procurement shall be that either: 

  (a) Specified by the law or regulation, or; 

(b) Determined by the Procurement Officer to be the most economically 
advantageous to MTD and permissible under applicable law, regulation, 
and MTD policy. 

The Procurement Officer shall determine the type of contract to be employed for each MTD 
procurement. Such determination shall be made pursuant to the following guidelines: 

FIRM FIXED PRICE 

This type of contract should be used for purchases of commercial products or other supplies or 
services where reasonably definite functional or detailed specifications exist and fair and 
reasonable prices can be established. Establishment of price reasonableness is possible where the 
one or more of the following conditions exist: 

  (a) Adequate price competition is available; 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 41 of 50 

(b) Price comparisons are available with recent purchases of similar goods or 
services either made on a competitive cost basis or supported by valid cost 
and price data; 

(c) Available cost or price data permits realistic estimates of the probably cost 
of performance; 

(d) Performance uncertainties can be identified and reasonable estimates of 
their cost impact made, and the Contractor is willing to accept a firm fixed 
priced representing assumption of the risks involved. 

FIXED PRICE WITH ESCALATION 

Contracts of this type are commonly used for purchase of commodities whose price is subject to 
frequent change. Such contracts are appropriate in situations where the nature of the item is such 
that establishment of long-term fixed pricing is not feasible.  

Procurements in which fixed price with escalation contracts are typically used include bus tire 
leases and purchase of fuel. 

COST REIMBURSEMENT/COST SHARING 

Cost reimbursement and sharing contracts properly have a narrow range of applicability in MTD 
procurements. Such agreements may be employed only for: 

(a) Services performed by consultants, subject to a determination by the 
Procurement Officer that such arrangement is either the only practical or 
most economically advantageous method; 

(b) Research and development work performed for or with MTD by non-profit 
organizations. 

TIME AND MATERIALS/LABOR-HOUR 

As previously described, this is normally the least preferred method of contracting due to the lack 
of economic advantages inherent therein. Use of this arrangement shall be made only when at the 
time of placing the contract: 

(a) It is not possible to accurately estimate the extent or duration of work to be 
performed, or; 

(b) Costs cannot be anticipated with any acceptable degree of confidence. 

In these cases the Procurement Officer shall prepare a written determination that the use of a “time 
and materials” contract is necessary, and shall support such with appropriate documentation. This 
written statement by the Procurement Officer shall be submitted to the General Manager, who shall 
be responsible for approving the use of all “time and material” contracts. 

No “time and materials” contracts shall be approved by MTD unless such contract includes a 
specified ceiling price which the Contractor exceeds at its own risk. 

10.4 STANDARD CONTRACT PROVISIONS 

Contracts used in MTD procurements shall include standard provisions required by District policy 
and applicable third party contracting regulations promulgated by FTA. Such provisions include 
the following: 

(a) Contracts for procurements other than small purchase shall include 
provisions which allow for administrative, contractual, or legal remedies 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 42 of 50 

when contractors violate or breach contract terms, and provide for such 
sanctions and penalties as appropriate; 

(b) All contracts shall contain provisions for termination by MTD, including 
the manner by which it will be effected and the basis for settlement. 
Provision shall be made for termination for default (with definitions 
thereof), and termination for reasons beyond the control of the Contractor; 

(c) All contracts shall include specific reference to MTD’s Equal Employment 
Opportunity Policy, and shall contain provisions requiring the Contractor to 
comply with such policy and, if applicable, pertinent FTA regulations; 

(d) When applicable, all FTA funded contracts shall include provisions 
requiring the Contractor to certify compliance with applicable labor laws, 
including the Copeland Act, Davis-Bacon Act, Contract Work Hours and 
Safety Standards Act, and other applicable regulations promulgated by the 
U.S. Department of Labor; 

(e) FTA funded contracts shall include notice of FTA regulations concerning 
reporting and patent rights for research, development, and experimental 
work; 

(f) All non-small purchase negotiated contracts involving FTA funds shall 
include a provision reserving the right of FTA, the Controller General, and 
duly authorized representatives to access Contractor records directly 
pertinent to the contract. Contractors shall be required to maintain such 
records for three years after all pending contract matters have been closed; 

(g) All contracts shall include reference to MTD’s Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise Policy and shall require the Contractor to make positive efforts 
to employ such firms in the performance of work. FTA funded contracts 
shall include a statement of DBE participation goals established by MTD, 
and shall require the Contractor to document actual DBE participation and 
efforts made to include such in contracts. 

(h) FTA funded contracts shall include provisions requiring Contractor 
compliance with Buy America and other regulations pertinent to the 
procurement; 

(i) All contracts shall include a provision requiring Contractor compliance with 
the California Fair Employment Practices Act; 

(j) As appropriate to the particular procurement, all contracts shall include 
provisions for Contractor indemnification of MTD. 

10.5 LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

The Procurement Officer shall determine whether or not use of a liquidated damages provision (as 
defined in Section 4.0) is appropriate for each specific procurement. If determined appropriate, the 
amount of liquidated damages must be reasonable to compensate MTD for possible damages, yet 
not be so large as to be construed as a penalty. 

It is the general policy of MTD to prohibit the use of liquidated damages provisions unless: 

(a) The time of delivery is of such importance that MTD can reasonably expect 
to suffer damage if such delivery is delinquent; 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 43 of 50 

(b) The Procurement Officer determines that the delivery schedule is 
reasonable at the time of award, and; 

(c) The amount of damages would be difficult or impossible to establish. 

If the Procurement Officer determines that a liquidated damages provision is necessary, a 
supporting narrative shall be included in the contract records explaining the method by which such 
rate is derived. 

10.6 TERM OF CONTRACTS 

Unless otherwise provided by law, MTD may enter into contracts for any period of time deemed 
by the General Manager to be in the best interests of the District. The term of the contract and any 
applicable conditions for renewal or extension shall be included in the procurement solicitation 
documents. 

Multi-term contracts shall not be used unless the Procurement Officer makes a written 
determination that: 

(a) Estimated requirements cover the period of the contract and are reasonably 
firm and continuing, and; 

(b) Such a contract will serve the best interests of MTD by encouraging 
effective competition or otherwise promoting economies in its 
procurements. 

Unless otherwise determined by the Procurement officer to be in the best interests of the District, 
MTD shall not enter into service contracts for periods exceeding five years. 

10.7 OPTIONS 

Contract options represent a unilateral right by which MTD may, for a specified period of time, 
either purchase additional goods or services, or extend the contract term. 

10.7.1 Conditions for Use 

For non-FTA funded contracts options may be included for goods or services needed by MTD on 
a continuing basis when the Procurement Officer determines such to be in the best interests of the 
District and not restrictive of open competition. In all such contracts the terms and conditions 
governing the options and exercise thereof shall be fully documented. 

Contracts for procurements in which FTA funds are expended shall not include options if: 

(a) MTD’s foreseeable requirements involve minimum economic quantities 
(i.e., those of sufficient size to permit recovery of startup costs and 
production of requirement materials at a reasonable price) and delivery 
requirements sufficiently far in the future to permit competitive acquisition, 
production, and delivery; 

  (b) The goods or services are readily available on the open market; 

(c) The Contractor will incur undue risks, e.g., the price or availability of 
necessary materials or labor is not reasonably foreseeable; 

(d) An indefinite quantity or requirements contract is appropriate (in this 
situation use of options for extension of contract term is permissible); 

(e) Market prices for the goods or services being procured are likely to 
experience substantial change, or; 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 44 of 50 

(f) The option represents known firm requirements for which funds are 
available. 

10.7.2 Option Terms 

It is the policy of MTD that contracts shall limit quantities for additional goods or materials to not 
more than fifty percent of the initial quantity of each good or material. District policy also provides 
that in contracts for procurement of services the total of the base term and option periods shall not 
exceed five years. These policies may be varied for non-FTA funded procurements only upon a 
written determination of the Procurement Officer approved by the General Manager that the best 
interests of the District are served by so doing. 

For FTA funded procurements MTD must obtain FTA approval for the inclusion of any option in 
excess of the amounts and periods stated above. 

10.7.3 Exercise of Options 

Options shall be exercised only after the Procurement Officer makes a written determination, 
approved by the General Manager, that such exercise is the most advantageous method of fulfilling 
the needs of MTD, price and other factors considered. 

The Procurement Officer shall make such determination on the basis of one of the following 
factors: 

(a) A new procurement solicitation fails to produce a better price or more 
advantageous offer than that provided by the option; 

(b) An analysis of prices and/or the current marketplace indicates that the 
option constitutes a better price or more advantageous offer than that 
available in such marketplace; 

(c) The period between the award of the contract containing the option and the 
exercise of such option is so short that it indicates the option price as the 
best or offer as the most advantageous. 

The decision of whether to exercise an option shall also consider the District’s need for continuity 
of operations and the potential costs of their disruption. 

 

11.0 CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 

11.1 ORGANIZATIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES 

Overall responsibility for the administration of MTD contracts is assigned to the Procurement 
Officer. Contract administration duties but are not limited to, the following: 

  (a) Determination of proper contract type; 

  (b) Preparation of all contract documents; 

(c) Ensuring compliance with applicable laws and regulations, e.g., inclusion 
of necessary contractual provisions; 

(d) Conduct of all contract negotiations and communications with prospective 
Contractors in pending procurements; 

  (e) Resolution of contractual disputes; 

(f) Preparation and administration of contract amendments and Change Orders; 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 45 of 50 

(g) Monitoring contract compliance, including determination of work 
acceptance; 

  (h) Review of subcontracts submitted by the Contractor as necessary; 

  (i) Administration of contract closeout procedures. 

For procurements involving small purchase procedures administrative responsibility shall be 
assigned to the originating department. Such department also shall be responsible for assisting the 
Procurement Officer upon request in monitoring contractor performance or other administrative 
duties related to non-small purchase procurements. 

The Procurement Officer may designate a management employee of an originating department as 
Project Manager for a specific contract. The Project Manager is normally responsible for 
coordination with the Contractor in technical or procedural aspects of the work, e.g., obtaining 
necessary permits and licenses. The Project Manager also shall be responsible for monitoring 
Contractor performance as assigned by the Procurement Officer. 

11.2 CONTRACT MODIFICATIONS 

MTD authorizes the use of the following methods for modification of an existing contract: 

(a) Under certain unforeseeable circumstances it may become necessary to 
redirect the Contractor’s effort to prevent an adverse impact on a project. In 
such instances, the Procurement Officer may issue directions to the 
Contractor by means of a unilateral Change Order. If such direction causes 
a change in items specified below, the Change Order shall be incorporated 
into the contract by formal amendment; 

(b) For all contractual modifications affecting specifications, rate or point of 
delivery, period of performance, price, or quantity a contract amendment 
shall be employed. Contract amendments shall be accomplished by mutual 
action of MTD and the Contractor, and shall be executed by both parties. 

All contract modifications shall be prepared and administered by the Procurement Officer. 
Modifications involving an increase in expense to MTD shall be approved by the General 
Manager. 

11.3 DISPUTES 

Contract disputes are defined as controversies or disagreements between MTD and the Contractor 
which arise under, or by virtue of, a contract made between these parties. This includes a dispute 
based upon breach of contract, mistake, misrepresentation, or other cause for contract modification 
or recession. 

The General Manager, or if he so designates, the Procurement Officer, is authorized, prior to 
commencement of an action in court concerning the dispute, to settle and resolve such matter(s). 

If the dispute cannot be resolved by mutual agreement, the General Manger or Procurement Officer 
shall promptly issue a decision in writing. Such decision shall state the reasons for the action taken 
and inform the Contractor of its right to applicable legal remedies. 

The decision issued by MTD shall be considered final and conclusive; no further administrative 
remedy shall be available. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 46 of 50 

11.4 CONTRACTOR PAYMENTS 

MTD policy prohibits the use of advance payments in any contract financed with FTA monies. 
Advance payments include any compensation paid to a Contractor prior to the time that costs are 
incurred by said party. 

For non-FTA funded contracts, advance payments shall not be made by MTD unless the General 
Manager determines the best interests of the District are served by such action. 

In appropriate circumstances MTD may make progress payments to a Contractor. Such payments 
consist of compensation paid prior to completion of work based upon costs incurred by the 
Contractor and the percentage or stage of completion of the contract. 

The use of progress payments in MTD contracts shall be governed by the following guidelines: 

(a) Progress payments are allowable if the Contractor will not be able to bill 
MTD for the first delivery of products, or other performance milestones, for 
a substantial amount of time after work must begin; 

(b) Provision for progress payments may be authorized when the Contractor 
will make expenditures for contract performance during the period prior to 
delivery which have a significant impact on its working capital; 

(c) In the case of small businesses and DBE firms progress payments may be 
employed if actual financial need is demonstrated or private financing is 
unavailable; 

(d) When progress payments are used MTD must obtain title to property 
(including materials, work in progress, and finished goods) for which such 
payments are made. Such title must be free from all encumbrances, or MTD 
must obtain a priority lien secured pursuant to applicable federal state, and 
local laws; 

(e) Subject to the provisions of (c) above, progress payments shall not be made 
in FTA funded contracts of less than $1 million. 

The use of advance payments or progress payments in any MTD contract must be approved in 
writing by the General Manager. 

11.5 TERMINATION 

All MTD contracts shall contain provisions whereby MTD is granted the right of termination. Such 
provisions shall fully describe the manner in which such termination shall be effected. 
Additionally, a clear description of the basis for settlement of remuneration, title to property, and 
other matters shall be included. 

Contractual provisions shall establish MTD’s right to terminate under conditions of Contractor 
default. This shall be accompanied by a provision establishing Contractor liability for excess costs 
in the event that MTD acquires similar services as a direct result of Contractor default. 

The District also shall establish the right of termination for reasons beyond the control of the 
Contractor. Such termination clauses shall include provisions for payment by MTD of allowable 
costs incurred to the date, plus those costs deemed reasonably necessary to effect termination. 

In all cases wherein contracts are terminated the Procurement Officer shall prepare a written 
statement fully describing the reasons therefore. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 47 of 50 

11.6 CONTRACT CLOSEOUT PROCEDURES 

The Procurement Officer is responsible for ensuring that contract files are closed in a timely 
manner and that all closeout procedures are documented and made part of the procurement records. 

All District contracts shall be subject to the following closeout procedures: 

(a) No later than sixty (60) days prior to the contract completion date the 
Procurement Officer or Project Manager shall confirm that no contractor 
effort will be required after the completion date. This assessment is 
conducted to: i) determine whether an overrun will occur; ii) negotiate and 
extend the period of performance, if necessary, and; iv) to ensure sufficient 
time if a follow-on effort is needed. 

If the contract is to be completed on schedule, the Procurement Officer shall 
proceed with the contract closure as described herein. If timely completion 
will not be achieved, appropriate action shall be taken by the Procurement 
Officer to extend the contract; 

(b) In order to proceed with contract closeout the Procurement Officer or 
Project Manager shall prepare a written statement certifying that the 
Contractor has completed all required work and that such work has been 
formally accepted by MTD. Acceptance shall be made in writing and issued 
to the Contractor in timely fashion; 

(c) Along with the notice of formal acceptance MTD shall send to the 
Contractor a Release Form which serves to release MTD of and from all 
liabilities arising from the Contract; 

(d) When a properly completed Release Form has been received from the 
Contractor, the Procurement Officer shall coordinate with the Project 
Manager or originating department to account for affected property. All 
property either furnished by MTD or acquired under the contract shall be 
accounted for an final disposition effected; 

(e) If required by law or regulation a final audit of the contract shall be 
conducted. The Procurement Officer shall arrange for such audit and shall 
inform the auditors of pertinent contract information; 

(f) If an audit is required, final negotiations of indirect rates and disputed costs 
shall be based upon its findings. Should an audit be unnecessary the 
Procurement Officer or Project Manager shall make a final determination 
of remaining monies due to or owed by the Contractor, and shall effect an 
agreement with such party for final payment; 

(g) Monies withheld by MTD pursuant to contractual provisions shall not be 
released to the Contractor until the Contractor has: i) submitted the Release 
and all other closing documents; ii) made final disposition of MTD property 
pursuant to instructions issued by the Procurement Officer, and; iii)reached 
final agreement with MTD concerning final payment due. Withheld monies 
shall be included in the final MTD payment to the Contractor; 

(h) The Procurement Officer shall review the procurement files and ensure that 
all appropriate materials are present. 

 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 48 of 50 

12.0 DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS PROPERTY 

12.1 PURPOSE 

This Section is intended to define procedures and responsibilities for disposition of items to be 
disposed by MTD. It is the policy of MTD that surplus property shall be disposed of in a manner 
which: 

(a) Ensures that items which are no longer needed or whose use is not 
economically advantageous are disposed of in a timely, consistent, and cost-
effective fashion, and; 

(b) Ensures that items are promptly removed from the MTD Fixed Asset 
Inventory following their disposition; 

12.2 CAPITAL AND NON-CAPITAL ASSETS 

All MTD property subject to the procedures established herein is categorized by the Controller as 
either capital or non-capital assets. These terms are defined as follows: 

CAPITAL ASSET: An item which has a unit cost of at least $500.00 and a useful life of no less 
than one year. Such items are “capitalized” by the MTD Finance 
Department, i.e., a portion of the item’s cost is expensed each year over the 
expected life of the asset. 

NON-CAPITAL ASSET: Durable material or equipment with a unit cost of less than $500.00 
which is not expended during use. Such items, e.g., calculators and 
cameras are assigned a fixed asset number and entered into the MTD 
Fixed Asset Inventory. 

12.3 DETERMINATION OF SURPLUS STATUS 

The determination of surplus is made by the Controller. Items shall be declared as surplus by MTD 
when: 

  (a) There is and will be no further need for such items; 

  (b) Spares for replacement and/or repair are no longer obtainable; 

  (c) The useful life has been completely exhausted, or; 

  (d) The cost of repairing an item exceeds its book value. 

No MTD capital assets shall be considered for disposal unless declared as surplus by the 
Controller. The General Manager shall approve all such surplus property dispositions. 

12.4 PRE-SALE REQUIREMENTS 

The following actions must be completed prior to the disposition of any asset defined in Section 
12.2: 

(a) The manager of the department to which the asset is assigned shall submit 
a Request for Declaration of Surplus form to the Controller for approval; 

(b) The Controller shall verify the asset information against the Fixed Asset 
Master File residing in the central MTD computer data base. If the asset(s) 
in question meet the criteria stated in Section 12.3, the Controller shall sign 
the Declaration of Surplus form and by return copy inform the appropriate 
manager that disposition is authorized. 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 49 of 50 

Under specific circumstances described herein approval must be obtained from FTA prior to 
disposition of any grant assisted asset. Pre-Sale procedures for such assets are described in Section 
12.6. 

12.5 DISPOSITION PROCEDURES 

The Controller maintains responsibility for ensuring the proper disposition of surplus assets. The 
actual disposition may be conducted by the Controller or delegated to the Procurement Officer or 
other appropriate department manager. If the Controller determines that it would cost MTD more 
to follow the below-described sale procedures than MTD would receive in potential sale proceeds, 
the Controller shall authorize disposition of such assets through donation, recycling, or as waste 
disposal. 

Surplus property is most commonly disposed of by means of an auction or public Notice of Sale. 
In the former method the Controller or designated manager shall contract with an Auctioneer to 
auction off all items in a public sale forum or in a series of public sales. MTD shall receive the 
proceeds of such sales (less applicable auction fees) and shall transmit titles and other documents 
as appropriate to the Auctioneer. 

If an auction is not feasible, MTD may elect to dispose of items by direct sale. In this method a 
Notice of Sale is published in a local newspaper of general circulation and other media as 
considered appropriate by MTD. Such Notice shall: 

  (a) Describe the items to be sold; 

(b) Reference any additional descriptive material available and the method by 
which it can be obtained; 

(c) Describe the method by which interested parties may obtain appropriate bid 
documents; 

  (d) Indicate that items are sold only on a “where is as is” basis, and; 

(e) State that MTD makes no guarantees or warranties whatsoever for the items 
to be sold. 

When a Notice of Sale method is used MTD shall award such sale to the highest responsive and 
responsible bidder. However, MTD may, if so established in the public advertisement and bid 
documents, impose a requirement that a bid must exceed a specified minimum amount in order to 
be considered.  

MTD may utilized an alternate approach for surplus property disposition as long as such is 
consistent with applicable laws and regulations and conducted on a competitive basis. The 
Controller and Procurement Officer shall approve any method of surplus property disposition other 
than auction or Notice of Sale. 

Following the sale of surplus property the Controller shall be responsible for all necessary title 
transfers to the buyer and transmission of any other records required. Such property shall be 
removed promptly from the Fixed Asset Inventory, and a gain or loss based upon the sale shall be 
determined by the Controller pursuant to established fixed asset accounting procedures. 

In the event that items remain unsold after completion of auction and/or Notice of Sale processes, 
the following procedures shall apply: 

(a) The Controller or designated manager may negotiate a sale for such 
property in a manner most economically advantageous to MTD; 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 50 of 50 

(b) If it is not possible to negotiate a sale, the items may be donated to a 
charitable organization or discarded as scrap. 

12.6 FTA FUNDED ASSETS 

In addition to the MTD procedures described herein, disposition of FTA assets must comply with 
the requirements contained in FTA Circular 5010.1A. Responsibility for ensuring compliance with 
these requirements is assigned to the Controller. 

Following is a brief summary of surplus property disposition procedures established by FTA: 

Disposition of Real Property 

As defined by FTA, real property encompasses land and affixed land improvements, structures, 
and appurtenances. Moveable machinery and equipment is not included. 

Any disposition of FTA funded real property must be preceded by the submission of an Excess 
Property Utilization Plan as required in Circular 5010.1A. This Plan describes the methods and 
procedures by which disposition of FTA funded property occurs. FTA concurrence in the Plan 
must be received before MTD disposes of the subject property or uses such for purposes other than 
transit. 

If so provided in the Plan, disposition may be made in one of the following ways: 

(a) MTD may obtain clear title by compensating FTA for its share in the 
property; 

(b) MTD may market and competitively sell the property and pay FTA its share 
of the fair market value of such property, or; 

(c) MTD may transfer the property to another FTA grantee for use in a different 
FTA project without a reimbursement of funds to FTA. In this case the 
transferee shall acquire MTD’s proportional interest in the appraised fair 
market value of the property and assumption of liability for any continuing 
federal interest in it. 

Disposition of FTA funded property shall be accomplished only in accordance with the provisions 
of Circular 5010.1A and other applicable regulations. 

Disposition of Personal Property 

FTA defines personal property as that which is not real property. Two categories of personal 
property exist: 

(a) Equipment, defined as tangible personal property with a useful life 
exceeding one year and an acquisition cost in excess of $5,000 per unit. This 
includes rolling stock and all other movable items used in the provision of 
mass transit service; 

  (b) Supplies, defined as all personal property other than equipment. 

When equipment or supplies purchased under an FTA grant are no longer needed for FTA 
supported projects or programs they may be retained by MTD or disposed of. MTD must request 
disposition instructions form FTA prior to sale as specified below: 

(a) After its useful life has been reached, equipment with a unit fair market 
value exceeding $5,000, or unused supplies with an aggregate fair market 
value exceeding $5,000, may be retained or sold by MTD. If sold, MTD 
shall remit to FTA its proportional share of the proceeds; 



Santa Barbara Metropolitan Transit District Procurement Manual 

January 2019 Page 51 of 50 

(b) Equipment with a unit fair market value of $5,000 or less or supplies with 
an aggregate fair market value of $5,000 or less, may be retained, sold, or 
otherwise disposed of. MTD shall have no obligation to reimburse FTA for 
any sales proceeds; 

(c) Any disposition of equipment prior to the end of its useful life is subject to 
FTA concurrence in the method of disposition. Reimbursement shall be 
made to FTA pursuant to applicable regulations; 

(d) Transfer of surplus equipment by MTD to another FTA grantee for use in 
mass transit operations shall require FTA coordination with the department 
of Labor to ascertain the applicability of Section 13(c) labor provisions. 

The Controller shall be responsible for ensuring that disposition of FTA funded personal property 
is made in compliance with applicable regulations. 



To:  MTD Board of Directors 
From:  Jerry Estrada, General Manager 
Date:  January 15, 2019 
Subject: General Manager’s Report 
 
Operations and Fleet & Facilities 
Drivers have begun the work assignment process for the March 4th bid.  This particular 
bid, which runs until June 9, 2019, is one of the easier bids to complete.  It is the 
shortest and Operations does not have to bid vacation time.  There is only one holiday to 
bid as well (Memorial Day).   
 
Drivers Kevin Escobar and Jose Perez have completed their licensing and training, and 
have assumed their bid shifts.  In addition, MTD has two new drivers in training, Steven 
Tellez and Katie Byrkett.   
 
Due to the active engagement of prospective bidders, staff have released multiple 
addenda for the Transit Center Renovations Project.  To provide potential bidders with 
adequate time to process the information contained in the addenda, staff have pushed 
the bid date to Wednesday, January 16, 2019.     
 
Of the two remaining buses at the BYD factory (Units #41 and #43), Unit #41 is ready for 
final inspection by MTD’s inspector.  Once the inspection process is complete, MTD will 
take delivery of Unit #41 and begin the shakedown process to determine whether there 
are any issues with systems or components of the bus.  BYD has informed staff that Unit 
#43 should be ready for final inspection by the end of January.    
 
Toward the end of January, staff will initiate the Invitation for Bids for the City of 
Carpinteria Electric Bus Charger Upgrade Project.  The project consists of upgrading 
existing 208V charging infrastructure to 480V and installation of two BYD chargers.  This 
is a necessary step in the transition from the existing electric shuttle fleet to the BYD 
buses. 
 
The first of 10 new 40’ Gillig buses entered Gillig’s production line on January 7, 2019.  
The bus is scheduled to be delivered to MTD on January 21, 2019.  Two members of 
MTD’s maintenance team, Mike Cardona and Garret Kaufman, are scheduled to inspect 
the first bus at the Gillig factory on Wednesday, January 16, 2019 to ensure it meets 
MTD specifications.  The remaining buses will enter the production line throughout the 
month of January, and the last bus is scheduled to be delivered by February 8, 2019. 
 
On December 19, 2018, staff interviewed the firm determined to be in the competitive 
range for the Facilities Master Plan RFP.  The interview consisted of a detailed 
presentation from the firm and a questions and answer session led by MTD’s interview 
committee.  Subsequent to the interview, MTD has requested a Best and Final offer from 
the firm.    
 
Administration 
The New Year is already bringing new faces to MTD with six new bus operators starting 
in the month of January.  Human Resources is working toward doubling that number, 
with a goal of hiring six more bus operators before the end of the first quarter.   



2 

MTD has also welcomed Ray Holguin, a new part-time Customer Service 
Representative. Ray is an active community volunteer and was born and raised in the 
area. 
 
Planning staff continue to develop and refine the August 2019 service plan, assessing 
on-time performance and ridership.  Staff anticipates bringing an updated draft service 
plan to the Planning and Marketing Committee in early February. 
 
With the end of the calendar year, Accounting is in the process of preparing 2018 tax 
documents including W-2s, 1099’s, and annual payroll tax returns.  Similarly, information 
is being gathered to complete the annual information return (IRS form 5500) on the staff 
401(k) pension plan.  Regarding the plan, an update to the pension investment options 
available to staff went into effect on January 1, 2019.  The update is based on an 
investment review carried out by NFP, the plan investment advisor and fiduciary.  Such 
reviews are carried out periodically to ensure that the funds included in the plan meet 
several criteria including reasonableness of fees and above average investment results 
relative to peer funds. 
 
Clever Devices engineering personnel visited MTD recently to prepare for the upcoming 
4G modem upgrade.  The purpose was to review each bus make and model for 
determination of the new external modem locations, wiring, etc.  The 112 modems are 
on order and expected before the end of the quarter.  The project has a stipulated 
completion date of April 30. 
 
Last week, Certified Environmental Consultants submitted an updated report to the 
County Public Health Department concerning the 2018 Olive Facility concrete cap 
inspection.  The annual report and inspection are associated with soil contamination 
discovered during the facility expansion some 20 years ago.  While a considerable 
amount of contaminated soil was removed, some was left in place due to its location 
under existing facilities.  The inspection, carried out by a licensed geologist and soils 
engineer, determined that the concrete yard continues to encapsulate the contaminated 
soil. 
 
In December, the County Auditor-Controller’s Office released a report on the effects of 
the reduced assessment values associated with the Thomas Fire and the Montecito 
Debris Flow incidents on property tax revenue.  The report indicates that MTD’s FY 
2017-18 property tax was reduced by $2,721 as a result of the reduced assessment 
values.  Overall MTD property tax revenue for last year actually increased by $123,318, 
or 12%.  Thus, the reduction had a negligible effect on revenue.  Regarding FY 2018-19, 
the projected reduction from the events is now $9,459 which is down from the County’s 
initially projected loss of $36,202 used in the this year’s budget.  Of greater 
consequence, FY 2018 actual receipts exceeded the projected amount for the year used 
as the base for calculating the FY 2019 budgeted revenue.  As a result of these two 
factors, property tax revenue for FY 2019 is projected to be close to $100,000 more than 
currently budgeted.  This will be reflected in the upcoming mid-year budget revision. 


	20190115 Agenda
	20181204 Draft Minutes
	Cover Sheet 20190115a 11-27 through 12-11
	apsbmtd 20190115 11-27 through 12-11
	ARsbmtd 20190115 11-27 through 12-11
	Cover Sheet 20190115b 12-11 through 12-24
	apsbmtd 20190115b 12-11 through 12-24
	ARsbmtd 20190115b 12-11 through 12-24
	Cover Sheet 20190115c 12-25 through 1-7
	apsbmtd 20190115 12-25 through 1-7
	ARsbmtd 20190115 12-25 through 1-7
	20190115 Board Report - Fuel Contract Pre-Award Authority
	20190115 Attachment 1 - OMB Memo 18-18 (increased purchase threshold amo...
	20190115 Attachment 2 - MTD Procurement Manual Red-Lined Pages (201901)
	6.0 DEVELOPMENT SOLICITATION DOCUMENT STANDARDS
	6.2 Equipment and Material Purchases
	6.3 Professional and Consultant Services
	6.4 FTA Clauses

	7.0 METHODS OF SOURCE SELECTION
	7.1 General Policy
	7.2 Sealed Bid Procurements
	7.2.1 Conditions for Use
	7.2.2 Advertising
	7.2.3 Bidding Schedules

	7.3 Competitive Proposal Procurements
	7.3.1 Conditions for Use
	7.3.2 Contents of the Request for Proposals
	7.3.3 Advertising
	7.3.4 Issuance, Amendment, and Cancellation of RFPs
	7.3.5 Modification and Withdrawal of Proposals
	7.3.6 Receipt of Proposals

	7.5 Small Purchase Procurements
	7.5.1 Conditions for Use
	7.5.2 Assurance of Competition and Reasonableness of PriceMicro-Purchases
	7.5.3 Procurement Records
	7.5.4 MTD Organizational Procedures and Responsibilities



	20190115 Attachment 3 - MTD Procurement Manual (revised 201901)
	1.0 INTRODUCTION
	1.1 Purpose
	1.2 Application
	1.3 Goals of the MTD Procurement System

	2.0 SBMTD PROCUREMENT POLICIES
	2.1 Promotion of Open Competition
	2.2 Fairness and Equity
	2.3 Price and Cost Analyses
	2.4 Purchase vs. Lease Options
	2.5 Procurement Records and Documentation
	2.6 Procurement Awards

	3.0 SBMTD CODE OF CONDUCT
	3.1 Purpose and Applicability
	3.2 Conflict of Interest
	3.3 Gifts and Gratuities
	3.4 Contacts with Vendors, Bidders, and Proposers
	3.5 Release and Use of Information

	4.0 DEFINITIONS
	4.1 Glossary of Procurement Terms

	5.0 SBMTD PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION
	5.1 Delegation of Authority for Approval of Procurements
	5.2 Procurement Officer
	5.3 Procurement Documents
	5.4 General Procurement Procedures
	5.4.1 Requisition and Purchasing Procedures
	5.4.2 Credit Cards
	5.4.3 General Purchase Order Procedures
	5.4.4 Emergency and Contract Service Procedures


	6.0 DEVELOPMENT SOLICITATION DOCUMENT STANDARDS
	6.1 General Policies
	6.2 Equipment and Material Purchases
	6.3 Professional and Consultant Services
	6.4 FTA Clauses

	7.0 METHODS OF SOURCE SELECTION
	7.1 General Policy
	7.2 Sealed Bid Procurements
	7.2.1 Conditions for Use
	7.2.2 Advertising
	7.2.3 Bidding Schedules
	7.2.4 Issuance, Amendment and Cancellation of IFB
	7.2.5 Modification of Bids
	7.2.6 Bid Opening
	7.2.7 Bid Corrections and Clarifications
	7.2.8 Bid Evaluation
	7.2.9 Bid Rejection
	7.2.10 Award of Bid
	7.2.11 Procurement Records
	7.2.12 MTD Organizational Procedures and Responsibilities

	7.3 Competitive Proposal Procurements
	7.3.1 Conditions for Use
	7.3.2 Contents of the Request for Proposals
	7.3.3 Advertising
	7.3.4 Issuance, Amendment, and Cancellation of RFPs
	7.3.5 Modification and Withdrawal of Proposals
	7.3.6 Receipt of Proposals
	7.3.7 Evaluation of Proposals
	7.3.8 Negotiation with Proposers
	7.3.9 Award of Proposal
	7.3.10 Procurement Records
	7.3.11 MTD Organizational Procedures and Responsibilities

	7.4 Non-Competitive Negotiation (Sole Source) Procurements
	7.4.1 Conditions for Use
	7.4.2 Cost Analyses
	7.4.3 Contract Price
	7.4.4 Award of Contract
	7.4.5 Procurement Records
	7.4.6 MTD Organizational Procedures and Responsibilities

	7.5 Small Purchase Procurements
	7.5.1 Conditions for Use
	7.5.2 Micro-Purchases
	7.5.3 Procurement Records
	7.5.4 MTD Organizational Procedures and Responsibilities

	7.6 Emergency Procurements
	7.7 Pre-Award Review of FTA Funded Procurements
	7.7.1 General Policies

	7.8 Piggybacking
	7.9 Cooperative Purchasing
	7.9.1 Definitions
	7.9.2 Cooperative Purchasing Authority
	7.9.3 Compliance with Federal Requirements


	8.0 BONDING AND BID SECURITY
	8.1 Types of Bonds and Bid Securities
	8.2 Conditions for Use

	9.0 PROCUREMENT PROTEST PROCEDURES
	9.1 Purpose and Applicability
	9.2 Definitions
	9.3 Bases for Protest
	9.4 Pre-Award Protests
	9.5 Post-Award Protests
	9.6 Additional Protest Procedures for FTA Funded Procurements

	10.0 MTD CONTRACT DOCUMENTS
	10.1 General Policies
	10.2 Contract Types
	10.3 Conditions for Use
	10.4 Standard Contract Provisions
	10.5 Liquidated Damages
	10.6 Term of Contracts
	10.7 Options
	10.7.1 Conditions for Use
	10.7.2 Option Terms
	10.7.3 Exercise of Options


	11.0 CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION
	11.1 Organizational Responsibilities
	11.2 Contract Modifications
	11.3 Disputes
	11.4 Contractor Payments
	11.5 Termination
	11.6 Contract Closeout Procedures

	12.0 DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS PROPERTY
	12.1 Purpose
	12.2 Capital and Non-Capital Assets
	12.3 Determination of Surplus Status
	12.4 Pre-Sale Requirements
	12.5 Disposition Procedures
	12.6 FTA Funded Assets





